BEAUFORT REGIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

Assessment Report on the Potential Effects of Climate Change on Oil and Gas Activities in the Beaufort Sea



July 2013



Assessment Report on the Potential Effects of Climate Change on Oil and Gas Activities in the Beaufort Sea

Report Prepared by: Stantec Consulting Ltd. Calgary, Alberta

Project Number: 123510815

July 2013

Final Report Prepared by: Environment Canada & Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada

Executive Summary

This report summarizes and assesses the state of knowledge of climate change as it relates to the potential effects on standard operating activities of the oil and gas industry in the Canadian Beaufort Sea region. The need for this information was identified by the Beaufort Regional Environmental Assessment (BREA) Climate Change Working Group and was funded by Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada. This assessment is based on a preliminary report prepared for a workshop held in Inuvik, Northwest Territories, November 19-23, 2012. The preliminary report was used to support and focus discussions at the workshop; and, feedback from the workshop and comments from reviewers not able to attend were incorporated here. The assessment does not discuss greenhouse gas emissions produced by oil and gas activities nor is it an environmental assessment.

Science and traditional knowledge reports pertinent to climate change in the Beaufort Sea region were reviewed and analyzed with a focus on how that information might relate to oil and gas activities. In addition, environmental assessment reports, regulations and guidelines which address climate change in the context of oil and gas exploration and development were reviewed. The information gathered was synthesized to describe and assess climate change effects on the environment and how these changes may affect, positively or negatively, oil and gas operations in the Beaufort Sea.

There is clear evidence that the physical properties of the Beaufort Sea are being affected by climate change. Ice and water conditions in the Southern Beaufort Sea (SBS) are strongly influenced by oceanic and sea ice exchanges with neighboring regions. Sea ice thickness and concentrations of multi-year ice are decreasing especially along the slope and deeper offshore waters of the Beaufort Sea and adjacent regions. These reductions are mainly a result of losses of older multi-year ice. There is also an increasing presence of glacial ice features. In contrast to the deeper offshore waters, there have been no significant changes observed in ice thickness along the Mackenzie shelf and the reductions in ice concentrations are smaller. A later freeze-up and earlier break-up of ice along the inner shelf has resulted in a reduction in duration of days of ice cover for this area. The offshore waters are warming and freshening with more open water and ice melt. Models suggest that these trends will continue for at least the next couple of decades.

Mean air temperatures within the assessment area have been increasing over the past 50 years. Precipitation has also been increasing but at a lower rate than air temperature. Over the past 14 years, wind patterns have been dominated by anticyclonic systems. Prior to 1977, these large-scale wind patterns shifted between anticyclonic and cyclonic every 5-8 years. Storm activity has increased in strength (depth of the low pressure) but not in frequency. Storms appear to have a strong control on sea ice break-up, motion and resulting thickness distributions.

Seven climate and ice variables considered to be of high importance in this study are; wave height, wind speeds, sea temperature and heat content, sea level, coastal erosion rates, sea ice (distribution, type, concentration, and thickness) and presence of glacial features within the sea ice pack.

Changes in sea ice and water conditions such as currents, wave height and sea temperatures will likely have the greatest effects both positive and negative on oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea.

Executive Summary

Key Positive Effects include:

- longer operating seasons for seismic and drilling activities due to reduced ice cover and thickness
- earlier mobilization and later demobilization of vessels both to and from the Beaufort Sea as well as from overwintering anchorages and offshore areas
- reduced icebreaking requirements

Key Negative effects include:

- increased threats to drilling and production platforms due to increased ice velocities and the increased presence of glacial ice features
- larger wave heights may cause delays in ship support activities and seismic operations
- increased sea surface temperatures which may increase degradation of permafrost in coastal areas with implications for coastal oil and gas infrastructure
- reduced use of ice roads and ice spray islands in nearshore areas
- increased coastal areas affected by storm surge potentially affecting infrastructure

Additional positive and negative effects to oil and gas activities from ice and waves are discussed in the body of the report.

Climate change effects on oil and gas activities are expected to be greatest for longer term projects such as production activities which can span 30 years or more, and where changes affecting operations may change over the lifespan of the project. Due to the large year to year variations which can occur in weather or ice conditions, oil and gas companies will need to plan and prepare for extreme events in all phases of a project.

Information gaps were identified that need to be addressed to improve the understanding of the effects of climate change on oil and gas activities. Most of these gaps pertained to either climatology or ice, although gaps were also identified in other areas including, but not limited to; contaminants, marine ecology and the seabed. Based on gaps identified, recommendations for future research were developed.

Table of Contents

1	INTRODUCTION	1
2	METHODS	5
2.1	LITERATURE SEARCH AND REVIEW	5
2.2	CLIMATE AND SEA-ICE VARIABLES	6
2.3	SYNTHESIS OF PREDICTED CLIMATE CHANGE AND POTENTIAL EFFECTS ON	
	THE OIL AND GAS INDUSTRY	7
2.4	REVIEW AND SYNTHESIS OF EXISTING GUIDELINES AND BEST PRACTICES	8
2.5	IDENTIFICATION AND ANALYSIS OF KEY DATA GAPS	8
2.6	RECOMMENDATIONS	8
2.7	DEVELOPMENT OF LIST OF EXPERTS	9
2.8	WORKSHOP	9
3	CHANGES FROM BASELINE CONDITIONS: PRESENT AND FUTURE	11
31	SEA ICE: AREAL EXTENT AND CONCENTRATION	11
3.2	SEA ICE THICKNESS	21
3.3	METEOROLOGY AIR TEMPERATURE PRECIPITATION AND WINDS	23
3.4	OCEANOGRAPHY OCEAN CURRENTS TEMPERATURE AND SALINITY AND	20
0.1	WAVES	27
35	CONTAMINANTS	28
3.6	SEABED	
3.7	POSSIBLE FUTURE CHANGES: THE NEXT 20 TO 50 YEARS	29
4	TRADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE ON CLIMATE CHANGE	31
F		25
Э		35
5.1		35
5.2	5.2.1 Counled Global and Regional Climate Models with Application to the Arctic	30 39
	5.2.2 Key Sea Ice Variables	47
6	CLIMATE CHANGE AND ITS POTENTIAL EFFECTS ON OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES	49
7	SYNTHESIS AND REVIEW OF EXISTING REGULATIONS GUIDELINES BEST	
	PRACTICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENTS	57
71	REGULATIONS GUIDELINES AND BEST PRACTICES	57
7.2	ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENTS	60
•		~~
8	IDENTIFICATION AND ANALYSIS OF KEY DATA GAPS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	63
8.1		63
8.2		70
9	SUMMARY	75
10	REFERENCES	83

11	GLOSSARY	.91
10.3	PERSONAL COMMUNICATIONS	.89
10.2	INTERNET SITES	. 89
10.1	LITERATURE CITED	. 83

List of Tables and Figures

Figure 1	Existing Exploration and Significant discovery Licences in the Beaufort Sea	3
Figure 2	Areas nominated for potential Exploration Licences in 2012	4
Figure 3	Major ice type domains of the Arctic sea ice cover	12
Figure 4	Time series of the percent difference in ice extent in March (the month of ice extent maximum) and September (the month of ice extent minimum) for the years 1979-2012 relative to the mean values for the period 1979–2000	13
Figure 5	Plots of 10-year-averaged and selected annual values of daily Northern Hemisphere ice extent as deduced from passive microwave data	14
Figure 6	Breakdown of the ice cover of the southeastern Beaufort Sea into zones occupied by ice of similar origins and dynamic properties	15
Figure 7	Mid-month historical sea ice (SI) percentage areal coverage from mid-June to mid-October, 1968–2011 for total ice and individual ice types	17
Figure 8	Trends in sea ice coverage from mid-June to mid-October for the Canada Basin and Mackenzie regions in the Canadian Arctic, 1968–2011 (derived from Canadian Ice Service regional data)	18
Table 1	Ice statistics from 1968–2011 CIS ice chart data	19
Figure 9	The computed changes in sea ice concentration from 1968 to 2011 for the four subregions (shown on the right) in mid-July, mid-September and mid-October	20
Figure 10	Sea ice age in the first week of March derived from tracking the drift of ice floes in 1988, 2009, 2010 and 2011.	22
Figure 11	Monthly mean draft of sea ice at a mid-shelf location on the Mackenzie shelf of the Beaufort Sea (70.3N, 133.7W)	24
Figure 12	The mean ice thickness, along with ice fractions of thinner ice (< 5 cm and < 35 cm) at 5 day intervals at the mid-shelf measurement site in the Canadian Beaufort Sea for five years: 2005–2006 to 2009–2010.	25
Table 2	Monthly air temperature trends from 1960 to 2011 at Tuktoyaktuk and Sachs Harbour	26
Figure 13	Monthly decadal change in air temperature for Tuktoyaktuk and Sachs Harbour 1960–2011 (left) and seasonal median decadal changes (right)	26
Table 3	Climate/Ice Variable Summary	40
Table 4	Key Climate Variable Matrix: to determine key climate/ice variables	43
Table 5	Recommendations; Their Importance to Offshore Oil and Gas Activities; and, Current or Required Research	71
Table 6	Summary of climate change effects and their impact on oil and gas activities	80

Appendices

APPENDIX A

Bibliography Effects on Oil and Gas Activities and Climate Variables APPENDIX B

List of Experts APPENDIX C

APPENDIX D Workshop Proceedings APPENDIX E Workshop Participants

Abbreviations

AEAU	alternative energy and alternate use
ASTIS	Arctic Science and Technology Information System
BG	Beaufort Gyre
BREA	Beaufort Regional Environmental Assessment
CAA	Canadian Arctic Archipelago
CEAA	Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency
CFL	circumpolar flaw lead
CIS	Canadian Ice Service
CNLOPB	Canada – Newfoundland and Labrador Offshore Petroleum Board
CNSOPB	Canada – Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board
DFO	Fisheries and Oceans Canada
EBSA	Ecologically and Biologically Significant Area
EGU	European Geosciences Union
EIRB	Environmental Impact Review Board
EIS	environmental impact statement
EISC	Environmental Impact Screening Committee
ESRF	Environmental Studies Research Fund
FY	first year
ICES	Ice, Cloud and Land Elevation Satellite
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IPY	International Polar Year
IRIS	Integrated Regional Impact Study
LRTAP	Long-Range Transport Air Pollution
MMS	Minerals Management Service
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Agency
NW	northwest
NWT	Northwest Territories
OC	organochlorines
OCS	Outer Continental Shelf
PAH	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
PERD	Program of Energy Research and Development
SAR	search and rescue
SBS	Southern Beaufort Sea
SDL	
SST	sea surface temperature
UK	
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
US DOI	United States Department of the Interior

1 INTRODUCTION

Oil and gas exploration began in the Canadian Beaufort Sea in the early 1970s and the first well was drilled in 1972. Ninety wells were drilled between 1972 and 1989 with over half these located in water depths of 20 m or less (Callow 2012). The most intense period of exploration drilling occurred between 1982 and 1985 with an average of eight wells drilled per year in water depths ranging from 1.4 m to 67.4 m. Exploration drilling ceased in the Beaufort Sea in 1989 and no drilling was conducted again until the winter of 2005/2006 when Devon drilled a single well in a water depth of 13 m. Of the 90 wells drilled in the Canadian Beaufort Sea 38 resulted in the application and approval of Significant Discovery Licences (SDL) for either gas or oil. Although no drilling has occurred since 2006, interest still exists in exploring for hydrocarbon resources in the Beaufort Sea, as evidenced by the number of exploration licences acquired in the deeper waters offshore since 2007. In recent years, one or more ship-based seismic surveys have been conducted in the Canadian Beaufort Sea every year. Although exploration drilling in the past has focused in water depths less than 70 m, oil and gas companies are now expanding their search to include potential drilling sites in deeper waters, including those over 1,000 m in depth.

Offshore oil and gas activities for exploration, production or decommissioning require significant infrastructure in terms of vessels, drilling platforms, docks, and land based camps or offshore warehouses. Tuktoyaktuk Harbor, McKinley Bay and Herschel Basin provided important support bases for offshore exploration activities in the 1970s and 80s. Tuktoyaktuk was also used by Devon in 2005/2006. A variety of drilling platforms have been used in the Canadian Beaufort Sea including ice spray, islands, artificial islands, caissons and floating drill ships (Timco and Frederking 2009). Ice management and ice breaking support are required for most oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea.

The resurgence of oil and gas interests in the Beaufort Sea has led to the establishment of the Beaufort Regional Environmental Assessment (BREA). BREA is a four-year, multi-stakeholder initiative that includes Inuvialuit, territorial and federal governments, academia and industry. The key goal for BREA is to produce relevant scientific and socio-economic information that simplifies project-level environmental assessment and regulatory decision-making for oil and gas activities, while strengthening the relationship between environmental assessment and integrated management and planning in the region (BREA 2012). Information is gathered in specific areas of interest through the implementation of work plans established by BREA working groups, including; climate change, regional waste management, information management, cumulative effects assessment, oil spill preparedness and response, and socio-economic indicators.

This assessment was identified in the work plan of the BREA Climate Change Working Group. The objectives of the Climate Change Working Group are to identify and recommend actions to fill information and data gaps related to climate change effects of relevance to offshore oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea. The assessment is focused on oil and gas activities presented in the Oil and Gas Exploration and Development Activity Forecast: Canadian Beaufort Sea 2012–2027 (Callow 2012). Existing significant discovery licences (SDL) and current exploration licences (EL) are shown on Figure 1. Recent oil and gas exploration in the Beaufort Sea has expanded further into offshore and deeper waters

(> 1000m) than previously (1960s to 2000s). Exploration Licences issued in the Beaufort Sea in 2012 include exploration blocks off the western coast of Banks Island (Figure 2).

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) defines climate change as "a change in the state of the climate that can be identified (e.g., by using statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer. Climate change may be due to natural internal processes or external forcings, or to persistent anthropogenic changes in the composition of the atmosphere or in land use." Regardless of the definition used, effects will occur, positive or negative, on oil and gas activities as a result of climate change.

This study complements other research and assessments being conducted in the Beaufort Sea Region. These include:

- The International Polar Year (IPY) circumpolar flaw lead (CFL) system study
- ArcticNet's Integrated Regional Impact Study (IRIS 1) assessment report which assess the effects of climate change on the marine and coastal environment
- BREA supported research
- Research conducted by various federal agencies such as Natural Resources Canada, Fisheries and Oceans Canada and Environment Canada
- Program of Energy Research and Development (PERD) funded studies
- Environmental Studies Research Fund (ESRF) studies
- International and Canadian studies of the southern Beaufort Sea and coastal Canadian Arctic as made available through cruise reports and the peer reviewed literature

This report will support efficient and effective environmental assessment and regulatory decision-making by managers, regulators and policy makers pertinent to the potential impacts of climate change related to oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea.



Figure 1 Existing Exploration and Significant discovery Licences in the Beaufort Sea



Figure 2 Areas nominated for potential Exploration Licences in 2012

2 METHODS

2.1 Literature Search and Review

Literature pertinent to potential climate change effects on oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea was identified and reviewed.

The literature review included information on:

- Climate change science, including; baseline data, monitoring, analyses of trends and periodicities of climatic variables, and modeling as these relate to the potential effects of climate change on oil and gas activities.
- Climate impacts, including; baseline data, monitoring, modeling, data/information management, prediction capability, impacts/effects and adaptation as these relate to the potential effects of climate change on oil and gas activities.
- Traditional knowledge pertaining to climate change in the Beaufort Sea and coastal areas.
- Past and current environmental assessments and impact statements for Canadian and Alaskan Beaufort Sea oil and gas exploration and development related activities.
- National (e.g., Newfoundland and Nova Scotia) and international (e.g., Norway, Greenland, and Alaska) literature pertinent to potential climate change impacts on oil and gas activities in the Canadian Beaufort Sea including guidance on climate change considerations in environmental assessment.

Identification and review of relevant information and literature included the use of database searches, review of bibliographies, review of Stantec's and subcontractor's extensive in-house libraries, review of agency records, and consultation with climate change experts.

Databases searched included:

- Arctic Science and Technology Science Information System (ASTIS) held by the Arctic Institute of North America which also includes:
 - Refereed ArcticNet publications
 - Canadian IPY Publications Database (Polar Data Catalogue)
 - Hydrocarbon Impacts Database
 - Inuvialuit Settlement Region Database
- Department of Fisheries and Oceans, online catalogue WAVES
- Beaufort Sea Project Technical Papers and Synthesis Reports (41 Technical Reports and 5 Overview Synthesis Reports, available at http://www.restco.ca/BSP_Tech_Papers.shtml)
- Natural Resources Canada bibliographic database Geoscan
- U.S. National Snow and Ice Data Center (NSDIC)
- Environment Canada Canadian Ice Service Data Archive

- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Agency (NOAA) Arctic Report Card
- Offshore Oil and Gas environmental baseline studies for the Canadian Beaufort Sea conducted since the late-2000's (in particular, the extensive baseline data collection programs of Imperial Oil Resources Ventures Ltd., BP Exploration in collaboration with ArcticNet and DFO from 2009-2011)
- Polar Data Catalog (operated by ArcticNet and the Canadian Cryospheric Information Network, available at http://polardata.ca/)

Literature searched was divided into 12 different categories in the bibliography:

- Climate change research and monitoring
- Sea ice
- Atmosphere
- Physical oceanography
- Coastal processes
- Biological (fish, zooplankton, etc.)
- Marine mammals
- Arctic contaminants
- Traditional knowledge
- Climate driven impacts
- Regulations/guidelines/best practices
- Environmental assessments

The results of the literature search are presented in this report in Section 3 "Changes from Baseline Conditions: Present and Future" and Section 4 "Traditional Knowledge on Climate Change". The bibliography is located in Appendix A.

2.2 Climate and Sea-ice Variables

Climate and ice variables used for monitoring, modeling, and impact prediction were identified. Climate and ice variables selected as relevant and potentially important to this study were required to inform on the effects of climate change on oil and gas activities and on the mitigation or adaptation applied to reduce the severity of that effect.

Two matrices were developed to aid in the selection of the most relevant climate and ice variables. The first matrix (Table B-1) identifies the effects and their severity by life-cycle phase and operation of oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea.

The second matrix (Table 3) assesses climate and ice variables to determine key variables. The following questions were used in the assessment process;

- Does the climate state variable inform on an opportunity (e.g., reduced ice allowing longer drilling or shipping season) or hazard (e.g., increased wave height affecting ship safety) to oil and gas activities and its severity?
- What type of oil and gas activity is potentially affected, either in a positive or negative manner, by the climate state variable (see Effect in Table 3)?
- Is the climate state variable measurable (see Measured/Modeled in Table 3) and to what level of accuracy (see Measurable/Accuracy in Table 3)?
- What is the practicality (see Practical in Table 3) of measuring the climate state variable?
- What temporal scales (see Temporal Scale in Table 3) apply to the climate state variable?
- What is the spatial or geographic scope applicable to this climate state variable (see Spatial Scope in Table 3)?
- What is known of the frequency of an event related to this climate state variable (see Frequency of Effect in Table 3)?
- What is known of the long-term trends (see Long-term trend data available in Table 3) related to this climate state variable?
- What is the urgency (see Urgency in Table 3) in understanding or predicting the effect of the climate state variable?
- How relevant (see Relevance of Effect in Table 3) is the measurement of the climate state variable to understanding the effect on oil and gas activities?

Based on the analysis provided through the use of the second matrix, climate/ice state variables rated as high are identified as "key" climate variables.

2.3 Synthesis of Predicted Climate Change and Potential Effects on the Oil and Gas Industry

Climate change scenarios have been described and published for the Beaufort Sea and adjoining areas of the Arctic (e.g., the IPCC4 findings [Christensen et al. 2007; Anisimov et al. 2007], Bonsal and Kochtubajda 2009). In this study these scenarios were reviewed and assessed based on the most current information and predictions available and the levels of uncertainty or model confidence in the various predictions. This review is based on recent scientific publications (e.g., for sea ice: Wang and Overland 2009; Zhang et al. 2010; Perovich et al. 2011) and analyses carried out as part of the present study. The assessment is based on an examination of the range of possible changes to climatic patterns which, in turn, influences the range and extent of possible effects on oil and gas activities. Based on the review and assessment, short (5 years), medium (up to 15 years) and long-term (up to 30 years) climate change scenarios are described. These climate change scenarios are then applied and assessed by time scale (short, medium and long) as to the potential effects on oil and gas activities or compilation of activities provided for this project (Callow 2012).

2.4 Review and Synthesis of Existing Guidelines and Best Practices

National and international literature regarding guidance and best practice relating to climate change considerations in environmental assessment and regulatory decision-making was identified and reviewed.

The guidelines and best practices considered relevant to oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea and climate change were synthesized.

2.5 Identification and Analysis of Key Data Gaps

Based on the results of the literature review, identification of climate state variables and the associated synthesis, key data gaps were identified and analyzed. Although data gaps will always exist, not all data gaps are key or important to an understanding of effects and any particular level of risk or opportunity.

A mini-workshop was held by project team members to identify key data gaps. The following factors were considered:

- Can the data gap be addressed and is it reasonable to do so?
- Is there sufficient information currently available to address effects?
- Biophysical components in which climate change may most likely affect oil and gas activities (e.g., sea ice).
- What are the changes in the biophysical environment that may affect oil and gas activities?
- Is the direction of a change in the biophysical environment known?
- Data gaps can be in the form of regulations and guidelines.
- Data gaps can be related to both direct and indirect effects on oil and gas activities. Indirect effects have the potential for strong consequences on oil and gas activities but are far more difficult to predict.

2.6 Recommendations

Recommendations on research/discussion questions and means to address information gaps were developed. Recommendations include field programs, analysis of existing information (i.e., new analytical approaches or re-analysis of previously analyzed data), traditional knowledge studies, engineering studies or new approaches in exploration and development of oil and gas resources. Recommendations focus on those gaps of knowledge that have the highest priority.

Recommendations developed are based on the following considerations:

- Applicability and practicality in addressing a key knowledge gap identified in this study.
- Opportunity provided to oil and gas activities by climate change effects on the environment, or risk and severity of risk posed by climate change on oil and gas activities.
- Urgency in addressing climate change effects in early phases of oil and gas exploration and development scenarios

- Data availability or requirements
- Data analysis or new approaches required

2.7 Development of List of Experts

A list of climate change experts was compiled through our network of contacts (ArcticNet, Universities, government, and industry) and through the literature. Experts include those located in Canada, the United States of America and other countries conducting Arctic climate change research (e.g., Norway, Russia, Denmark, UK,). The list of experts (Appendix C) includes name, affiliation, and area of expertise.

2.8 Workshop

A facilitated workshop was held over a three day period in Inuvik, NWT, from November 19-21, 2012. A small group of select experts on climate change including Inuvialuit Traditional Knowledge holders and western scientists in conjunction with oil and gas industry representatives participated in the workshop. A preliminary draft of this report was prepared and distributed to participants prior to the workshop. It provided background information and acted as a framework to focus discussion.

The workshop consisted of a balance between presentations and open forum discussions. Open forum discussions were used instead of break-out groups to allow for everyone to participate and hear what was being discussed. The small group of workshop participants (<25) facilitated this approach.

The objectives of the Workshop were to:

- validate the findings contained in the draft assessment and report,
- review information gaps related to current knowledge of the Beaufort biogeophysical environment, regional climate change, and effects on oil and gas activities,
- propose research initiatives to improve the state of knowledge,
- identify current climate change information and its value to inform near-future (i.e., the next 13-30 years) oil and gas exploration and development, and
- identify uses of this information in regulatory decision-making and environmental assessments.

Workshop Proceedings are provided in (Appendix D).

3 CHANGES FROM BASELINE CONDITIONS: PRESENT AND FUTURE

3.1 Sea Ice: Areal Extent and Concentration

Sea ice areal extent and concentration is fundamentally important to the Beaufort Sea ecosystem and to human activities in this area. As the intermediate layer between the atmosphere and the ocean, the presence of sea ice alters the fluxes between the atmosphere and the ocean. Its presence or absence has important effects on many biophysical variables including weather patterns, generation of ocean waves, light penetration into the ocean and the timing and usage of areas by various types of marine life. Sea ice represents an impediment, and under some circumstances, a hazard to offshore oil and gas operations. On the other hand, stable landfast ice is important for transportation in inshore regions.

Because of its importance, summaries of the changing sea ice environment are presented below, derived from analysis of long-term data sets available from the Beaufort Sea including the digital sea ice charts published by the Canadian Ice Service of Environment Canada and passive microwave satellite data coverage for the Arctic Ocean. The earliest baseline studies of sea ice were those of the Beaufort Sea Project conducted in the early to mid- 1970's as discussed in Section 2.1.

SEA ICE CHANGES OVER THE ARCTIC OCEAN

The ice cover in the Beaufort Sea is best understood within the context of the sea ice conditions of the Arctic Ocean itself, where dramatic changes in ice areal extent have been occurring over the past decade and longer (AMAP 2011). The ice conditions in the Canadian Beaufort Sea are strongly influenced by oceanic and sea ice exchanges with neighbouring regions and, ultimately, by the underlying atmospheric, oceanic and cryospheric circulations of the Polar Ocean.

The sea ice within the Arctic Ocean primarily consists of four different types classifiable in terms of age, thickness and mobility (Figure 3). Pack ice in the annual and multi-year categories is mobile (although occasionally "fast" or immobile during usually brief periods of negligible large-scale movement). Distinctions are made with respect to whether the ice is multi-year ice, having survived at least one summer, or is annual ice having been formed since the end of the previous summer. Fast ice is also classifiable into multi-year and annual varieties using the same age criteria. Annual fast ice is usually seasonally present (late-autumn through early summer) in shallow (typically depths < 20 m in the Beaufort Sea) coastal waters until it melts away in place or has its remnants mixed into adjacent fields of melting and dispersing pack ice. Multi-year fast ice, on the other hand, may undergo numerous mobilization/immobilization cycles in the more restricted environment offered by the channels of the Canadian Arctic Archipelago.



SOURCE: H. Melling, pers. comm.

Figure 3 Major ice type domains of the Arctic sea ice cover

Passive microwave data on the annual areal coverage of all types of ice for the Arctic Ocean and adjoining areas, dating back to 1979, provides the best measure of changes over the intervening decades in, at least, the spatial extent of ice coverage. These changes are most evident in the annual extents as estimated at seasonal extreme points: March when coverage is maximal; and, September when it reaches minimum extent. The March ice extent (Figure 4) showed minimal decreases of approximately 3% per decade relative to the indicated 1979–2000 average, arising largely from reduced extents of ice moving out of the Arctic Basin to lower latitudes. On the other hand, the much larger decrease in the September ice extents (Figure 4) of approximately 13% per decade is suggestive of underlying major changes in the Basin corresponding to progressive decreases in the fractional occupation of the Basin surface by thicker, harder, multi-year pack ice. The magnitudes of these changes, particularly in September at times of minimum ice extent and in the post-1999 and post-2006 years, are illustrated by the decadal average and individual year data sets plotted in Figure 5 (Comiso 2012).



SOURCE: Perovich et al. 2012

Figure 4 Time series of the percent difference in ice extent in March (the month of ice extent maximum) and September (the month of ice extent minimum) for the years 1979-2012 relative to the mean values for the period 1979–2000. Note that in September 2012 a new record low occurred with a 49% reduction from the 1979-2000 mean values.

The percentage changes in the March and September ice extents (Figure 4) were only marginally significant prior to the early 1990s but by the middle of the latter decade, the weak negative trend in the September extents had strengthened dramatically and established new normal levels which were 30% to 40% below those typical of the early historical record. Additional, very recent analyses of passive microwave satellite datasets (Comiso 2012; Figure 5) has separately tracked changes in the spatial extent of both overall multi-year ice content and its included fraction of perennial ice (defined as multi-year ice which has <u>not</u> survived two annual melt seasons). The distinction between perennial and older multi-year pack ice components is of considerable relevance to the evolution of future ice covers due to the longer lifetimes usually characteristic of the older ice forms. Comiso's estimates were that the actual areal coverage of all multi-year ice forms was decreasing at a rate of –17.2% per decade as opposed to a rate of –13.5% for the thinner, perennial variant. This implies that the above-noted trend toward lower multi-year ice cover. If this tendency is sustained, the rates of disappearance of this ice cover component's spatial extent (which is by definition equal to the entire areal extent of the ice cover just prior to the start of the freezing season) may very well be expected to accelerate over time.



SOURCE: Comiso 2012

Figure 5 Plots of 10-year-averaged and selected annual values of daily Northern Hemisphere ice extent as deduced from passive microwave data.

SEA ICE CHANGES IN AREAS OF HYDROCARBON ACTIVITIES IN THE CANADIAN BEAUFORT SEA

Within the area of hydrocarbon activities in the Canadian Beaufort Sea, the consequences of these larger scale trends in ice extents, thicknesses and topographies are likely to be controlled by both the basic distribution of ice types (Figure 3) and the underlying circulations of the lower atmosphere and the upper layers of the Arctic Ocean. On average, a very large high pressure atmospheric system produces an anticyclonic circulation, known as the Beaufort Sea Ice Gyre (Lukovich and Barber 2006) which moves elements of the multi-year polar pack ice south-westward past the edge of the Canadian Arctic Archipelago before gradually turning westward at latitudes south of 72^oN and moving into the Alaskan Beaufort Sea and then into the Chukchi Sea (Figure 6). The usual seasonal melts of landfast and annual pack ice shoreward of the Beaufort Gyre flow, produces large but annually highly variable areas of low ice concentrations and/or open water south and east of the contiguous polar pack ice. Annual ice re-growth in these areas results in a distinct Transition Zone ice regime during the period of November to June (Figure 6). This regime is characterized by ice thickness, topography, and movement intermediate to the extensive peripheral zone of annual fast ice, and the circulating Arctic Ocean pack ice including multi-year types. The ice movements generally follow those prevailing in more offshore areas but tend to be more irregular due to strong interactions with the outer edges of the fast ice in the denoted "shear zone" regime. In fact, it is the grounding of the deep keels of the deformed ice produced by these interactions that is responsible for the seasonal stability of a relatively well-defined fast ice zone with an outer boundary which approximately tracks the 20 m bathymetric contour in the southeastern Beaufort Sea. Given the dramatic reductions in total extent of sea ice in the polar pack zone since 2007, the transition zone is becoming significantly larger than depicted in Figure 6.



Figure 6 Breakdown of the ice cover of the southeastern Beaufort Sea into zones occupied by ice of similar origins and dynamic properties. Note that the timing and extent of the landfast ice zone is also variable annually and interannually.

The overall areas of interest for this study are primarily confined to Environment Canada's Mackenzie Region and the inner portion of the Canada Basin Region. Environments Canada's Canadian Ice Service historical ice chart sea ice concentration database for these areas spans the time period 1968 to the present. The yearly time series of sea ice areal coverage data, expressed as a percentage of total area, for the middle of the months of June, July, August, September and October are presented in Figure 7. A striking feature of the sea ice extent is the large amount of inter-annual variability, particularly in the Mackenzie Shelf region. The variability occurs over a wide range of periods, ranging from two years or less to eight years or longer.

Trend data extracted from this database for the latter region are presented in Figure 8 along with comparable statistics extracted for the indicated offshore and deeper waters of the Canada Basin. In both regions the decadal trends in overall ice extents and in the corresponding major ice age/thickness categories (old = multi-year; first year (FY) and young/ thin ice, thicknesses < 50 cm) are plotted for mid-month June through October. Tabulations of basic coverage statistics and decadal trends are provided in Table 1. As expected, the Canada Basin trends are similar to those noted above for the encompassing Arctic Region, with changes in total ice caused primarily from the old ice fraction which, in the late summer and fall months, was seen to decrease at rates ranging between 8% and 11% per decade over a period of 44 years. The only statistically significant changes in the Mackenzie region appeared to be limited to early season (June) data and correspond to somewhat lower, 6% to 8%, changes in both total and old ice coverage. Since old ice concentrations in this southerly region were usually low these results corresponded to early summer reductions in the content of both first- and multi-year ice components.

Data were also extracted from this same database on fine spatial scales corresponding to the four distinct sub-regions of the larger Mackenzie region. The changes for each sub-region (Figure 9) are generally largest in the slope region, as would be expected from the Arctic Ocean and Mackenzie Shelf results presented above. The largest change, of nearly a 10% reduction per decade, occurs in mid-October (Figure 9) with much of the sea ice reduction being due to the loss of old ice. Although less than that of the slope, the mid-outer shelf region also exhibits substantial reductions in mid-October with the loss of old ice and young ice being a large part of the total ice reduction. The long-term trends towards reduced sea ice concentration are much smaller in the inner shelf in mid-September because little ice is present in this area in mid- to late-summer. However, consistent reductions do occur in mid-July and mid-October. Old ice is rarely present in the inner shelf; therefore these trends are very small. In the inshore area of Kugmallit Bay, the long-term trends in sea ice concentrations are lower during the summer, but a reduction in total ice concentration does occur in mid-October. This is due to the later formation of sea ice resulting in a reduction of the thicker, first-year ice type, which is partially offset by an increase in the thinner young-ice categories.



Section 3: Changes from Baseline Conditions: Present and Future

Figure 7 Mid-month historical sea ice (SI) percentage areal coverage from mid-June to mid-October, 1968–2011 for total ice and individual ice types





Figure 8 Trends in sea ice coverage from mid-June to mid-October for the Canada Basin and Mackenzie regions in the Canadian Arctic, 1968–2011 (derived from Canadian Ice Service regional data). Statistical significance shown in the bars:* p<0.05: ** p<0.01.

Ісе Туре	Canada Basin		A REAL PROVIDENCE OF THE REAL PROVIDENCE OF T	Mackenzie Shelf			A Contraction of the second se	
	DC (%)	Р	Med (%)	StDv (%)	DC (%)	Р	Med (%)	StDv (%)
mid June								
Total	-0.4		98.4	5.6	-5.6	*	74.0	19.6
MYI	-5.7	**	82.5	18.6	-7.4	**	8.4	19.1
FYI	5.3	**	15.2	16.3	2.0		60.2	24.3
Y-N	0.0		0.0	1.5	-0.1	*	0.0	0.5
mid July								
Total	-1.7		97.0	9.9	-4.1		44.1	25.8
MYI	-4.6	**	81.1	14.4	0.7		13.9	10.4
FYI	2.9	*	14.1	10.1	-4.9		30.6	21.3
Y-N	n/a				-0.02		0.0	0.1
mid Aug						-		
Total	-5.8	**	92.7	16.1	-3.4		18.9	23.1
MYI	-8.0	**	77.8	17.7	-0.4		11.4	13.3
FYI	2.3		10.3	10.5	-2.9	*	7.5	12.8
Y-N	-0.1		0.0	0.6	-0.1		0.0	0.3
mid Sep						-		
Total	-7.4	**	88.9	16.0	-3.2		11.0	18.9
MYI	-10.5	**	76.7	19.6	-2.4		9.3	14.8
FYI	2.0	*	6.9	7.8	-0.9		1.5	6.4
Y-N	1.1	**	0.0	3.4	0.1		0.0	1.4
mid Oct								
Total	-1.3		97.4	7.7	-7.1		74.6	29.7
MYI	-8.8	**	86.6	18.0	-3.1		11.9	17.1
FYI	0.4		0.0	2.2	-1.9	**	0.0	6.2
Y-N	7.0	**	9.8	15.0	-2.1		45.4	24.6
NOTE:								

Table 1 Ice statistics from 1968–2011 CIS ice chart data

Entries are included for decadal change rates (DC) (in % coverage change per decade); statistical significance; median ice concentration and standard deviation of median ice concentration. Separate statistics are provided for total ice, multi-year (MYI), first year (FYI) and young-new (Y-N) categories.



Figure 9 The computed changes in sea ice concentration from 1968 to 2011 for the four subregions (shown on the right) in mid-July, mid-September and mid-October.

A recent study by Galley et al. (2012) on landfast sea ice conditions in the Canada Arctic reveals that the formation of landfast ice in the coastal margins of the Mackenzie area of the Beaufort Sea (area shown in Figure 9) has undergone a delay of 2.8 weeks per decade from 1983 to 2009, which is statistically significant. Over this same 26 year period, the break-up dates of the landfast ice have advanced at 0.65 weeks per decade also at a statistically significant level. Reductions in the duration of the landfast ice season will reduce the duration for use of ice roads, which are used to support inshore oil and gas activities resulting in a curtailment of inshore drilling operations in fast ice during winter and spring. The timing of the onset of the melting of fast ice, which occurs prior to break-up is very important because after this time, transportation on the ice effectively ends.

3.2 Sea Ice Thickness

Corresponding changes in sea ice thickness are harder to quantify than is areal extent. Reductions in sea ice thickness in the deep water basins of the Arctic Ocean have been inferred from comparisons of submarine upward looking sonar measurements from 1958 to1976 with those obtained in the 1990s (Rothrock et al. 1999; Wadhams and Davis 2000). Comparison of sea-ice draft data acquired on submarine cruises indicates that the mean ice draft at the end of the melt season has decreased by about 1.3 m in most of the deep water portion of the Arctic Ocean, from 3.1 m in 1958 to 1976 period to 1.8 m in the 1990s. The decrease is greater in the central and eastern Arctic than in the Beaufort and Chukchi seas (Rothrock et al. 1999). The mean ice draft in the Beaufort Sea, as measured by submarine cruises was reduced from 1.95 m (1958 to1976) to 1.0 m (1993 to1997). More recent measurements from the ICESAT satellite program 2003 to 2007 datasets indicate only a very small change in the average ice draft of less than 5% from those of the mid-1990s (Kwok and Rothrock 2009).

The reduction in multi-year sea ice can be quantified through the computation of ice age using satellite observations combined with modeling, as shown in Figure 10, and illustrates how the areal extent of multi-year ice in the Beaufort Sea deep water areas has declined dramatically in the years 2009–2011 as compared to 1988 especially in the four-year and older category. The overall sea ice concentrations in March are little changed, with first, second, and third-year ice being present in the area. Reduced amounts of old ice would lead to reduced ice thicknesses. However, deformation of first-year ice can also create drafts as large as older ice, and under larger ice drifts that have been reported in the Arctic Ocean, it is possible that first-year ice is becoming more deformed which may lead to larger maximum ice draft values for this sea ice category.

A modest level of recovery in the amount of old ice may have occurred in the overall Arctic Ocean (Maslanik et al. 2011) subsequent to the record low year of 2007 (Figure 10). However, the same study has shown that "the recovery has been weakest in the Beaufort Sea and Canada Basin, with multiyear ice coverage decreasing by 83% from 2002 to 2009 in the Canada Basin, and with more multiyear ice extent now lost in the Pacific sector than elsewhere in the Arctic Ocean." (Maslanik et al. 2011).

The considerable changes in the late summer sea ice cover of the Arctic Ocean as a whole and in the deep water area of the Canada Basin adjoining our study area, may be related to a change in the atmospheric circulation patterns of the western Arctic Ocean. Sea ice and ocean observations from 2001-2011 suggest that the Arctic Ocean climate has different characteristics in recent years than those of the period 1979-2000 (Proshutinsky 2011). In particular, there is less sea ice and the upper part of the ocean is warmer and fresher. The changes appear to be related to "the anticyclonic (clockwise) wind-driven circulation regime (which) has dominated the Arctic Ocean for at least 14 years (1997–2011), in contrast to the typical 5-8 year pattern of anticyclonic/cyclonic circulation shifts observed from 1948–1996" (Proshutinsky 2011). The decline in sea ice extent and large reduction in multi-year ice, as described previously, in the form of melting ice as well as other mechanisms has increased the fresh water content of the upper ocean in the offshore Beaufort Gyre area. Over the shelf areas, the trend for increased freshwater has not occurred (Melling, pers. communication, 2012). Ocean heat content typically affects the melt flux to the sea ice either through upwelling of warmer water from depth or through solar insolation heating the ocean surface mixed layer which then adds heat to the base of the sea ice.



SOURCE: Perovich et al. 2011; figure courtesy of J. Maslanik and C. Fowler

Figure 10 Sea ice age in the first week of March derived from tracking the drift of ice floes in 1988, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

For the Mackenzie shelf region, more than two decades of ice draft data have been collected by Dr. H. Melling of DFO from upward-looking sonars moored in the southeastern and eastern ends of the Beaufort Sea since 1991. The longest duration record, collected at 70.3° N, 133.7° W, corresponding to the shoreward half of the mid-outer shelf region NNW of Kugmallit Bay, provides the best basis for detecting change in thickness or draft parameters. Figure 11 presents compilations of monthly means for this site based upon averaging carried out solely as a function of time and, as well, with restrictions to time intervals when ice was detectable at the monitoring site. Data are included only up to mid-2008. The trend lines, derived by Melling for both the corresponding overall and ice-only means, are not indicative of statistically significant trends. Nevertheless, it is of interest to explore the possibility that the apparent post-1998 downward trend in northern hemisphere ice extents and in trend plots of 1992-2011 Canada Basin for old and total ice has a counterpart in the draft records. Some insight in this respect could be gathered from the mean thickness data included in Figure 12 for the years 2005–2010. Although still inconclusive these results (Niemi et al. 2012, in press) suggest that recovery from the downward 2005-2008 trend appeared to occur in 2009–2010 leaving intact Melling's conclusion that no trend in thickness or topography has, as yet, been detected on the Mackenzie Shelf and, in any case, any trend present would currently be overshadowed by year to year and shorter term variability.

3.3 Meteorology: Air Temperature, Precipitation and Winds

Long-term coastal weather station data provides a means of examining changes over many decades. For this study, the Environment Canada weather station data collected at Tuktoyaktuk and Sachs Harbour were analyzed for long-term trends by individual months (Table 2 and Figure 13). The long-term trend results show an overall increase in monthly mean air temperatures for all months over the past 50 years. The largest amount of warming occurs in the fall and winter with a total warming of about 4°C in the past five decades or a decadal change of 0.8°C for both Tuktoyaktuk and Sachs Harbour. We note that the relationship between warming and sea ice extent can be complex. For example less ice can create warmer coastal temperatures due to advection of warmer air masses into the region from the south and may not affect sea ice extent at all.

In the spring and summer months, the warming is less and not statistically significant with increases over 50 years ranging from 0.7°C (August) to 2.6°C (June) at Tuktoyaktuk, with an overall increase of 0.4°C per decade. The warming is less in spring and summer at Sachs Harbour with an overall increase of 0.3°C per decade.

The trends in other meteorological parameters have been examined in this study and in the literature. In conjunction with warming air temperatures, precipitation in the Arctic has been increasing over the past century, although the trends are smaller than for air temperature, at about 1% per decade, and highly variable by subregions (McBean et al. 2005). It should be noted that the amount of total annual precipitation in Arctic regions, including the Beaufort Sea, is very small by comparison to temperate regions. However, long-term changes in accumulated snow and occurrences of blowing snow can be important to oil and gas activities.



Figure 11 Monthly mean draft of sea ice at a mid-shelf location on the Mackenzie shelf of the Beaufort Sea (70.3N, 133.7W). Trend lines are shown for the ice concentration (red), overall ice draft including open water as ice of zero draft (solid black) and ice draft excluding open water. None of the trends are statistically significant.


Figure 12 The mean ice thickness, along with ice fractions of thinner ice (< 5 cm and < 35 cm) at 5 day intervals at the mid-shelf measurement site in the Canadian Beaufort Sea for five years: 2005–2006 to 2009–2010.

Table 2Monthly air temperature trends from 1960 to 2011 at Tuktoyaktuk and
Sachs Harbour

	Tul	ktoyak	tuk	5	l .	
Month	тс	р	DC	тс	р	DC
Jan	4.2	*	0.8	5.1	**	1.0
Feb	5.2	**	1.0	4.5	**	0.9
Mar	4.1	*	0.8	2.5		0.5
Apr	4.1	*	0.8	4.2	**	0.8
May	1.8		0.4	0.3		0.1
Jun	2.6	**	0.5	0.9		0.3
Jul	1.3		0.3	0.9		0.2
Aug	0.7		0.1	1.4		0.3
Sep	2.0	*	0.4	2.2		0.4
Oct	1.7		0.3	2.6		0.5
Nov	2.9		0.6	3.9	*	0.8
Dec	2.5		0.5	3.2		0.6
Med	2.6		0.5	2.6		0.5
Med FW	4.1		0.8	3.9		0.8
Med SS	1.8		0.4	0.9		0.3

(*) if p<0.05 and two (**) if p<0.01

NOTE:

The computed change in the long-term trend (TC, computed as 2001–2011 mean less the 1960–1970 mean), statistical significance (* p<0.05, ** p<0.01) and decadal change (DC in °C/10 years) are presented. Med=median, FW=fall-winter, SS=spring-summer).



Figure 13 Monthly decadal change in air temperature for Tuktoyaktuk and Sachs Harbour 1960–2011 (left) and seasonal median decadal changes (right).

Surface wind data from coastal weather stations, available over the past 50 years or more, indicate little or no increase in wind speeds and storm frequencies along the coastline of the Beaufort Sea (Hudak and Young 2002; Atkinson 2005; Manson and Solomon 2007). A recent study of monthly Beaufort Sea winds (measured at Tuktoyaktuk NWT and the marine weather station at Pelly Island NWT) reveal only small trends for most months. The long term trends in the monthly average coastal wind speeds as computed for the March-April and October-November periods had a net change of approximately -20% over the years 1958 to 2007 (Fissel et al. 2009). The analysis of monthly wind stress from re-analyzed numerical model wind results over the years 1948 to 2006 (Hakkinen et al. 2008) are consistent with negative trends for the inshore shelf waters of the western Arctic Ocean. Overall, the monthly mean wind speeds in coastal areas appear to have decreased over the past five decades. However, wind speeds may be increasing in offshore areas (Hakkinen et al. 2008). There is an increase in the depth of offshore low pressure systems but not an increase in the frequency of cyclones (Lukovich and Barber 2006; Barber 2012, personal communication). More cyclones tend to follow the sea ice/ocean interface and as such these storms are moving further offshore as the ice edge retreats. The Beaufort Sea high pressure system has become stronger in the years 1996 - 2011 (Moore and Pickart 2012) leading to enhanced easterly winds in the Beaufort Sea with larger increases at more offshore locations.

Reduced visibility, along with increased cloudiness, are also potential consequences of the longer open water season associated with the reduced duration of sea ice described above. During the spring and fall shoulder seasons open water persists longer in the presence of very cold air temperatures. This may result in more fog and thus reduced visibility. Increased cloudiness has been linked as a coupled process to the earlier clearing and later formation of sea ice (AMAP 2011).

Changes in the atmospheric boundary layer of particular importance are the strength and height of the surface inversion and its downwind potential for adverse air quality conditions. Bintanja et al. (2012) determined that the autumn and winter surface inversion is weakening under warming air temperatures which has the potential to increase the amount of surface air temperature increases due to climate change. However, the surface inversion is not prevalent in the summer months.

3.4 Oceanography: Ocean Currents, Temperature and Salinity and Waves

The availability of long time series of oceanographic data in the study area is much more limited by comparison to atmospheric and sea ice data sets. Extended ocean current measurements were first made during the Beaufort Sea Project of 1974–1975 and resumed during the oil exploration boom from the late 1970s to the late 1980s. In the 1990s to the early 2000s, oceanographic studies were very limited with the exception of some measurements on the continental slope by DFO in the 1990s and the ongoing long-term upward looking sonar mooring measurement program (sea ice and ocean currents) at a mid-and outer shelf location north of Tuktoyaktuk (Melling et al. 2005). Starting in the mid-2000s to the present, multi-year measurement programs have resumed through university (ArcticNet CASES and CFL projects) and oil industry programs, especially on the outer shelf and slope areas (as discussed in more detail in Section 2.1: Literature Search and Review).

However, the available oceanographic data sets described above preclude a characterization of the longterm trends or changes in oceanographic properties over the past two to three decades. Continuous measurements of oceanographic properties spanning several years or longer at specific locations do not exist, other than the two mooring sites offshore of Tuktoyaktuk (Melling et al. 2005). The problem is compounded by the nature of ocean current variability, which has spatial scales of 10 km or less – much smaller than the spatial scales of weather and ice parameters. Addressing these limitations will require ongoing oceanographic measurement programs that are better coordinated to generate long time series data sets of decadal duration at agreed upon locations representative of key dynamical regimes including: the inshore area in water depths of less than 20 m both within and beyond the Mackenzie concentrated plume area of the inner shelf, middle and outer shelf locations, the continental slope area and special dynamic areas of the Mackenzie Trough and the Cape Bathurst region.

Direct year-round measurement of ocean waves have been underway in the Southern Beaufort Sea over the past decade with the advent of moored upward looking sonar instruments that can be programmed to obtain non-directional wave data as well as ice draft measurements. Analysis of these data sets (Fissel et al. 2012) reveal episodes of larger waves observed over the past 10 years that are considerably larger than would be expected on the basis of earlier summer buoy-based wave measurements in the 1980's and wave modeling studies (Swail et al. 2007) based on these earlier data sets and the prevailing sea ice conditions of this earlier period. Of particular importance is the finding that the largest episodes of ocean waves occur in October and early November with significant wave heights reaching peak values of 5 - 8 m over the 10 year period of observations (Fissel et al. 2012) which are larger than the estimated 25 year significant wave height based on the earlier measurement and modeling studies.

3.5 Contaminants

In the coastal zone, increased air and water temperature will lead to melting of permafrost and the release of gases such as methane. An increase in the frequency, duration and intensity of storms leading to increased coastal erosion may release polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) through resuspension of sediments in the shallow coastal areas where oil based drilling muds and cuttings containing PAH were discharged in the past. Another factor that may increase contaminant input (particularly hydrocarbons) and contaminant dispersal and distribution to the coastal zone of the Beaufort Sea is an increase in suspended load and flow volume of the Mackenzie River driven by a warming watershed.

In the deeper offshore areas, changes in sediment and water quality will be less pronounced as this area is farther from most contaminant sources than the coastal areas, is less susceptible to disruptions to the water column and seabed, and has lower biomass.

Superimposed on the whole region will be changing inputs of contaminants from stores in permafrost, glaciers and sea ice and from long range transport of airborne pollutants (LRTAP). The magnitude and net direction of this effect is difficult to predict on local scales. It may not necessarily be significant but has the potential to enhance pyrogenic PAH, organochlorines (OCs), and other environmental contaminants (including mercury) thereby increasing the pre-development baseline chemical environment.

3.6 Seabed

Ice scours are a common feature of the seabed on the inner Beaufort Sea shelf. Ice scours occur when ice pressure keels cut through sediments in the seafloor. At water depths of 10 m or less, approximately

25% of the seafloor surface has been reworked by ice scours. In water depths greater than 10 m there is a significant increase in the amount of seabed surface reworked. In areas with depths in excess of 12 m more than 75% of the seafloor is reworked by ice scouring (Héquette et al. 1995). A comparison of ice scour impact rates for 1990–2003 and pre-1990 for scours with a depth of 0.5 m or greater resulted in an observed reduction of ice scour impact rates by 40% since the pre 1990 period (Blasco et al. 2004). With the reduction in the duration of sea ice predicted to continue ice scouring rates, especially for extreme ice scours, may also be reduced. However more mobility of sea ice may lead to increases in the deformation of first year sea ice which could increase ice drafts. Although the potential for extreme ice scour events may be decreasing as a result of reduced multi-year ice it does not completely eliminate their potential from occurring. The occasional presence of glacial ice, which is relatively new in the Beaufort Sea, may lead to ice scouring at depths beyond the 70 m water depth.

3.7 Possible Future Changes: The Next 20 to 50 Years

The possible changes from the present into the future over time scales of 20 to 50 years can be estimated through extrapolation of recent trends and from the use of global and regional climate models used in the study of climate change.

As discussed above, the trend toward reduced sea ice has been occurring for more than 40 years throughout the study area, with the largest reductions occurring in the deep water areas of the continental slope and further offshore. The trend of sea ice reduction, especially for the old ice, has increased in the past 10 to 20 years. Based on these findings, it would seem reasonable to expect the reduction of sea ice to continue at least in the short term of the next decade or two. For the Arctic Ocean as a whole the 30 year trend from 1980 to 2009 has been a net reduction of approximately 1% per year in sea ice areal extent during late summer at the time of minimal sea ice extent. If this trend were to continue at the rate of the past 30 years, then a seasonally ice free Arctic Ocean would occur in approximately 70 years from now, i.e., in 2080. If the reduction of sea ice occurs at a faster rate, which has been the case over the past 15 years, at approximately twice the past 30 year trend rate, a seasonally ice free Arctic Ocean would be realized in 35 years from now, i.e., in approximately 2045. Due to the powerful feedbacks in the system (AMAP 2011) some sea ice experts, most notably Dr. Wieslaw Maslowski of the US Naval Post Graduate School and Dr. Peter Wadhams of Cambridge University, have suggested a seasonally ice free arctic could occur sometime within the next decade or two. It should be noted that total clearing of ice from the Arctic Ocean is limited to the period of late summer. Seasonal ice would continue to occur in the fall, winter, spring and early summer seasons for many decades following the first year of total ice clearing in the Arctic Ocean.

Global and regional climate models have been developed and widely used to compute changing Arctic Ocean sea ice conditions in the 21st century. These models are in universal agreement that Arctic sea ice extent will continue to decline through the present century (Stroeve et al. 2007) with sea ice remaining present through most of this century. On average, the models, as run in the mid-2000s, forecast a 45% reduction in late summer sea ice extent by the year 2050 with reduced levels of sea ice persisting in late summer throughout the 21st century. However, a reduction of nearly this much was realized in the summer of 2007 from the previous year, as discussed above, and again in the summer of 2012 from that of 2011 to a new record low value since observations began in 1979. The actual sea ice areal extent from

2007 to 2012 continue to be lower than the model forecasts leading to the possibility that the Arctic Ocean may be free of sea ice well within this century, as has been suggested by Stroeve et al. (2007), Barber et al. (2009) and others over the past decade . The most recent modeling studies, which are initiated with the actual 2007/2008 Arctic Ocean ice extents, indicate that a nearly ice free Arctic Ocean could be realized by approximately the year 2037, 30 years after the major reduction in summer sea extent experienced in the year 2007 (Wang and Overland 2009). Another recent climate modeling study (Zhang et al. 2010) indicates that it is not likely that the Arctic Ocean will pass a threshold to become ice free in summer permanently before 2050 even though some individual summers may be ice free prior to that year. However, if Arctic surface air temperature increases 4°C by 2050 and climate variability is similar to the past relatively warm two decades, a summer ice free Arctic Ocean is possible by the mid-2040s or even earlier, as described above. Even under these model predictions of no sea ice coverage during the late summer period in the Arctic Ocean, sea ice will still form in the fall and be present through the winter, spring and early summer period; however, only first year sea ice will be present through the year and the harder and thicker multi-year sea ice will no longer occur over much of the Arctic Ocean. It should also be noted that the thick ice around the Canadian Arctic Islands will likely persist well after the Arctic Ocean itself is largely ice free in late summer due to the fact that sea ice circulates around the Beaufort Gyre and piles up along the northwest flank of the Canadian Arctic Islands. The multiyear ice in the Canadian Arctic Islands, especially along its northwest flank which is upstream of the Canadian Beaufort Sea, is likely to persist long after most of the Arctic Ocean becomes ice free in late summer.

Because the coupled models forecast air temperatures will remain well below the freezing point from late fall through to spring for many decades to come, the Arctic Ocean winter ice extent will continue to be present throughout the 21st century and beyond. This could make the Beaufort Sea ice environment very similar to what is currently experienced in Hudson Bay.

The expected reduced sea ice conditions, and their relation to regional and global atmospheric and climate conditions, will coincide with changes in other parameters:

- continuing increase in air temperatures, especially in the fall and winter at rates similar to those experienced in the past 50 years
- increases in precipitation as air temperatures warm with more snow in winter and more rain in summer
- warming and freshening of the offshore ocean waters due to more open water and increased ice melt
- larger ocean waves occurring over longer periods of time in summer and fall, in association with the reduced sea ice coverage
- enhanced upwelling at the shelf edge under the combined effect of reduced ice extent and the increased prevalence of the anticyclonic atmospheric circulation of the western Arctic Ocean (Pickart et al. 2011)

4 TRADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE ON CLIMATE CHANGE

There is a limited but growing body of traditional knowledge literature pertaining to climate change in the Western Arctic. In some cases the Traditional Knowledge study had a climate change focus (e.g., Barber et al. 2012) while other studies were project specific (e.g., KAVK-AXYS 2011, 2012) but climate change was raised by those interviewed. The literature focused on harvested species, harvesting areas, travel routes and communities. Although the literature does not discuss Traditional Knowledge in relation to offshore related oil and gas activities, the knowledge gained through these studies is useful in understanding the effects of climate change on the environment which in turn can be used to assess how these effects will potentially affect oil and gas activities.

There were several common observations amongst reports reviewed for this study. These included:

- changing and unpredictable weather
- increased frequency and severity of storms
- later freeze-up of ice and earlier break-up
- more open water in winter and thinner ice
- increased permafrost melting and slumping
- increased coastal erosion

Common weather observations from all ISR communities include; weather being less predictable, more wind in summer, higher temperatures, less snow, and winter lows not being as extreme (Community of Aklavik et al. 2005; Reidlinger and Berkes 2001). In Aklavik, Inuvik and Tuktoyaktuk it was also reported that summers were becoming longer and winters shorter (Barber et al. 2012; ICC et al. 2006) Observations on changes to the landscape common to all communities in the ISR include more erosion of banks and shores, more sedimentary deposits into the ocean and rivers, diminishing thickness of sea ice, earlier spring break-ups and later fall freeze-ups (Barber et al. 2012; Community of Aklavik et al. 2005; Reidlinger and Berkes 2001).

Climate change related observations specific to the community of Sachs Harbour on Banks Island included freeze-up occurring 3-4 weeks later than normal, more severe storms and wind, and the absence of ice flows and multi-year ice during the summer period. Residents have reported during the fall and winter period more open water, later freeze-up, thinner and less stable ice (Nichols et al. 2004; Reidliner 1999; Reidlinger and Berkes 2001) and increased rain in the fall period (Nichols et al. 2004). Permafrost was observed melting at faster rates than in the past (ICC et al. 2006; Reidliner 1999; Reidlinger and Berkes 2001). Residents also reported catching the occasional Pacific salmon such as pink and sockeye salmon (species identity confirmed by DFO) which was said to be new for the area (Reidliner 1999; Reidlinger and Berkes 2001).

A Traditional Knowledge study (ICC et al. 2006) was conducted in support of the Mackenzie Gas Project (MGP) and focused on areas used mainly by the communities of Aklavik, Tuktoyaktuk and Inuvik. In addition to the common observations mentioned above, these communities noted that the air is now

Section 4: Traditional Knowledge on Climate Change

damper, less ice was present in the Beaufort Sea during the summer than there used to be, and during the winter the ice was thinner than in the past. Study participants noted increased levels of coastal erosion and melting of permafrost. Many mudslides have been observed between Shingle and Kay Points. Coastal erosion is also increasing along Tuktoyaktuk Peninsula. Warmer water temperatures and later freeze-up may be affecting fish distribution and the timing of migrations. Some reported the fish as not appearing as healthy as in the past. Stephenson (2004) suggested climate change resulting in changes in the timing of fish appearance and location as one possible explanation for reduced harvest levels of fish.

Traditional Knowledge collected from Sachs Harbour, Ulukhaktok and Paulatuk refer to the sea ice in Amundsen Gulf as being thinner than in the past. During winter, the area between Cape Parry and Nelson Head on Banks Island often froze over; now it rarely freezes over (KAVIK-AXYS 2011; Barber et al. 2012). Freeze-up is reported to be occurring 2-4 weeks later while break-up is occurring up to two weeks earlier (KAVIK-AXYS 2011; Barber et al 2012). Travelling on the ice along the coast of Darnley Bay cannot always be done safely now until December (KAVIK-AXYS 2011). Similarly travel along the north coast of Amundsen Gulf has become more restricted with hunters unable to travel as far off the coast as they used to due to unsafe ice conditions or open water. Up to the 1980s one could travel over 40 miles straight out onto the ice in Amundsen Gulf from Nelson Head. Now it is dangerous to go out 5 miles as the ice is not as thick or strong (Barber et al. 2012).

The land fast ice around communities is reported as changing in terms of stability and thickness. These changes have been observed since the 1970s but changes are occurring more dramatically since the 1990s (Barber et al. 2012).

Floe edge conditions are reported to be changing. Ice ridges are smaller and fewer in number while there is more rubble ice. Around Pearce Point there is now more jumbled (rubble) ice caused by the ice being younger and not as thick and it is turned into rubble by the currents and winds (Barber et al. 2012). The ice around Cape Parry was also said to be looser until January or February (Barber et al. 2012).

Community residents of Sachs Harbour, Ulukhaktok and Paulatuk report more areas of open water though out the winter where in the past these areas would remain frozen over. There is also more open water along the floe edge (Barber et al. 2012).

The community of Paulatuk developed a climate change adaptation plan which identifies several key concerns that are also pertinent to oil and gas activities, in particular to those activities occurring in coastal areas. The concerns were identified through a community workshop and included:

- Increased blowing snow creating hazards and obstructions to transportation.
- Rising sea levels coupled with increased storm activity and its potential impacts through shoreline erosion.
- Increased thawing of permafrost and its potential effects on infrastructure integrity and lifespan.
- Increased ponding due to permafrost thawing.

Climate change related Traditional Knowledge studies have been conducted in all six of the ISR communities. Unfortunately, there is no single compilation of the Traditional Knowledge contained in these studies, nor a complete mapping of all this information.

Traditional knowledge was collected and reported in Hartwig (2009) in support of the identification of Ecologically and Biologically Significant Areas (EBSAs) in the Beaufort Sea. Although this report does not include any discussion or comments related to climate change it may provide a good source of coastal baseline traditional knowledge and mapping to build future Traditional Knowledge studies on related to climate change.

5 CLIMATE AND SEA ICE VARIABLES

5.1 Climate Variables

The potential positive and negative effects of climate change on oil and gas activities were assessed for various exploration and development scenarios. For each potential effect, one or more climate or ice variables were identified. In many cases the effects of climate change for a particular activity remain the same regardless of the scenario; e.g., aircraft support may be required for all scenarios, and the potential effect of climate change restricting aircraft flights due to a possible increase in fog frequency remains the same throughout.

Climate change effects on oil and gas activities are primarily physical in nature, such as ice posing a threat to shipping or drilling activities, waves affecting ship based activities and coastal erosion affecting shore based support structures. Changes to chemical and/or biological oceanographic properties as a result of climate change generally will have an indirect effect on oil and gas activities. For example it is often difficult to separate cause and effect in many physical-biological coupled studies. Impacts may be due to development pressures or they may be due to climate change, or both. Similarly biogeochemical changes in the Southern Beaufort Sea (SBS) may have multiple sources, including effects from development and climate change, and attributing cause is often difficult.

Changes may occur in contaminant levels in the water column or biota due to climate change related changes in water temperature, wind direction or re-suspension of sediment due to wind action or flooding. Climate change may also affect species composition, distribution, migratory behavior, or sensitivity to perturbation by oil and gas activities. For example changes in water temperature and salinity could affect the migratory behavior of harvested species such as beluga or whitefish which in turn could affect harvesting opportunities and success rates. Higher contaminant levels (e.g. polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons [PAHs], heavy metals and organic contaminants [OCs]) in the water column or biota, and other changes to the biota could lead to changes in necessary regulations or guidelines. Changes in guidelines or regulations could come about due to increased elevations of contaminants in the water column or sediment nearing or exceeding thresholds for aquatic biota resulting in restrictions of potential discharges by industry into the marine environment. Changes to guidelines or regulations could also affect oil and gas operations part way through the life cycle of an oil and gas project (e.g., production project).

WAVE HEIGHT (MAXIMUM AND MEAN):

Wave height has potential effects for both nearshore and offshore oil and gas operations. Temporary shut-down in seismic surveys or re-supply operations may result from increased wave height due to safety concerns for people and equipment. Wave height may also affect coastal areas through its contribution to accelerated rates of coastal erosion which may affect oil and gas industry infrastructure including pipelines where they come onto land. Increased or sustained increased wave heights can affect

Section 5: Climate and Sea Ice Variables

the construction and maintenance of artificial islands in nearshore areas through greater threats of erosion to the islands.

Advances in subsurface sonar and satellite technologies have enabled wave height data collection from late spring to late fall over the past decade. The occurrence of large wave events that could affect oil and gas operations is considered as occasional and would mainly occur during periods of high winds and in ice free conditions producing a larger fetch. Wave height issues may increase as summer ice levels continue to decline, thereby increasing fetch and the potential for larger wave development. The effects of wave height include the whole Beaufort Sea region and are expected to continue over the long-term.

WIND SPEEDS (MAXIMUM, MEAN AND PROJECTED EXTREME VALUES):

Increased and/or sustained wind speeds may affect both nearshore and offshore oil and gas activities in terms of the strength and frequency of storm winds. In the offshore, wind speeds and the fetch of the wind over open water affects wave height which in turn affects ship based activities such as drilling, re-supply or seismic surveys. Wind speed also can cause wind stress to offshore as well as nearshore or onshore infrastructure. Wind also affects the movement of sea ice; increased wind speeds may result in less response time available to conduct or react with ice management operations associated with offshore activities. Wind speed's contribution to wave height may lead to increased coastal erosion affecting oil and gas infrastructure, pipelines or construction and maintenance of artificial islands in nearshore areas.

The measurement of wind speed is practical to obtain and has a high degree of measured accuracy. Long-term records exist, at least for coastal areas. There are no permanent meteorological stations in the offshore and therefore site specific wind speed measurements in the offshore are restricted to when vessels are present to record this information. The effect of wind speed on oil and gas operations is not continuous but would occur during periods of high wind speed. Shore based stations are known to have different wind speed (and often direction) than winds offshore (Barber and Hanesiak 2004). Technologies have been developed (Komarov et al. 2012) to acquire both wind speed and direction in the Marginal Ice Zone (MIZ) and will be useful in offshore monitoring.

OCEAN TEMPERATURES AND HEAT CONTENT:

Increasing sea surface temperature can contribute to the increased rate of ice melt, and delays in freezeup, resulting in both potential positive and negative effects on oil and gas operations. Earlier ice breakups associated with reversals in the Beaufort Sea ice gyre results in decreased surface albedo which increases the heat in open water areas hastening ice melt. Increasing sea surface temperatures in coastal waters can also contribute to increased coastal erosion. With warmer sea surface temperatures there is the potential for invasive species accidentally transported to the Beaufort Sea via ships to survive and reproduce, where in the past colder water temperatures would prevent many species from establishing themselves. Native species may also be affected by increased sea surface temperatures, affecting their movements, distribution and behavioral traits. Resulting changes in biota from increasing sea surface temperature could lead to changes in operating conditions (e.g., timing of flaring, tanker operations) for oil and gas operators, with some of these changes occurring mid-stream through a project (e.g., during production phase). While sea surface temperature is a practical measurement which can be recorded directly by in-situ instruments or indirectly through satellite imagery, the more important thermodynamic climate variable is the surface mixed layer heat content. The effect of sea surface temperatures and ocean heat content on oil and gas operations is not well understood but the potential for effects is long-term. The whole Beaufort Sea region would be affected by increasing sea surface temperatures.

SEA LEVEL RISE:

Sea levels are expected to increase in the Beaufort Sea. Many coastal areas in the western Arctic are low lying, especially along the outer Mackenzie delta and Tuktoyaktuk Peninsula. Rising sea levels could lead to flooding in low lying areas especially during periods of storm surge. The effects of rising sea level are further compounded by coastal subsidence which is occurring in some areas of the Western Arctic such as Tuktoyaktuk and Sachs Harbor. With projections of continuing sea level rise and subsidence for some areas of the Western Arctic there is a subsequent increased risk to oil and gas industry related infrastructure. Potential risks include damage to pipelines and other infrastructure such as camps, storage areas and docks due to erosion. There are also potential risks of coastal infrastructure being flooded with sea water especially during storm surges.

Sea level is already measured in some areas of the Beaufort Sea (e.g., Tuktoyaktuk) and is a practical measurement to obtain. Sea level rise can also be modelled for planning purposes in conjunction with isostatic rebound or subsidence.

COASTAL EROSION (RATE OF LOSS):

The effects of coastal erosion on oil and gas operations relate to onshore infrastructure and areas where offshore pipelines make landfall. Increased rates of erosion can lead to the de-stabilization or loss of infrastructure, or damage to pipelines. Adaptive engineering techniques may be required to protect coastal infrastructure and/or construction of more costly shore line protection may be necessary.

Rates of coastal erosion can be measured and modeled. Measurements can have a high degree of accuracy. Increased rates of coastal erosion are occurring and coastal erosion will likely continue and potentially accelerate over the long-term. Effects of coastal erosion are most pronounced along the Yukon North Slope, western coastline of Banks Island and at Tuktoyaktuk, although other areas of the Tuktoyaktuk Peninsula are likely also subject to increased erosion.

SEA ICE TYPE, DISTRIBUTION AND CONCENTRATION:

The elements of these sea ice variables can result in both positive and negative effects on oil and gas operations in the Beaufort Sea. Positive effects of reduced ice cover include improved seismic coverage, reduced requirement for ice breaking, and less obstacles to the movement of support vessels thereby improving efficiency of resupply. Reduced or no ice may also improve operating conditions during dredging or artificial island construction in nearshore areas. Offshore operation seasons may also be extended due to more favorable ice conditions over a longer period.

Multiyear ice occurs in the SBS and is expected to be present for some time to come. Due to the recirculation of sea ice in the Beaufort Gyre, it is expected that thick first-year ice, and even small areal

Section 5: Climate and Sea Ice Variables

extents of very thick multiyear ice could persist for several years. Sea ice affects wave height through the fetch relationships previously described, and increased winds increase the velocity of sea ice floes. This increase in velocity may create challenges for industry in ice management. Negative effects may include ice hazards to stationary drill ships and support vessels and reduction of the length of the drilling season. Because of the importance of sea ice to other climate variables, further discussion of sea ice is provided in Section 5.2

Information on sea ice type, distribution and concentration is routinely collected. Sea ice variables can be both measured directly and/or modeled, with direct measurements providing more accurate data. Long-term trend data is available. The effects of sea ice are continuous and long-term and affect the whole Beaufort Sea region.

MARINE GLACIAL ICE:

Recent studies have highlighted the fact that ice shelves along the NW flank of Ellesmere Island have lost significant mass. In the past century, a continuous ice shelf extended over 450 km of the Islands' NW coast, joining many discrete exit glaciers. While sporadic losses of ice have occurred from the ice shelves since their discovery in the late 19th century, this large continuous shelf began to break-up at much increased rates early in the last decade with complete loss of the Markham and Ayles Ice shelves and significant mass loss of the Ward Hunt, Milne, Petersen and Serson Ice Shelves (e.g., Copland et al. 2007). Pieces of these ice shelves are now a common feature in Beaufort Sea Ice due to the Beaufort Gyre. Recent work conducted onboard the CCGS Amundsen identified, and placed GPS position beacons on, seventeen of these marine glacial ice features. The features were all very thick (>40m) and varied in size from 100's of meters to kilometers in radius (D.G. Barber, Personal Communication). These marine glacial ice features pose a significant hazard to both stationary drill ships and service shipping required by the hydrocarbon industry. Their detection and management will be of concern.

Seventeen climate and ice variables (Table 3) were identified that relate to potential effects of climate change on oil and gas activities. Each of these were assessed to ordinate their importance (high, medium or low) (Table 4). Seven variables were scored high. These variables are:

- sea ice type, distribution and concentration
- sea temperature and heat content
- sea level rise
- air temperature
- wind speeds (maximum, mean and projected extreme values)
- wave height (maximum and mean)
- coastal erosion (rate of loss)

5.2 Sea Ice Variables

Sea ice variables are both important in their own right, and also have important effects on other climate variables such as ocean waves, currents, temperature and salinity. To understand the distribution of sea

ice, coupled ice-ocean-atmospheric models are widely used to understand the distribution of sea ice on spatial scales from the full Arctic Ocean region to more localized subregions.

5.2.1 Coupled Global and Regional Climate Models with Application to the Arctic

Global climate models have been widely used to forecast the rapidly changing sea ice conditions in the Arctic as part of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Fourth Assessment Report (IPCC AR4) and other scientific projects. As noted by Stroeve et al. (2007), global climate system models do not include all components of the Arctic climate system, and errors remain in their simulation of the current and past state of the Arctic. These errors arise from many sources including errors propagating into the Arctic from lower latitudes, inadequate representation of polar climate processes, and coarse model resolution (Cassano et al. 2011). A way to overcome these limitations is in the development of regional coupled atmosphere-ice-ocean-land models that can operate at much higher resolution grid sizes and which can provide improved representation of coupling processes due to the finer resolution and the use of more appropriate parameterizations for ocean-sea ice-atmosphere (OSA) coupled process linkages.

Regional coupled climate models for the full Arctic or for subregions are presently under development in Canada, the United States, Europe, East Asia and Australia. Collaborative research is being conducted by Canadian scientists in Environment Canada and Fisheries and Oceans Canada through the CONCEPTS initiative which is being used by the BREA program ("Forecasting Extreme Weather and Ocean Conditions in the Beaufort Sea", Lead: Fraser Davidson). The results from these models will be used to provide better forecasts for the changing Arctic ice including the Beaufort Sea, as well as atmospheric and oceanographic parameters.

Table 3 Climate/Ice Variable Summary

Climate Variable	Region	Present Trend	Estimated Future Changes	Comments; Level of Uncertainty			
Sea Ice Area and Concentration (late summer and early fall)	 Canada Basin / Slope Shelf 	 Reduced by 7% / decade Reduced by 2-3% / decade (but more in early summer) 	 Increasing rate of reduction Reductions will extend later into fall and earlier into late spring 	 Trends indicate that nearly ice free conditions will prevail in late summer within 10-30 years; Models projections are lagging observations. 			
Sea Ice Type: Old (Multi-Year) Ice	 Canada Basin / Slope Shelf 	 Reduced by 11% / decade Reduced by 2-3% / decade 	Increasing rate of reduction	• Even with nearly ice free conditions in late summer, incursions of multi-year ice from the CAA will occur ; frequency and severity is uncertain			
Sea Ice Thickness	 Far offshore incl. Canada Basin Shelf and Slope 	 Reductions far offshore from 1.95 to 1.0 m No trends evident since 1991 	 May continue to decrease in far offshore areas; Changes in shelf waters are not known 	• Ice thickness is more variable than ice extent regionally; models have difficulty with ice thickness over long time scales			
Glacial Ice (Ice Islands)	Slope and outer shelf areas	Occurs only rarely but more observations of thick glacial made in recent years	Occurrences may persist and even increase	 Source levels due to ice shelf ablation in CAA and N. Greenland have increased in the past decade; many uncertainties as to future trends 			
Ice Velocity	 Far offshore incl. Canada Basin 	 Ice velocities have increased by 17% per decade (winter) and 8.5% per decade (summer) Rampal et al., 2009 	Likely to continue to increase	 Long-term trend analysis results are not available the S. Beaufort Sea and sub- regions 			
Ice Available Days	Nearshore areas	 Formation delayed by 2.8 weeks / decade (1983-2009); Break-up dates have advanced by 0.65 weeks / decade 	Trend likely to increase as air temperatures increase but snow cover could reduce or reverse this trend	Landfast ice models could be improved to provide better understandings			

Table 3 Climate/Ice Variable Summary (cont'd)

Climate Variable	Region	Present Trend	Estimated Future Changes	Comments; Level of Uncertainty
Sea Temperature and Heat Content	Full region	 Long term trend analysis are not available; solar heat inputs will 	Likely to increase given sea ice clearing	 Analysis of existing data sets is complicated by lack of long-term measurements at one location;
		increase as sea ice concentrations decrease		 model based forecasts are needed
Salinity	Full region	Long term trend analysis are not available	• Not clear due to unknowns in trends for river runoff and advection rates out of the	 Analysis of existing data sets is complicated by lack of long-term measurements at one location;
			region	 model based forecasts are needed
Sea Level	Coastal Areas	0.2 mm/yr. sea level rise for Tuktoyaktuk per 1 mm global sea level rise due to Greenland.	Likely to continue or increase	Contributions of sea level rise from Greenland cannot be predicted accurately over time. More localized measurement of sea level in the coastal Beaufort Sea region would assist in understanding
		Subsistence in Tuktoyaktuk are is 2.5 mm/yr.		effects of sea level rise and planning purposes.
Ocean Currents	Full region	 Present trends are not known due to limited long term data sets 	Not known	Better coordination in research programs required to provide long-term data sets at same locations; also improved ocean circulation models
Air Temperature	Coastal regionsOffshore areas	 0.8 °C / decade warming in fall and winter 0.3-0.4 °C / decade 	Present trend expected to continue and possible increase based on climate	More data required for offshore areas
		warming in spring and summer	model studies	
		No data available		
Precipitation		 Smaller trends expected than for air temperature, from climate models 	Present trend expected to continue	 Increased precipitation is not likely to be important, given its present very low levels, but it could be important to increased snow cover

Table 3	Climate/Ice Variable Summary	(cont'd)
---------	------------------------------	----------

Climate Variable	Region	Present Trend	Estimated Future Changes	Comments; Level of Uncertainty			
Winds	Coastal regionsOffshore areas	 Trend to reduced averaged wind speed of -20% over past 50 years; Possible increase in wind speeds 	 Long term wind trends are not well understood; Enhanced easterly winds occurring relative to 1990's and earlier; Deeper low pressures in offshore cyclonic systems 	• Require better understanding of large- scale and regional atmospheric circulation processes from improved coupled atmospheric models and more offshore data collection			
Fog / Snow Limited Visibility	Coastal regionsOffshore areas	 Quantitative estimates not available due to limited data sets 	 Occurrences of fog may increase during spring and fall shoulder season as open water persists longer 	 Improved data sets and models required to make quantitative estimates 			
Wave Heights	Coastal regionsOffshore areas	 Episodes of larger waves observed in fall in the 2000's vs. expected conditions 	• The largest wave events are expected to continue to increase as ice areal extent decreases	• Need improved understanding of the future wind regime and sea ice extent as input to modeling studies			
Storm Surges	 Coastal regions 	Trend results not available	 Large storm surge events likely to increase as ice extent decreases 	• Need improved understanding of the future wind regime and sea ice extent as input to modeling studies			
Coastal Erosion	Coastal regions	 Large coastal erosion events observed in some regions; No definitive study of coastal erosion rates available 	 Coastal erosion likely to increase due to expected increases in sea temperatures, waves and currents and reduced duration of protective sea ice cover 	 Understandings of future changes of this complex process required long-term coastal monitoring data and improved model based approaches 			

Climate/Ice Variable	Practical	Effect (positive and negative)	Frequency of Effect	Urgency	Relevance to Effect	Measured/ Modeled	Measurable/ Accuracy	Spatial Scope	Temporal Scale	Long-term trend data available	Rating
Sea ice areal extent	Yes	Impediment to Drilling and marine support	Occasional	low	Medium to high	Measured and modeled	High	All	Long-term	High	М
Sea ice type distribution / concentration	Yes	 Reduced ice levels improve seismic coverage Reduce icebreaking efforts Increase wave height affecting seismic, and drilling Less ice results in reduced obstacles for support vessels Reduced ice may provide improved conditions for dredging and construction of artificial island but increase waves due to wave height may have negative effect Less ice may improve or extend period for mobilization and demobilization activities 	Continual	high	High	Measured and modeled	High	All	Long-term	High	H
Sea ice thickness	Yes	 Thicker ice as a hazard to marine operations such as support ships Thicker ice may result in increased ice breaking effort Thin landfast ice is a hazard for inshore winter roads 	Continuous	Medium	Medium	Measure and modeled	High?	All	Long-term	Medium	Μ
Glacial ice (ice islands)	Yes	Effect on drilling and production due to hazards posed by ice islands.	Rare	Medium	Low	Measure	High	Shelf and deep	Long-term	Low	М
Ice velocity	Yes	 Increased ice velocity poses threats to drill and production platforms 	Continuous	Medium	High	Measured	High	All	Long-term	Low	М
Ice available days	Yes	 Ice islands may not be viable thereby having to use more costly options for drilling platforms 	Continuous	Medium	High	Measured and modeled	High	Nearshore	Medium to long- term	Medium	М
Sea temperatures and heat content	Yes	 Melting permafrost affecting coastal infrastructure Changes to regulations or guidelines due to changes in marine mammal migration and habitat use 	Unknown	High	Low to Medium	measured	High	All	Long-term	High	н
Salinity	Yes	 Affect location of EBSAs or marine mammals affecting how oil and gas operations may be conducted mid-stream through a project 	Continual	Low	Medium	Measure and model	High	All	Long-term	High	М
Sea level rise	Yes	• Sea level rise especially in conjunction with coastal subsistence can accelerate coastal erosion and increase the area affected and severity of storm surges in coastal areas which could affect oil and gas coastal infrastructure.	Continual	Medium	High	Measure	High	Coastal	Long-term	Medium	Н
Ocean currents	Yes	 Changes or increases in bottom currents could affect seabed erosion especially at shelf break affecting drilling and production activities Changes in currents could affect productivity and locations of EBSA's 	Continual	Low	High	Measure	High	Shelf and deep	Long-term	Medium	М

Table 4 Key Climate Variable Matrix: to determine key climate/ice variables

Table 4	Key Climate Variable Matrix: to determine key climate/ice variables (cont'd)	1
---------	--	---

Climate/Ice Variable	Practical	Effect (positive and negative)	Frequency of Effect	Urgency	Relevance to Effect	Measured/ Modeled	Measurable/ Accuracy	Spatial Scope	Temporal Scale	Long-term trend data available	Rating
Air Temperature	Yes	 Affects other variables both positive and negative Reduced ice coverage Increased coastal erosion affecting infrastructure 	Continuous	High	Medium	Measured and modeled	High	All	Long-term	High	н
Precipitation	Yes	 Increased snow cover can lead to reduced strength of ice affecting coastal ice roads 	Continuous	Low	Low	Measured	High	All	Long-term	Medium	М
Wind speeds (max, mean and extreme)	Yes	• Elevated winds may cause increased wave heights or wind stress causing effects on support vessel movements, seismic operations, island construction and operation, drilling, production and mobilization and demobilization activities.	Occasional	Medium	High	Measure and model	High	All	Long-term	Medium	н
Days with fog or snow and poor visibility (means and max)	Yes	• Increased incidence of fog related to climate change can restrict flying with effects on ice reconnaissance and aerial support. Safety issues and prohibits potential spill response capability.	Occasional	Low	High	Measured	Medium	All	Long-term	Low	L
Wave height (max and mean)	Yes	 Mobilization and demobilization to Beaufort Sea Marine shipping support operations Seismic operations Drilling activities Shoreline erosion effects on pipelines and causeways Artificial island construction and maintenance 	Occasional	Medium	High	Measured	High	All	Long-term	Medium	Н
Storm surge	Yes	Storm surge can cause erosion and flooding around coastal infrastructure	Occasional	Low	High	Measured	High	Coastal	Long-term	Low	М
Coastal erosion (rate of loss)	Yes	Effects on pipelines,Effects on coastal zone facilities and infrastructure	Continuous	High	High	Measured and modeled	High	Nearshore	Long-term	Medium	Н

NOTES:

Practical: no or yes (practical in terms of cost and technical capability)

Frequency: rare; occasional; or continuous - What is the likely frequency that an effect related to a climate variable will occur?

Urgency: low, medium, high - based on when the effect will be of concern to the oil and gas industry or the length of time to develop good baseline or predictive models.

Relevance to effect: low, medium, high - how relevant is the variable to the resulting effect. Example "wave height" is directly relevant to ship related activities therefore relevance is "high".

Accuracy: low; medium; high - whether data collected or modeled for a climate variable can be done so with a high or lesser degree of accuracy.

Spatial Scope: limited to one area (e.g., nearshore); use in two areas (e.g., nearshore and shelf); all - useable throughout Beaufort Sea

Temporal scale needed for measuring the variable: short-term; medium-term; long-term

Long-term trend data available: low; medium; high - low refers to little or no long-term trend data, medium to some long-term trend data but may be incomplete or for intermediate period, while high refers to long-term trend data is satisfactory Score: low, medium, high

If not practical then cannot be a key climate variable

5.2.2 Key Sea Ice Variables

The key sea ice variables identified for use in this study are derived from the following ice categories:

- 1. Sea Ice: Sea ice areal extent, type, concentration, thickness, and thermodynamic state are especially important to shipping operations, including drillship activities and supply vessels. The arrival, departure and operating season for drill ships is usually directly related to sea ice conditions. Sea ice consists of different ice types, some of which pose more challenges for vessel operations: old ice (second year and multi-year ice), thick and highly concentrated hummocky first year ice and very large ice keels (pressure ridges) created by high levels of deformation of medium to thick first year ice. Sea ice is also important in shoreline changes through direct interactions and also in reducing the magnitude of currents and waves and for pipeline design and construction due to the possibility of ice scour in inshore waters.
- 2. Landfast Ice: Landfast Ice is nearly stationary sea ice that forms from the coastline out to water depths of 10-20 m in the autumn and early winter. This nearly stationary characteristic, and an often less deformed ice surface, makes this ice type useful for winter vehicle transportation. The thickness and seasonal duration of landfast ice is strongly dependent on air temperature and snow cover, as discussed in detail below in Section 5.4.
- 3. Glacial Ice: Glacial ice is ice formed on land through long-term processes of freshwater ice accretion in cold climates. For glacial ice shelves in the form of tidewater glacier and ice sheets, very large ice pieces can break off to form icebergs or ice islands. Icebergs are generally very thick with ice drafts of tens of meters to 100 m or more. Ice islands are sheets of level glacial ice that can be several tens of meters thick with very large horizontal dimensions of 1 to 30 plus km. Once launched, these glacial ice features pose formidable hazards to marine operations until they break up and melt. Ice islands can form off northern Greenland and the northernmost Arctic Islands (Ellesmere and Axel Heiberg islands) and drift south-westward through offshore portions of the Canadian Beaufort Sea. Icebergs and islands now exist in both the SBS and Eastern Arctic.

Ice variables that are required to describe conditions necessary for characterizing hazards and opportunities for oil and gas activities have been selected as:

- Sea Ice Areal Extent (based on ice concentrations for all ice present) for specified areas of interest. This variable is readily measured from satellites as well as aircraft and ship-based observers.
- Sea Ice Type distribution / concentration (based on partial ice concentrations by types of sea ice). The
 ice type is an important variable for characterizing the degree of hazard that sea ice can pose to
 industry applications, with hard multi-year sea ice being much more hazardous than new or young sea
 ice.
- Ice thickness is measured in a variety of ways using mechanical ice augers, from below using upward looking sonars and from above by satellite and aircraft-mounted sensors (Fissel and Marko 2011). Ice thickness is of fundamental importance in determining the loading of sea ice on fixed platforms or vessels and is also important for near-shore ice roads in winter.
- Ice velocity is measured from above by comparison of sequential satellite images, using in situ GPS beacons, by ship observers and from below using specialized sonar instruments. Ice velocity is an

important variable in determining the viability of ice management operations and in determining the loading of ice on fixed platforms and vessels operating in the ice.

- Ice available days, is a measure of the duration of ice of specified type for use in nearshore industry operations.
- Landfast ice extent and thickness are essential parts of the ice environment in nearshore and inshore areas in terms of providing a platform for winter-based oil and gas industry operations and as an impediment to shipping in spring and early summer.
- Glacial ice (ice islands), including total mass and horizontal and vertical dimensions, represent a
 hazard to offshore operations such as drilling and shipping. Marine glacial ice sources include the ice
 shelves of the NW flank of the CAA. These get incorporated into the Beaufort Sea pack ice and now
 routinely drift down over the areas of proposed offshore oil and gas development. This is a new feature
 of this ice directly due to climate warming and increased mobility of these marine glacial ice features.
 The increase in the velocity of the Beaufort Sea pack ice encourages the movement of these ice
 hazards into the current area of exploration drilling.

6 CLIMATE CHANGE AND ITS POTENTIAL EFFECTS ON OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES

The effects of climate change on oil and gas activities must be viewed in the context of what oil and gas exploration and development in the Beaufort Sea may look like in the foreseeable future. Oil and gas activities include seismic operations, exploration drilling, production, abandonment and all related support activities.

Exploration activities are not expected to be as concentrated as in the 1970s and 1980s when multiple wells were drilled each year in the inner and outer shelf. Exploration drilling ceased in 1989 with no further activity until the winter of 2005/2006 when a single well was drilled by Devon Canada. No wells have been drilled since then. Since 2006 there have been one to two seismic surveys conducted per year. Most of these seismic surveys have been 2D with only a few small 3D programs being carried out. It is expected that the number of 2D seismic programs will decrease after 15 years with 3D seismic surveys being on track with drilling programs (Callow 2012).

Earlier predictions for oil and gas scenarios in the Beaufort Sea (Morrell 2005, 2007) assumed the Mackenzie Gas Project (MGP) would proceed, creating a focus on the nearshore Beaufort Sea for further gas exploration and production tied to the pipeline. Since these predictions were made, doubt has arisen whether the MGP will proceed due to low North American gas prices which make it less attractive to build. It was suggested by Callow (2012) that drilling in the shallow waters of the Beaufort Sea could begin as early as 2016. However this time frame now seems unlikely.

Industry interest has shifted from shallow nearshore areas to the deep offshore waters of the Beaufort Sea with a number of exploration leases being acquired which are focused on potential oil discoveries. Drilling in the Beaufort Sea, is likely to occur first in the deep offshore waters using either an existing arctic class drill ship or a new vessel designed for the purpose. Due to the short season for drilling a well in the deep offshore waters, it is expected a single well will take 2-3 years to drill. If a deep water well is approved, drilling would likely not begin until 2020 or later. Drilling may also occur within the Amauligak Significant Discovery License (SDL) area, in shallower water approximately 30m water depth. The Amualigak is the largest oil and gas discovery in the Beaufort Sea at this time. Drilling at the Amauligak SDL could happen within the same time frame as a deep offshore drilling program and would be with the intention of developing a production project. The expectation is that only one or possibly two drilling programs would occur in any one year once or if drilling resumes.

POTENTIAL CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS FROM SEA ICE

As described in Section 3.1, there is clear evidence that changes in sea ice areal extent and ice concentrations have been occurring in the summer to early fall period over the past 30-40 years in the offshore areas of the continental slope and outer shelf. It is logical to assume that changes are also underway over the winter period but scientifically there is much less information available to confirm this. The evidence for reduced summer ice areal extent for the inshore and mid-shelf areas is not as strong due to the large degree of inter-annual variability and the generally lower ice concentrations in these

Section 6: Climate Change and its Potential Effects on Oil and Gas Activities

areas. However, there are clear trends for reduced ice concentrations in October for the shelf areas and inshore areas, which is consistent with later ice formation and reduced ice thickness including the landfast ice areas. The thickness and duration of the landfast ice are also likely to be reduced in the long term, with the warming of air temperatures in fall and winter. The consensus derived from climate model studies (atmosphere, sea ice and oceanographic) is that the reduction in summer and fall ice extent and concentrations will continue over the next several decades.

The effects of climate related changes to sea ice on oil and gas industry activities include:

1. Reduced ice concentrations and areal extent:

All Phases of Oil and Gas Activities:

- Lower ice concentrations and areal extents may improve or extend the period for mobilization and demobilization activities. This includes mobilization and demobilization into and from the Beaufort Sea as well as from vessel overwintering sites in coastal areas of the Beaufort Sea.
- Extended operating seasons for all phases and areas of operation of oil and gas related activities.

Seismic:

• Reduced ice levels may improve seismic coverage by not having to avoid areas with ice on the Beaufort Sea shelf and slope.

Drilling and Production - Shelf and Slope:

• Reduced impediments to drilling and marine support activities through reduced icebreaking efforts and more efficient shipping operations including support vessels for activities on the Beaufort Sea shelf and slope.

Drilling and Production - Nearshore:

• Reduced ice cover may provide improved conditions for dredging and construction of artificial islands in nearshore areas. The construction of artificial islands is not expected to occur in the next 10 years or longer, unless the MGP proceeds.

Harbours:

- Impacts on Tuktoyaktuk harbour the longer seasonal access to the harbour may increase the need for dredging to accommodate vessels of moderate and larger drafts and to accommodate a potential floating facility to load and unload vessels. This would not occur until a drilling program is approved. Also the possibility of losing the protection of Tuk Island via shoreline erosion will also have an impact on Tuktoyaktuk Harbour.
- 2. Changes in ice thickness

Drilling, Production and Associated Support - Shelf and Slope:

- Thicker ice is a hazard to marine operations such as support ships, potentially resulting in safety issues.
- Thicker ice may result in increased ice breaking effort in support of supply vessels and to maintain safe drilling operations.

3. Increased ice velocities

Drilling and Production - Shelf and Slope:

- Increased ice velocity poses threats to drill and production platforms because of the shortened time between detection of an ice hazard and the response to the approaching ice. If the response to fast moving ice is too slow damage could occur to the drilling or production platform.
- 4. Landfast ice extent and thickness

Drilling and Production - Nearshore:

- Ice roads can be used to support inshore oil and gas activities during winter and spring. Reductions in the duration of the landfast ice season will limit the use of ice roads in comparison to past levels of use. With the exception of the Inuvik to Tuktoyaktuk winter ice road, ice roads are most commonly used to support nearshore drilling programs during the winter season.
- Thin landfast ice is a hazard for inshore winter roads limiting the size of loads or duration of use of these roads. Some coastal areas may be more prone to having thin ice than other areas (e.g., Yukon North Slope).
- Reductions in the duration of landfast ice may also eliminate the ability to use ice spray islands to conduct drilling in nearshore areas.
- Weaker landfast ice will also create problems when icebreakers enter into solid fast ice, potentially increasing the probability it will break up early, thereby affecting other use for travel (particularly by Inuit).

The potential effects of changing sea ice conditions on oil and gas activities are expected to be generally positive although some adverse effects are also expected to occur. As is occurring now, the levels of interannual variability are expected to be very large so the effects may vary considerably from one year to another. Industry will be required to plan and manage operations to reflect this variability, most likely through flexibility in operational plans and in the engineering design of platforms and structures. These responses can build on past experience by industry dating back to the 1970s and 1980s. The changes will also be quite different according to the area of operation: inshore, shelf and deeper offshore waters. In the absence of improved seasonal forecasts, industry operations planning may be more difficult resulting in potential operating inefficiencies.

POTENTIAL CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS FROM OCEAN WAVES AND STORM SURGE

Changes in ocean wave properties, along with the related increase in the frequency and severity of storm surges, have been occurring over the past decade as a consequence of reduced ice concentrations and areal extents resulting in a longer duration of ocean wave activity (Fissel et al. 2012). In recent years there is evidence of moderate to large wave events starting earlier than June and extending into November in comparison to the previous "normal" season of mid-June to late October (Fissel et al. 2012). These trends are expected to continue and increase in the future due to the anticipated future reduction in sea ice cover. Long period swell waves originating from distant storms have only rarely occurred in past decades but may become more frequent in the future (Barber et al. 2010). Large waves and storm surges

can affect the marine operations of offshore and nearshore oil and gas industry activities as well as coastal infrastructure required to conduct offshore activities.

The effects of potentially large ocean waves include:

All Phases:

- Delays in vessel mobilization and demobilization to and from the Beaufort Sea as vessels may be required to anchor in safe harbour or sail at slower than normal speeds until seas recover to a safer state for travel.
- Search and rescue (SAR) operations could be hampered, especially in situations of a man overboard or rescue of those in a life raft.

Seismic All Areas:

• Periods of high waves can affect seismic data quality and lead to damage of seismic cables and other equipment. While the ocean waves are not as large as in other oceans where seismic operations occur, delays in seismic operations may increase from that experienced in the past due to more frequent periods of increased wave height. Increased wave height may also create safety issues aboard vessels due to increased ship motion.

Vessel Support Activities:

 Increased wave height can hamper regular marine shipping support operations as supplies and personnel cannot be safely transferred to nearshore or offshore drilling or production platforms during these periods.

Drilling and Production - Nearshore:

- Increases to shoreline erosion effects on pipelines and causeways in nearshore areas due to increased wave action.
- Adverse effects on artificial island construction and maintenance in nearshore areas due to erosion issues or the disruption of dredging operations during artificial island construction.

POTENTIAL CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS FROM WINDS, AIR TEMPERATURE, PRECIPITATION AND VISIBILITY

There is a clear trend towards warmer air temperatures, particularly in the fall and winter months, and climate models clearly indicate that the warming trend will continue over the decades ahead.

The main effect of increased air temperature on oil and gas activities will be a reduction in the extreme cold operating conditions in the fall, winter and early spring seasons. In addition, there will be moderately warmer conditions from mid-spring through the summer. Increasing air temperatures effect other environmental parameters, most notably sea ice conditions.

The warming air temperatures also affect precipitation, with more snowfall likely in winter and more snow and rain in summer. Fog may be more frequent, with subsequent effects on visibility, as increased air temperatures will allow the air to hold more water vapor.

As discussed in Section 3.3, the long term trend for wind speeds, derived from extended inshore and coastal data sets, is a modest decrease in wind speeds. The affect of wind speeds on oil and gas operations would be dependent on the location and type of operation, and size and type of vessels or platforms used.

Drilling and Production - Shelf and Slope:

- Increased precipitation and fog can negatively affect air services to and from drilling or production platforms and shore bases as aircraft may be grounded due to low visibility.
- Low visibility due to fog or snow can also affect SAR activities by delaying response activities.

Drilling and Production - Nearshore:

• Increased snow fall levels on ice can lead to thinner ice conditions, thereby affecting ice road capabilities and safety.

POTENTIAL CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS FROM OCEAN CURRENTS AND WATER TEMPERATURES

The determination of climate change effects on ocean currents is hampered by the lack of knowledge of trends in ocean currents and water temperatures in the recent past. Obtaining this knowledge is difficult due to the high variability of the ocean currents in the Beaufort Sea combined with the comparatively short data sets of a few years or less available at particular measurement sites. Wave orbital velocities associated with ocean waves will increase and also penetrate to greater depths due to larger swell waves. The effects of the wave orbital velocities, which are generally confined to 20 m depth for regionally generated waves and to perhaps 100 m for swell waves, could result in disturbances to the seabed including enhanced erosion of sediments, scouring around seabed structures and the loss of bearing strength associated with the increased potential for bottom liquefaction.

Drilling and Production:

• Changes or increases in bottom currents could affect seabed erosion, especially at shelf break, affecting drilling and production activities due to changing stability of the seabed.

Production:

Changes in ocean currents and water temperatures can lead to changes in distribution, abundance
and composition of marine fauna. These effects for short term projects such as seismic or exploration
drilling projects can be managed and mitigated through the environmental assessment and/or
regulatory processes. The effects may be more significant for longer term projects such as production
projects which may operate for 30 years or longer. Changes in marine fauna or the ecological
importance of an area where production activities are occurring may result in costly changes having to
be made in operating conditions midstream through a project's life.

POTENTIAL CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS FROM SEA LEVEL RISE, STORM SURGE AND COASTAL EROSION

Sea level changes in the Beaufort Sea are influenced by a number of factors, including; glacial ice melt, ocean warming, large storm surges, compaction of deltaic sediments, post ice age isostatic rebound and

gravitation effects. Based on evidence over the past decades, it appears that sea level rises due to oceanic conditions are outpacing the geological factors. Coastal zone erosion in Arctic regions is a complex process affected by factors common to all parts of the world; exposure, relative sea-level change, and climate and soil properties: and by factors specific to the high latitudes; low temperatures, ground ice and sea ice (Anisimov et al. 2007). The most severe erosion problems arise in areas of rising sea level, where warming coincides with areas that are seasonally free of sea ice or where there is widespread ice-rich permafrost (Forbes 2005). Areas with bedrock near the surface, which includes much of the Canadian Arctic Islands, or areas where glacioisostatic rebound is occurring, are less vulnerable to erosion.

Despite common concerns expressed by community residents of increased erosion rates in the western Arctic, including the Yukon and Alaska coast, a regional analysis for the southern Beaufort Sea detected no significant increase in the trend in areas of rapid erosion for the 1972–2000 time interval. Erosion rates of 1.0 to 2.0 m/year have been reasonably consistent over the past 30 years (Manson and Solomon 2007). However, further warming, combined with sea-level rise, coastal subsidence (especially west of Paulatuk) and reduced sea ice, can be expected to maintain or increase this already relatively high rate of coastal retreat along the Beaufort Sea coast (Prowse et al. 2009) and result in increased areas potentially affected by storm surge.

The potential effects on oil and gas activities from climate change related sea level rise, storm surge and coastal erosion include:

Shore Based Activities and Harbours:

- Coastal zone erosion could potentially affect oil and gas industry infrastructure such as camps and docking facilities. No new infrastructure is anticipated for the next 10 plus years however the location and construction of any new or refurbishing of existing infrastructure will require consideration of the effects of coastal erosion and permafrost degradation.
- Increased coastal erosion could lead to increased frequency of dredging required to maintain entrances and anchorages in harbours such as McKinley Bay and Tuktoyaktuk Harbour.
- Many coastal areas around the Beaufort Sea are low lying and not far above normal sea level. Increased sea levels could accelerate coastal erosion and cause flooding affecting coastal infrastructure, including pipelines, used by the oil and gas industry.
- Sea level rise in conjunction with coastal areas undergoing subsistence can lead to larger areas being affected by storm surge and the flooding with seawater of coastal infrastructure.

POTENTIAL CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS FROM SEDIMENT AND WATER QUALITY

Any influence driven by global climate change that the chemical environment could have on oil and gas development activities in the Beaufort Sea would be a direct consequence of the effects of climate change on the physical environment. Through changes in characteristics of the physical environment (air and water temperature, reduction in sea ice coverage, waves, currents, storms etc.), the net transport of water and sediment, the spatial and temporal distribution of contaminants and other chemical species, and chemical equilibria could be affected. Such changes to contaminant cycling and pathways have

implications for the uptake of contaminants by biota, changes to the environmental fate of contaminants, and mobility of contaminants in the arctic food chain.

For the oil and gas industry, there are two main implications related to changes in contaminant cycling that could be affected by climate change.

Drilling and Production Activities:

- 1. Need to make predictions on environmental effects of contaminants in drilling wastes from a cumulative loading (climate change induced effects and drilling wastes effects) perspective. This information will be useful for dispersion modeling and the design of effects monitoring studies.
- 2. Need for more detailed baseline measurements with an emphasis on spatial and temporal patterns. With a potentially changing chemical landscape of the receiving environment, the historical chemical contaminant database may not be adequate to assist in identifying the most appropriate strategies and practices for the disposal of drilling wastes in some local areas, particularly those in the vicinity of previous drilling sites.

Overall, the influence of chemical oceanographic variables altered by climate change will be less profound and damaging to oil and gas activities than the potential consequences of climate driven changes to the physical environment of the Beaufort Sea.

7 SYNTHESIS AND REVIEW OF EXISTING REGULATIONS, GUIDELINES, BEST PRACTICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENTS

7.1 Regulations, Guidelines and Best Practices

Regulations and guidelines that pertain to oil & gas activities can be grouped into two main categories:

- 1. Project Approvals: the Acts, regulations and guidelines that apply to projects before construction.
- 2. Project Operations: the Acts, regulations and guidelines that apply during the construction and operation of a project.

These Acts, regulations and guidelines were reviewed to identify specific requirements that are potentially influenced by a changing climate. These potential influences may be obvious, for example thresholds or exceedance of limits with regard to parameters directly affected by climate change, or they may be inferred.

The National Energy Board (NEB), an independent federal agency, is the primary regulator for oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea. The NEB regulates these activities under the Canadian Oil and Gas Operations Act (COGOA) and its regulations. These activities include oil and gas exploration, development and production activities. For frontier areas such as the Beaufort Sea the NEB responsibilities also include the calculation of discovered and undiscovered hydrocarbon resources and the development of emergency environmental contingency plans.

A number of Acts and associated regulations were not reviewed, including the *Fisheries Act, Migratory Birds Convention Act and Regulations, and Arctic Waters Pollution Prevention Act,* as these acts do not contain provisions for climate change although they are applied in environmental assessments related to offshore oil and gas activities.

PROJECT APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO CLIMATE CHANGE:

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT SCREENING COMMITTEE (EISC): ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT SCREENING GUIDELINES (2011)

Most oil and gas activities proposed in the Beaufort Sea first go through the Inuvialuit environmental impact screening process. The EISC guidelines do not specifically address climate change effects on the environment or climate change effects on project activities.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REVIEW BOARD (EIRB): ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REVIEW GUIDELINES (2011)

One of the goal statements of the EIRB is to "Minimize contributions to climate change throughout all phases of the proposed development".

Specific requirements regarding climate change which are to be included are:

- Describe how the proposed development may contribute or not contribute to climate change.
- Identify other elements which could be impacted by climate change.

The guidelines do not provide specific guidance on how to meet these requirements.

NATIONAL ENERGY BOARD FILING REQUIREMENTS FOR OFFSHORE DRILLING IN THE CANADIAN ARCTIC 2011 (NEB)

The NEB's filing requirements are based on input obtained by the NEB through a review of offshore drilling in the Canadian Arctic (NEB 2011). The filing requirements do not explicitly refer to climate change. However, there is a requirement to identify any environmental factor which may potentially affect a project and describe how this effect will be addressed.

SAFETY PLAN GUIDELINES (NEB, CNSOPB AND CNLOPB 2011)

The Safety Plan Guidelines are intended to assist operators in meeting the requirements of sections 6 and 8 of the Drilling and Production Regulations (SOR/2009-315) under the Canada Oil and Gas Operations Act, which pertain to the submission of a Safety Plan. In particular, the guidelines require:

- a. a summary of studies undertaken to identify hazards and to evaluate safety risks related to the proposed work or activity
- b. a description of the hazards that were identified and the results of the risk evaluation
- c. a summary of the measures to avoid, prevent, reduce and manage safety risks
- d. if the possibility of pack sea ice, drifting icebergs or land-fast sea ice exists at the drill or production site, the measures to address the protection of the installation, including systems for ice detection, surveillance, data collection, reporting, forecasting and, if appropriate, ice avoidance or deflection

OFFSHORE PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT GUIDELINES (NEB, CNSOPB AND CNLOPB, 2008)

Section 3 of the guidelines provides recommendations for meteorological, oceanographic and ice observations and reporting to be included as part of an Environmental Monitoring Program plan submitted along with applications for regulatory approvals for drilling and production activities in offshore waters. The guidelines also identify training requirements for specific tasks such as meteorological and ice observations and reporting. In waters where sea ice or icebergs are expected to occur an ice management plan is also required. The ice management plan is recommended to contain information on the following elements:

- detection
- surveillance
- data collection

- reporting
- forecasting
- avoidance or deflection

INCORPORATING CLIMATE CHANGE CONSIDERATIONS IN ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: GENERAL GUIDANCE FOR PRACTITIONERS (CEAA 2003)

To our knowledge, this is the only guide applicable in the Arctic which addresses how climate change should be taken into consideration in environmental assessment. The guide outlines the steps in the process to address climate change considerations as they pertain to greenhouse gas emissions. The Government of Nova Scotia (2011) has a similar guide. Neither guide pertains to other considerations related to climate change such as the effects of climate change on operations of a project. CEAA however does include the provision for a Section on the effects of the environment on the Project which has the potential, although there is no guidance to this effect, to be used to describe effects from climate change on project activities.

NUNAVUT IMPACT REVIEW BOARD GUIDE TO THE PREPARATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENTS – GUIDE 7, 2006 (NUNAVUT)

The Nunavut Impact Review Board (NIRB) was established under the Nunavut Land Claims Agreement and has the responsibility for environmental assessments of project proposals in the Nunavut Settlement Area. The guide does not reference climate change. However, it does identify that the environmental impact statement (EIS) requires an assessment of the anticipated effects of the environment on the project. No guidance is provided in completing this portion of the EIS. The NIRB will consult with interested parties and members of the public in development of the scoping guidelines for an EIS. Climate change could be added to the scope of a project through this consultation process.

Arctic Offshore Oil and Gas Guidelines 2009 (Arctic Council)

These nonbinding guidelines are primarily aimed at regulators of Arctic nations to assist in their development of regulations and guidelines for Arctic offshore oil and gas activities. Activities include the full range of potential oil and gas operations from planning through to decommissioning. The guidelines recommend that in association with dealing with direct environmental effects, the effects of climate change should be taken into account.

Offshore Petroleum Production and Pipe-lines (Assessment of Environmental Effects) Regulations 1999 (United Kingdom)

These regulations were amended in 2007. The regulations identify when an environmental assessment is required and the types of information and analysis required in that assessment. Climate change is not identified in these regulations nor is there a requirement to assess the potential effects of the environment on the project.

Offshore Petroleum Activities (Conservation of Habitats) Regulations 2001 (United Kingdom)

These regulations were also amended in 2007. The regulations provide the authority to the Secretary of State to stop oil and gas operations which are affecting special protected areas or listed species under the EEC Council Directive 92/43/EEC. It also outlines a process for appeal or modification of the operations to allow operations to resume. Climate change is not identified in these regulations nor is there a requirement to assess the potential effects of the environment on the project.

Guidance Notes for Oil and Gas surveys and shallow Drilling: Petroleum Operations Notice No. 14A and 14B, 2005 (United Kingdom)

The guidance notes identify when an environmental assessment is required and the types of information to be contained in that assessment. There is no reference to assessing effects from the environment on the project or on the potential effects from climate change.

Greenland Bureau of Minerals and Petroleum Drilling Guidelines 2011 (Greenland)

These guidelines are for operators planning to drill in Greenland's offshore waters. The guidelines provide information and explanations on the requirements under the Greenland Mineral Resources Act, the Danish Marine Environment Act and subordinate legislation. Offshore drilling defined under these guidelines includes all ancillary operations associated with a drilling program such as support vessel requirements and movements. The guidelines identify specific management plans required such as an Ice Management Plan and the type of record keeping required to meet regulatory requirements. The guidelines do not refer to climate change but do state that the Arctic Council Offshore Oil and Gas Guidelines are binding in Greenland. The Arctic Council guidelines recommend the consideration of climate change when assessing project effects.

Summary

Most of the guidelines reviewed do not take climate change into consideration, and when they do, it is generally in reference to greenhouse gas emissions. However, where guidelines refer to the need to identify the effects of the environment on the project, this may be interpreted to include the effects of climate change. This may be particularly appropriate for longer term projects such as oil or gas production.

Additionally, guidelines and regulations for developing environmental assessments generally include provisions for consultations with interested parties and the public when developing the scope for an environmental impact statement. Results of these consultations may lead to the inclusion of climate change considerations in an environmental assessment of a proposed project.

7.2 Environmental Assessments

Several forms of environmental assessments were reviewed: Regional Strategic Environmental Assessments (RSEA), Pre-lease issuance assessments (Alaska), and Project specific Environmental Assessments.
In Canada, the offshore waters of Newfoundland and Labrador as well as Nova Scotia have been the most active areas for oil and gas activities and the only areas where offshore production is occurring. In Newfoundland and Labrador, the Canada Newfoundland-Labrador Offshore Petroleum Board (CNLOPB) oversees offshore oil and gas activities while in Nova Scotia it is the Canada Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board (CNSOPB). The CNLOPB has developed four regional strategic assessments (Golder 2003; Jacques Whitford 2003 and 2006; LGL et al. 2010) for different regions of their offshore waters. None of these assessments discuss climate change but rather focus on current environmental conditions. The Canada Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board draft RSEA for the Scotian Shelf including Middle and Sable Island Banks (Stantec 2012a, b) identifies climate change as a process which could affect offshore activities due to increased storm severity and wave height. The environmental assessment stated that these potential effects would be addressed through engineering design.

Project specific environmental assessments completed for the CNLOPB and CNSOPB include assessments for seismic acquisition, exploratory drilling and production projects. Climate change is not discussed for assessments pertaining to seismic acquisition or exploratory drilling projects. This can be expected as these two types of projects are short term in nature, usually 1-2 years in length, and therefore span too short a period for climate change factors to likely have an effect. Production projects typically occur over longer time periods (e.g., 30+ years) and therefore a potential exists for climate change to affect oil and gas operational activities. The Hebron project produces heavy oil off the coast of Newfoundland and Labrador. The project is located 350 km southeast of St. John's at a water depth of 92 m. The Hebron Comprehensive Study Report (Stantec et al. 2010) identified several potential effects related to climate change on oil and gas activities; increased sea levels, increased storm intensity and frequency, increased wave height related to storm events, and ice and icebergs. The proponent addressed these potential effects through engineering design to mitigate the effects. Many of these same effects are likely to occur for potential future production facilities along the Beaufort Sea shelf.

The EA prepared for the CNSOPB for the Deep Panuke offshore gas production project (EnCana 2006) briefly discusses climate change both in terms of the project effects on climate change and climate change effects on the project. Climate effects on the Project were stated to be related to increased intensity and frequency of storms and associated waves. The assessment states that engineering design would mitigate these potential effects.

Currently in the Canadian Arctic offshore, only oil and gas exploration activities are occurring and all within the Beaufort Sea. These activities mainly relate to seismic operations. Some screening submissions to the EISC have referred to climate change in terms of its potential effects on biota as part of the environmental overview for a project area (e.g., KAVIK-AXYS 2008; Upun LGL 2010). Others do not identify climate change in any context (e.g., GX Technology et al. 2011). These screening documents do not assess the potential effects of climate change on project activities. Only one exploratory drilling program by Devon Canada has been conducted in the last 10 years In the Beaufort Sea. A Comprehensive Study (Devon 2004) was completed for this exploratory drilling program. The Study discussed how climate change may have affected physical conditions (e.g., ice and coastal erosion) at that time as compared to conditions in the 1970s and 1980s. The assessment included a section on how the environment would affect the Project which contained a brief discussion on climate change. It was

concluded that no effects would occur as a result of climate change due to the short life span (1-2 years) of the project.

In Alaskan offshore waters an environmental assessment is prepared before an area can be offered for lease. Climate change and its current and anticipated effects on the physical, biological and social conditions in the project area are discussed (U.S. Dept. of the Interior 2008, 2011). Environmental assessments for seismic surveys in the offshore waters of Alaska occasionally discuss climate change but generally in regard to very specific topics such as beluga distribution patterns (U.S. Dept .of the Interior 2005). In other instances climate change is not discussed at all (U.S. Dept .of the Interior 2010). EAs for exploratory drilling have included climate change effects in the assessments both in the direct assessment of particular animals (e.g., polar bear) (U.S. Dept. of Interior 2011) or water quality and with regard to greenhouse gases ((U.S. Dept. of Interior 2009). A cumulative effects assessment for Shell's proposed Camden Bay drilling program included consideration of the effects of climate change on fish and marine mammals (U.S. Dept. of Interior 2011).

A preliminary assessment of hydrocarbon activities in the KANUMSA East Area of the West Greenland Sea (NERI 2009) was conducted based on current conditions. However, it discussed climate change in the context of potential changes to the physical, chemical and biological components of the environment in the future. The assessment noted that current conditions may be altered due to climate change resulting in assumptions made in the assessment that may not apply in the future.

A Strategic Environmental Assessment was conducted for the Irish and Celtic Seas (Xodus Group 2011). This assessment focused only on the exploratory oil and gas phases (e.g., seismic and exploratory drilling). This assessment discussed climate change only in the context of greenhouse gas emissions.

An environmental statement (Metoc plc 2004) prepared for the construction of buried marine gas pipeline on the UK side of the North Sea focused its assessment on the potential impacts to benthic communities, coastal processes and fisheries. There was no consideration to the potential effects of climate change or the effects of the environment on the Project.

In general for the assessments reviewed, climate change was not considered or was considered in terms of either greenhouse gas emissions or in the context of changes to the current environment. The exceptions for this were for production projects which more often assessed the effects of climate change on project activities. In these cases the effects of climate change were said to be mitigated through engineering design of infrastructure.

8 IDENTIFICATION AND ANALYSIS OF KEY DATA GAPS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1 Data Gaps

The following data gaps are categorized by type, including: sea ice, weather, waves, ocean currents and water temperature, coastal erosion and storm surges, contaminants, and ecological/biological conditions.

A. SEA ICE:

The adequacy/limitations of the baseline data, as presented in Section 3 were assessed and judged to be largely adequate. The data sets available over the past 30 years clearly indicate the large changes in sea ice and related environmental variables which have occurred. The early baseline data dating back to the 1970's provide comprehensive understandings of the Beaufort Sea environment in relation to oil and gas exploration. These data were produced through the Beaufort Sea Project of DFO (Milne 1976, Milne and Herlinveaux 1976; Ross et al. 1977; as well as 41 Technical Reports) and other government oceanographic studies conducted during and shortly after the active period of oil and gas exploration (early 1970's to late 1980's). These studies were continued, by government agencies (DFO, Natural Resources Canada and Environment Canada) albeit in a less intense manner through the 1990's and 2000's. Satellite-based sea ice data products became operational in the 1970's and these data sets, along with derived and synthesized data products (especially the Canadian Ice Service ice charts and U.S. NSDIC daily ice maps of the entire Arctic Ocean) provided invaluable baseline data. In the early 2000's, university research programs began and developed in the Beaufort Sea, providing major oceanographic and sea ice data sets. Of particular note are the NSERC funded Canadian Arctic Shelf Exchange Study (CASES; Fortier et al. 2008) and the International Polar Year (IPY) Circumpolar Flaw Lead (CFL; Barber et al. 2012) projects. Both of these studies are unique in that they over wintered (CASES in fast ice and CFL in mobile ice). These projects provide valuable insights into many aspects of both the physical and biological system and in particular provide rare winter observations. Starting in the latter half of the first decade of the 2000's, oil and gas industry funded environmental studies resumed with the acquisition of exploration licenses by oil and gas companies, especially in the more distant offshore areas of the Canadian Beaufort Sea.

Key findings to date related to sea ice and climate change include:

- A large portion of sea ice loss in the northern hemisphere is associated with the Pacific sector of the Arctic and is where the trend of the largest proportion of multi-year sea ice is expected to continue.
- Fast ice periodicity is getting smaller seasonally with later dates of formation and earlier dates for break-up.
- The thickness of fast ice has remained the same but the strength of the fast ice may be decreasing as increased snow cover insulates the ice (keeps it warmer) over the winter period.

- There are more glacial ice hazards in the SBS due to the behavior of the Beaufort Sea gyre and the break-up of ice shelves on the NW flank of the Canadian Arctic archipelago.
- Ice management of both thick multi-year ice and glacial ice is difficult due to problems of detection (i.e., Radarsat data cannot detect these features) and their predicted motion is poorly understood.

Although baseline data is largely considered adequate it is not complete. Our present understanding of the changes in sea ice conditions, in particular sea ice thickness, and landfast ice baseline data needs to be improved through measurement and modeling studies. In particular the nature of ice circulation appears to be changing (increase in speed) yet the BG operates as it has historically done. This leads to several questions about the recirculation of sea ice within and over the hydrocarbon exploration areas.

GLACIAL ICE:

The presence and movement of glacial ice within the Beaufort Sea ice affects environmental and human risk levels for deep offshore oil and gas activities. Risks can range from stoppage of operational activities such as seismic or drilling and production to damage to ships or drilling platforms. Specific questions include:

1. Will the quantities of glacial ice in the form of ice islands and icebergs in the Beaufort Sea continue to increase due to increased ice production in the northern Canadian Arctic Islands or will the land based ice sheets be depleted and quantities decrease?

This question can be addressed through ongoing and perhaps more focused research on the present and projected amount of calving of ice islands from tidewater glaciers and ice sheets from the Queen Elizabeth Islands to the east. In addition some planned BREA studies could be useful in assessing the changing conditions from the past to the present and into the future ("Understanding Extreme Ice Features in the Beaufort Sea: Lead: Christian Haas; Radarsat Mapping of Extreme Ice Features in the Southern Beaufort Sea"; Lead: David Barber; "Beaufort Sea Environmental Database", Lead: Ivana Kubat).

2. How will the transport mechanisms of glacial ice in the Beaufort Sea change due to climate change and what is our ability to predict these changes? How fast does this ice melt, especially under the warmer water temperatures of the Beaufort Gyre, and how long does the glacial ice stay in the Beaufort Gyre? Do the winds and ocean currents transfer glacial ice from the Beaufort Gyre to the Transpolar Gyre, leading to removal from the Beaufort Sea region, or do these ice hazards remain within the Beaufort Gyre?

In addition to the BREA studies mentioned above, oceanographic data collection and modeling of currents and temperatures will be required to address these questions. The BREA atmosphere-oceanice modeling studies presently underway (Lead Investigators: Fraser Davidson and Gregory Flato) could also be very useful for understanding the transport of floating glacial ice through the Beaufort Sea region. These and other models need to incorporate deterioration mechanisms (melt, wave effects) to be fully effective for this application.

FIRST AND MULTI-YEAR SEA ICE:

The presence, thickness and movement patterns of first and multi-year sea ice affects environmental and human risk levels for offshore oil and gas activities. Risks are the same as for glacial ice. Specific questions include:

- 1. Will the trend towards more open water and reduced sea ice seasons continue over the next decade and beyond? Will multi-year ice concentrations continue to decrease? Will the Beaufort Sea become seasonally ice free during late summer in the decades ahead?
- 2. Will the thickness of sea ice floes, both first year and multi-year, exhibit changes and over what time scale will these occur?
- 3. Sea Ice appears to be moving at higher velocities as concentrations decline; will this continue and at what rate.
- 4. Will circulation of the BG increase the thickness of first-year and remnant multiyear ice along the NW flank of the Canadian Arctic Archipelago (CAA) due to the predominant anti-cyclonic rotation of the BG?

Ongoing and future modeling studies are required to address these questions. The BREA modeling study ("Forecasting Extreme Weather and Ocean Conditions in the Beaufort Sea", Lead: Fraser Davidson) will contribute to this as will the ArcticNet modeling initiative and larger scale Arctic Ocean modeling research that is funded in Canada (Canadian Climate Centre Modeling Analysis group), the U.S. and in Europe. Ongoing oceanographic and sea ice data collection is required to calibrate and validate the models, especially in the more remote and deeper offshore areas. Past and present DFO Beaufort Sea and ArcticNet oceanographic research programs have contributed to this requirement and recent BREA research studies (Leads: David Barber, Christian Hass, Michelle Johnson and Martin Fortier) are also providing additional new data sets. However, a commitment to sustained and long-term time series oceanographic and sea ice data sets at the same locations, spanning 10 years or longer is essential to address the needs of climate change modeling and analysis.

LANDFAST ICE:

Landfast ice along the shorelines is important to oil and gas industry activities as a means of building roads to support inshore drilling operations in the winter and spring. Ship traverses through the landfast ice can have destabilizing effects on the landfast ice itself, with potential adverse consequences for access by Inuvialuit hunters. This may restrict areas and the timing when shipping can occur to avoid conflicts with harvesters.

- 1. How will the thickness and ice season duration change as winter air temperatures increase and precipitation in the form of snow changes? How will this affect the structure and stability of fast ice? Will it become less stable or more fragile?
- 2. If an icebreaker cuts a pass through the ice, ice would normally freeze relatively quickly behind. Would there be the potential that the refreezing will take longer and/or the icebreaker traffic could break off large sections of landfast due to increased instability?

- 3. The timing of fast ice formation is very important to the oil and gas industry (and subsistence use). There is evidence that the dates of onset of fast ice formation and the onset of fast ice decay are beginning to change (Galley et al. 2012). What is the prediction for these dates in the decades ahead?
- 4. The development of improved numerical models on how landfast ice responds to increasing air temperatures and amounts of snow cover could address these issues.

Modeling studies of landfast ice which use projections for future air temperatures and precipitation (especially snow) are required, as well as more under-ice and remote sensing data collection in the landfast ice zones (e.g. Galley et al. 2012). Improved access for climate model studies to existing Environment Canada ice data sets would also be useful, such as the BREA Research Study "CanICE – A Sea Ice Information Database and Web-Based Portal", Lead: Leah Braithwaite).

B. WEATHER:

Improved regional atmospheric models, including realistic coupling to sea ice and the ocean, are the key to understanding the changing atmospheric conditions in the future. Such models are under development by Environment Canada through the CONCEPTS program (Ritchie et al., 2012). ArcticNet is also conducting modeling scenarios for their four Integrated Regional Impact Studies (IRISs). The SBS IRIS will make use of a coupled ocean-ice model (NEMO) forced with scenarios from the Canadian Regional Climate model, thereby providing future ocean and sea ice climate state variables. When the models are sufficiently robust to be used in a forecast mode, these models can provide projections of the changing atmospheric conditions for the Canadian Beaufort Sea region. The BREA research program, "Forecasting Extreme Weather and Ocean Conditions (Lead: Fraser Davidson, DFO) is such an application relevant to climate change and oil and gas activities. Model development requires accurate and representative atmospheric data sets for providing suitable inputs to the models and for verification studies. Atmospheric data sets are rather sparse in the Canadian Beaufort Sea, especially long term measurement records. A promising development in this regard is the recent announcement by Environment Canada of the METAREA initiative, in particular the newly defined Arctic METAREA XVII for the Western Arctic (Gauthier et al. 2012).

Specific questions include:

- 1. What is our knowledge on whether there would likely be increased or decreased levels of fog?
- 2. Will wind speed and directions change on average as a result of climate change?
- 3. Can improved coupled weather and ocean/ice models improve our understanding of the frequency, severity and seasonal timing of storms?
- 4. How will the changing ice edge locations affect weather patterns? (e.g., cyclones/low pressure systems often track ice edges).
- 5. How will reductions in timing of sea ice clearing and formation affect the development of low pressure systems and what sort of feedback can we expect these systems to have on the sea ice and oil and gas activities?

Addressing these questions requires ongoing atmospheric-ice-ocean coupled modeling research studies that are funded in Canada (e.g., Canadian Climate Centre Modeling Analysis group). International

research for the Arctic Ocean including those in the U.S. and in Europe are also relevant since these address the Canadian portions of the Beaufort Sea. A key factor in obtaining reliable and pertinent results will be the use of higher resolution regional models. Higher resolution models will require extended and representative data sets in the region which are not likely to exist at present in many regions.

C. WAVES:

The levels of inter-annual variability in wave activity will be very large so the potential effects on oil and gas activity will vary considerably from one year to another. Because of this large variability and the lack of accurate and high resolution atmospheric and ice data inputs for regional wave models, especially for forecast models that span years into the future, the rate of increase in ocean wave activity is uncertain in the short to medium time frame. In the longer term, the clearing sea ice conditions are likely to result in increased wave action (e.g., larger waves). Our present understandings of the potential changes in regional wave conditions need to be improved through modeling studies supported by long term measurement programs to provide verification data sets.

- 1. How will wave and storm surge be affected by climate change over the years and decades ahead?
- 2. Can improved regional wave and storm surge models determine if the wave and storm surge activity is presently changing and where the changes in wave and storm surge activity will be the largest in the future?
- 3. Are swell waves increasing in height and extending to longer periods as open water fetch increases due to the reduced sea ice concentrations in summer and fall?

Answers to these questions will require the application of the results of research, atmospheric-ice-ocean models (which require development as discussed above), along with additional data collection. Wind, sea ice extent and wave data sets are required to provide data inputs and verification data sets for wave and storm surge models for the Canadian Beaufort Sea slope and shelf regions.

D. OCEAN CURRENTS AND WATER TEMPERATURE:

The development of robust and accurate Arctic Ocean and regional ocean circulation models would provide a means of addressing the very limited data availability and potentially a means to estimate the magnitude of the changing ocean currents and temperatures over the short to longer term time periods. Regional ocean current modeling with sufficiently high resolution to provide useful results will require accurate forcing on the large open boundaries of the Beaufort Sea with the remainder of the Arctic Ocean through coupling with Arctic Ocean basin scale models. Other requirements are coupling the sea surface to the atmosphere and to sea ice modeling. In particular, representing the effects of the sea ice distribution and concentrations is very important to represent accurately and with suitable resolution in the ocean circulation models. The hydrological effects of freshwater outflows from the Mackenzie and other rivers are also important for ocean modeling. Scientific projects of this nature are underway in DFO research laboratories including the Institute of Ocean Sciences, the Bedford Institute of Oceanography and the Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Centre. Oceanographic data sets are essential for model development, both in terms of providing required data inputs and as data sets to be used for model

verification studies. The regional scale ocean circulation modeling being developed through the DFO-Environment Canada CONCEPTS is being incorporated into BREA projects:

- Forecasting Extreme Weather and Ocean Conditions in the Beaufort Sea (Lead: Fraser Davidson, DFO)
- Southern and Northeastern Beaufort Sea Marine Observatories (Lead: Martin Fortier)

E. COASTAL EROSION AND STORM SURGES:

Coastal erosion resulting from climate change can occur through warming air temperature and its effects on permafrost, increased wave activity, higher sea levels and increased frequency and severity of storm surges. It is known that land surface temperatures are warming, subsidence is occurring in some areas such as Tuktoyaktuk, and that sea levels are rising and are projected to continue to rise. These factors can all increase levels of coastal erosion. Increased storm activity in conjunction with coastal subsidence and rising sea levels can cause flooding and increase the area and severity of effects from storm surges.

- 1. How well can we predict the frequency and severity of storms and the effects these storms have on coastal erosion and infrastructure?
- 2. How will coastal erosion affect water quality parameters and use by aquatic organisms, and would such changes affect oil and gas activities?
- 3. Can the predictability of erosion rates and processes be improved as inputs to coastal planning and development of mitigation measures related to oil and gas activities?
- 4. How will rising sea levels affect coastal erosion and infrastructure?

Development of improved regional wind-wave models, as described above, and the related data collection for waves and storm surges to support this model development are required. In addition, high resolution circulation and sediment transport/geomorphological models for the Canadian Beaufort Sea shoreline regions must be developed. These models can best quantify expected coastal erosion levels associated under future conditions of atmospheric forcing and sea ice distributions that will differ from present conditions.

F. CONTAMINANTS:

Climate change effects such as increased wave action and increased frequency or severity of storms may lead to re-suspension of sediments and subsequent contaminant release from sediment in coastal areas, thereby increasing the potential for some contaminants to become available to marine organisms. To assess this issue in more depth, it is necessary to gain an understanding of the links between climate change and contaminant mobility and distribution.

- 1. Do we know what increased levels of contaminants may occur? Will climate change affect our ability to predict the flow of contaminants in the food web? Will it be safe to eat fish, marine mammals, etc.?
- 2. If there is increased snow LRTAP, the total contamination burden in the biota may increase. Could this increase contaminant levels to the threshold for human consumption?

- 3. How will increased contaminant burdens in the biota compounded by climate change effects, affect regulations on allowable discharge?
- 4. How will weather patterns change (e.g., winds, temperature, particulates in air and water) and how will this affect the input of contaminants into the food chain?
- 5. How will climate change effects on Shelf basin exchanges change contaminant flow in the Beaufort Sea?
- 6. If water temperatures increase in temperate or southern waters the amount of contaminant transport into the Beaufort Sea might decrease. What is our understanding of this potential?
- 7. What are the error bars in our models and predictions? How can these error bars be reduced?

G. ECOLOGICAL/BIOLOGICAL:

Changes to ecological systems due to climate change are difficult to predict due to their complexity and the lack of complete understanding of these systems. Climate change effects may lead to changes in productivity, species composition and abundance. Although these changes are unlikely to directly affect most oil and gas activities they can lead to changes in regulations and guidelines which can affect how oil and gas operations proceed. Changes in ecosystem properties due to climate change may also lead to false perceptions of the cause of change and be incorrectly blamed on oil and gas activities. As communities and community organizations in the Beaufort Sea region can influence the decisions on environmental screenings or assessments, false perceptions on changes to the ecosystem could negatively affect the outcomes of environmental assessment and screening processes.

- Restrictions or added mitigation may be required for Ecological and Biological Significant Areas (EBSAs). If the size or position of EBSAs change during the life of a project what are the implications to the oil and gas industry? What processes are involved which cause areas to be defined as ecologically and biologically significant?
- 2. How will climate change affect the migration patterns of fish, marine mammals and seabirds?
- 3. How will climate change affect the introduction of new species and how will this impact regulations (e.g., ballast regulations)
- 4. How will changes in physical parameters such as salinity, water temperature and irradiance affect productivity within the Beaufort Sea?
- 5. How to create guidelines or adaptation strategies to plan for oil and gas operations which span 30 years or more, or to plan coastal infrastructure in light of increased erosion and sea levels?

8.2 Recommendations

As described in the previous sections there is a growing body of knowledge on the Beaufort Sea and the effects of climate change on a variety of its biophysical parameters. Over the past decades some key understandings of the effects of climate change on the Beaufort Sea environment have been developed. These include, but are not limited to;

- A large portion of sea ice loss in the northern hemisphere is associated with the pacific sector of the Arctic. The largest proportion of multiyear sea ice is attributed to this sector and is projected to continue.
- The Beaufort Sea ice gyre still operates in a dominant anticyclonic mode but reverses to a cyclonic mode more often now and through a larger proportion of the annual cycle (particularly April through December). This causes more divergence in the ice and thus affects the ice albedo feedback.
- Land surface temperatures have been increasing.
- There has been an increase in the depth of low pressure systems; but not an increase in the number of cyclones.
- Cyclones tend to follow the sea ice / ocean interface and as such these storms are moving further north as the ice retreats.
- Fast ice periodicity is getting smaller seasonally, with later formation and earlier melt.
- The thickness of fast ice has remained the same but not its strength.
- There are more glacial ice hazards in the south Beaufort Sea due to the behavior of the Beaufort Sea gyre and the break-up of ice shelves on the NW flank of the CAA.
- There is evidence of thick and hazardous multi-year ice still existing along the NW flank of the CAA, just upstream of oil and gas industry exploration licences.

Despite this growing body of knowledge more research is required. The following recommendations (Table 5) provide guidance and suggestions on the research required to improve the understanding of the potential effects of climate change on oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea. The recommendations are based on considerations of applicability to understanding climate change effects on oil and gas activities and practicality or feasibility of implementation.

In some cases research to address these recommendations may be underway or planned but unknown to the authors of this report. Research in other parts of the polar world may also provide guidance on the best approach for acting on these recommendations.

Table 5Recommendations; Their Importance to Offshore Oil and Gas Activities;
and, Current or Required Research

Recommendations	Importance to Oil & Gas Activities	Current or Required Research
	Priority Recommendatio	ns
Traditional Knowledge		
Continue interaction and knowledge exchange between Inuvialuit and western scientists.	Important for utilizing both sets of knowledge for decision making.	ArcticNet has established a Traditional Knowledge database. This database can assist with knowledge exchange.
Utilize or establish community based monitoring programs for the monitoring of climate change (integrate western science); integrate western science and TK programs through community based monitoring.	Important for utilizing both sets of knowledge for designing and interpreting monitoring programs, and decision making.	Currently being done for some harvest monitoring programs and ArcticNet Programs. Need to expand further.
TK Coordinator – involve from start of programs and continue with Community Consultations.	Important for utilizing both sets of knowledge for decision making.	There is an Inuvialuit Cultural Resource Centre.
Research Requirements		
Processes required for developing atmospheric regional model	Atmos. Circulation of great importance to sea ice, currents, water levels and waves.	Need more upper air data (LIDAR); JC Gascard program may help; Amundsen ship-based.
Response – cyclones		Marine atmospheric boundary layer data
Upper air data, not just surface		required, inflited to Amunasen.
Marine Glacial Ice; source, pathways and duration.	Ice hazards have potentially very large effect on many O&G activities very occasionally.	Need process understandings to support better models for source amounts and pathways/duration.
Research on Ice Deformation, response to atmospheric water forcing – ridges/leads, degradation of large ice features; Role of frazil ice – relation to sediment processes and atmospheric forcing.	Very important to CC understandings; ice hazards.	Key processes on multi-year ice formation on the north coasts of CAA and N. Greenland; some observations in Nares Strait, Fram Strait; NRC; more data and research required.
Ecosystem Functioning.	Improve knowledge for environmental assessments and for the development of mitigation and monitoring programs.	Many process gaps in ecosystem components; at rudimentary level; focus on climate change effects on migratory routes, hot spots in terms of O&G that underpin ecosystem function.
Modeling		
Landfast ice.	Link to Ice hazards; high priority.	Insufficient capabilities.
Contaminant Transport – pathways – sediment, water, atmosphere.	Link to erosion.	Insufficient knowledge on pathways.

Table 5Recommendations; Their Importance to Offshore Oil and Gas Activities;
and, Current or Required Research (cont'd)

Recommendations	Importance to Oil & Gas Activities	Current or Required Research
	Priority Recommendations (cont'd)
Modeling (cont'd)		
Contaminant Transport – pathways - biota.		Insufficient knowledge on pathways.
Inshore wave and surge modeling.	Importance for coastal erosion for O&G infrastructure of shore facilities and pipeline crossings.	inshore waves and surges to build on GSC gauge programs.
Monitoring		
inventory of monitoring ; embed into national and intl. monitoring programs.	Long term measurements important to climate change understandings; Monitoring of variables important to ocean/ice/atmosphere coupled models.	Assist in making monitoring efforts more efficient and prevent duplication.
Guidelines		
Climate Change EA Guidelines.		Very generic CEAA guidelines for climate change in EA's; need for improved and more specific guidelines for EA practitioners.
Government Related		
 Long Term Science Programs required More monitoring – requires long-term sustained programs Maintain expertise (esp. govt) 	Very important to improve knowledge base for environmental assessments and for improved understanding of potential effects. This information could be utilized in developing or improving climate change related guidelines.	Need to focus on key indicators; key variables at key locations. Multiple sensor measurements at key sites. Need to ensure quality control and archival.
Adaptation		
Investigate climate adaptation options.		
Impor	tant and Ongoing Activities that	Should Continue
Research	1	
Beaufort Sea Gyre.	Changing regime for Offshore O&G operations.	WHOI/IOS programs active since 2003; Amundsen and international research programs; good coverage for average parameters.
Coastal Erosion.		Need thermodynamic/mechanical data; thermal and seabed data; acceleration to be determined (BREA/underway); repetitive mapping at 5 years (LIDAR).

Table 5Recommendations; Their Importance to Offshore Oil and Gas Activities;
and, Current or Required Research (cont'd)

Recommendations	Importance to Oil & Gas Activities	Current or Required Research
Important	and Ongoing Activities that Sho	uld Continue (cont'd)
Research (cont'd)		
Wind driven Wave for shelf and	Important changes in wave	BREA program (W. Perrie)
offshore.	regime for O&G operations.	Waves in ice: ONR funded work; industry and ArcticNet activities; D. Dumont/UQAR;
		IOGP JIP application to oil in ice.
Modeling		
Climate coupling – Regional.	200 km	Ongoing – EC, CIS, UM, UA, BIO (CONCEPTS/EC/DFO).
Climate coupling – Local.	30 km	UM/UAF – just starting; very high res. for ice.
Regional Atmospheric.		Industry high res. forecast model; contact John Fyfe/EC.
Local Atmospheric.		Mesoscale meteorlogical models – under development and ongoing.
Ice (1 st year/multiple year).	Albedo feedbacks required.	Average responses; CIS model improvements underway; ice features require new approaches.
Ecosystem function.		ArcticNet – IRIS underway.

9 SUMMARY

An assessment of the potential impacts on oil and gas activities due to climate change was conducted. This assessment began with a literature search and review. Of the large number of climate change reports published, only a few relate specifically to the potential impacts of climate change on oil and gas activities. Reports reviewed spanned numerous disciplines including physical oceanography, sea ice, climatology, contaminants, geology, ecology and traditional knowledge, as well as guidelines, best practices and environmental assessments.

CHANGES IN THE ENVIRONMENT PAST TO PRESENT:

Ice conditions in the Beaufort Sea are strongly influenced by oceanic and sea ice exchanges with neighboring regions. Changes in sea ice areal extent and concentration for the Canada Basin are similar to those of the full Arctic Ocean with changes in total ice coming primarily from the old ice component, which in late summer and fall months was seen to be decreasing between 8 and 11% per decade over the 44 years of available data.

For the four sub-regions of the Mackenzie Region (slope, mid-outer shelf, inner shelf and Kugmallit Bay) the largest changes in sea ice concentration occur in the slope sub-region. The largest changes per decade for all sub-regions were recorded in mid-October with the slope results indicating an almost 10% reduction in sea ice concentration per decade. The least amount of change per decade occurred in Kugmallit Bay, with mid-October results showing < 2% reduction in sea-ice concentration.

In the deep offshore areas of the Alaskan Beaufort Sea and Chukchi Sea the reduction in the average ice thickness was 1-2 m between the late 1950s and 1990s. Data collected between 2003 and 2007 indicates only a small change from the 1990s, with average ice thickness decreasing by less than 5% during this period. There has been no significant trend detected for changes in ice thickness on the Mackenzie Shelf although any such trend would likely be overshadowed by year to year and shorter term variability.

Models and satellite data show a dramatic decline in 4 year and older ice. Second and third year ice still remain but the reduction of older ice leads to reduced ice thickness. Recirculation of sea ice in the BG can create very thick ice along the NW flank of the CAA and this ice can occur as perennial or annual forms. Deformation of first year ice can create ice drafts as large as old ice. It is possible that under conditions of divergence, first-year ice thickness may be increasing. Reversals of the Beaufort Sea ice gyre suggests that we have more divergence in the Beaufort pack than occurred >30 years ago and this will also increase the rate of reduction in thickness and aerial extent of sea ice.

Environment Canada weather data for Tuktoyaktuk and Sachs Harbour show that mean air temperatures have increased in each month over the last 50 years with the largest warming occurring during the fall and winter. In the fall/winter for both Tuktoyaktuk and Sachs Harbour there has been an increase of 0.8°C every 10 years for a total increase of 4°C over the last 50 years. Precipitation levels have also been increasing over the last 50 years but at a much reduced rate compared to air temperature with a 1% increase in precipitation every decade. The observation systems at climate stations have a relatively low

Section 9: Summary

precision and as such this small change in precipitation should be interpreted with caution. Of perhaps greater importance than precipitation in general is accumulated snow which may increase, especially in spring and fall, in coastal areas. Accumulation amounts are more complicated over the ocean due to the amount of sea ice present and the losses of snow into the ocean. Surface winds have shown only small positive or negative trends over the last 50 years. Cyclones or low pressure systems do not appear to be increasing in frequency but they do appear to be becoming stronger (i.e., deeper low pressures). Also, easterly winds are becoming more prevalent in the last 15 years due to strengthening of the Beaufort Sea high pressure system. These changes in atmospheric circulation have significant effects on dynamic (wind) and thermodynamic (snow) forcing of the sea ice.

Models suggest continued 'episodic' (and significant) decreases in the areal extent of ice such as those that occurred at the summer minimums of 1998, 2007 and 2012. These will be interspersed with periods of increased ice cover, with the overall decline continuing to be curvilinear. Depending on the continued rate of ice loss used in modeling, a seasonally ice free Arctic is expected sometime around 2030, plus or minus 10 years. Regardless of the timeframe for a seasonally ice-free Arctic Ocean, models are almost universally in agreement that Arctic sea ice extent will decline through the present century.

Once the ocean surface mixed layer loses its heat to the atmospheric boundary layer sea ice will form. This process is expected to continue well into this century and the maximum extent of sea ice will not decrease nearly as much as the seasonal minimum. That said, the ice will largely be perennial in nature and thus will be much more susceptible to dynamic forcing through atmospheric and oceanic forcing.

The expected reduced sea ice conditions, and their relation to regional and global atmospheric and climate conditions, will coincide with changes in other parameters, including:

- Continuing increase in air temperatures, especially in the fall and winter, at rates similar to those experienced in the past 50 years
- Increases in precipitation as air temperatures warm with more snow in winter and more rain in summer. There is also potential for increases of liquid precipitation in winter. This feature has significant potential impacts on the physical, biological and human systems in the SBS (Barber et al. 2012).
- Warming and freshening of the offshore ocean waters due to more open water and increased ice melt which appears to be occurring in the Beaufort Sea. Freshening will stratify the water column limiting upwelling of nutrients to the euphotic zone. Warming will increase the heat flux to the lower atmosphere creating a higher probability for more intense storms, particularly in the fall and early winter period (Raddatz et al. 2011).
- Larger ocean waves occurring over longer periods of time in summer and fall, in association with the reduced sea ice coverage. These waves are a challenge to development but also increase the loss of sea ice by breaking up flows into smaller sizes which are more mobile and melt more easily (Asplin et al. 2012).
- Enhanced upwelling at the shelf edge has been observed since 2003 under the combined effect of reduced ice extent and the increased prevalence of the anticyclonic atmospheric circulation of the western Arctic Ocean (Pickart et al. 2011; Moore and Pickart 2012). The underlying atmospheric

circulation processes are not well understood but appear to be a combination of overall strengthening of the Beaufort Sea high (anticyclonic) pressure system and more intense cyclones penetrating the Arctic from the Pacific and Atlantic (Lukovich and Barber 2006).

TRADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE

The number of traditional knowledge studies that were specifically designed to obtain information regarding climate change is limited. However, a larger body of traditional knowledge has been collected in support of preparing environmental assessments which often contain information on climate change. Both types of traditional knowledge information shared a number of common observations on climate change effects. These included;

- changing and unpredictable weather
- increased frequency and severity of storms
- later freeze-up of ice and earlier break-up
- more open water in winter and thinner ice
- increased permafrost melting and slumping
- increased coastal erosion

Traditional knowledge provides an important perspective on climate change for the Beaufort Sea region as observers collect knowledge over long periods of time and for all seasons, which is not always the case for western based science. Traditional knowledge provides a complimentary knowledge base to western science for use in planning, environmental assessments and the development of regulations and guidelines.

REGULATIONS GUIDELINES AND BEST PRACTICES

Regulations and guidelines pertinent to oil and gas offshore operations and climate change were reviewed for Canada, Alaska and northern European countries. No best practices were identified pertaining to potential climate change effects on oil and gas activities. Most regulations and guidelines reviewed make reference to the effects of the project on producing greenhouse gases or on how climate change may affect the environment. However few deal with climate change effects on projects. All projects proposed in the Canadian Beaufort Sea are first submitted to the Environmental Impact Screening Committee (EISC). The EISC does not reference climate change in their guidelines to proponents. Projects submitted to the EISC may be forwarded to the Environmental Impact Review Board (EIRB) for further review. The EIRB requires a project to describe how a proposed development may contribute or not contribute to climate change and also to identify other elements which could be impacted by climate change. Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency (CEAA) requires that climate change effects on a project be assessed and has guidelines or regulations which require the assessment of the effects of climate change on a project do not provide guidance on how to conduct this assessment but refer to the CEAA guidelines.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENTS

Environmental assessments were reviewed for Canadian, Alaskan and northern European marine waters. In a majority of cases where climate change was discussed it was in the context of the potential of the project to produce greenhouse gases and not on the effects of climate change on oil and gas activities. The assessment of potential climate change effects on oil and gas activities generally was conducted for longer term production projects, which may operate for 30 or more years. Changes to the environment due to climate change would be expected to occur over a longer time period. Short term exploration projects were primarily assessed based on current conditions. Addressing potential climate change effects on a project was typically dealt with through engineering design. For example a production platform would be designed to meet the changing conditions which may occur over its life span.

CLIMATE AND ICE VARIABLES

Climate and ice variables were identified for a wide range of oil and gas activities and an array of plausible oil and gas exploration and development scenarios. In all, 18 variables were identified, with seven of these variables considered high in importance and nine of medium importance. The seven high climate and ice variables are:

- wave height (maximum and mean)
- wind speeds (maximum, mean and extreme)
- sea temperature and heat content
- air temperature
- coastal erosion (rate of loss)
- sea level rise
- sea ice type, distribution and concentration

Sea ice and coastal erosion are the two most apparent elements which may affect oil and gas activities due to climate change. The effects of ice and related variables are divided into three categories glacial ice, landfast ice, and first and multi-year ice.

CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS ON OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES

Exploration drilling for oil and gas in the Beaufort Sea began in the early 1970s and extended to the late 1980s. This activity occurred in shallow nearshore areas and on the shelf. The last exploratory well drilled during this period was in 1989 and no wells were drilled again until the winter of 2005-2006. Since 2006, oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea have been limited to seismic operations. Exploration drilling is not expected to occur again until 2020 or later.

Previous predictions on future oil and gas scenarios (Morrell 2005, 2007) assumed a Mackenzie Valley gas pipeline would be constructed. Scenarios included activity occurring in the Beaufort Sea nearshore and focused on gas exploration and future production. There is now a great deal of uncertainty whether construction of the Mackenzie Valley gas pipeline will proceed. Over the last 5 years a number of

exploration licenses have been issued for the deep offshore, which is a shift in focus from earlier periods. It is anticipated that the next exploration well to be drilled be in deep offshore waters. However, a feasibility study is also being conducted to assess the potential for oil production at the Amauligak site in the inner shelf in approximately 30 m water depth. Amauligak is the largest oil and gas discovery to date in the Beaufort Sea. Drilling at the Amauligak SDL could proceed in the same general time frame as the offshore deep water drilling, or a few years later. It is expected that once drilling resumes in the Beaufort Sea, activity would likely be limited to one or two wells per year (Callow 2012).

The effects of climate change on oil and gas activities is mainly related to physical changes to the environment such as to ice, wind, waves and coastal erosion. These various climate variables can have effects on all phases of oil and gas operations from seismic exploration to production.

Effects on seismic operations are generally positive with reduced ice coverage and potentially longer operating seasons. Seismic operations can be negatively affected by high wave heights which may cause stoppages in seismic operations to prevent damage to seismic equipment, safety and potential for acquiring poor data.

Exploration or production drilling projects are generally short-term, 1-3 years in length, but they can be extended. Beneficial effects for drilling projects from climate change may be expanded drilling seasons and reduced requirements for ice breaking. Negative effects include the threats to drilling platforms from glacial ice islands and ice velocity increases. Other negative effects are mainly related to support activities related to transfer of supplies and personnel during periods of poor weather conditions such as low visibility.

The effects on production activities are similar to those for drilling operations. However, due to the longer timespan of production operations (25-30+ years), additional effects on these activities may occur due to a changing chemical and biological environment. These effects are difficult to predict but could include costly changes to operating procedures midstream through a project. Where the production activity is occurring (e.g., nearshore versus offshore) will also have a role in the types of effects on this activity. For example, offshore production platforms may have a longer operating period over time, while nearshore operations may be more concerned about erosional effects on artificial islands and winter ice roads.

All phases of oil and gas projects require some level of support. Support can be in the form of supply vessels, icebreakers, aircraft support and land base support. Some operations will require all of these. Positive effects on support activities include reduced ice cover and longer operating seasons. Negative effects include delays in supply vessel mobilization due to high wave events, delays to aircraft support due to poor visibility conditions and erosion of land base support infrastructure.

Climate change has brought a high degree of inter-annual variability to weather and ice conditions in the Beaufort Sea. This high level of variability means that the oil and gas industry must prepare and plan for extreme events. This means that although ice coverage may improve in general, they still have to be prepared to address ice issues if they arise.

A summary of potential climate change effects on oil and gas industry offshore activities by climate variable is provided in Table 6.

Climate Variable	Climate Change Effect	Impact on Oil and Gas Activities
Sea ice	Reduced sea ice concentrations and areal extent	 Reduced impediments to drilling and support activities Improved seismic coverage Increased wave beight pogatively affecting
		Increased wave height negatively allecting drilling and seismic operations Improved conditions for dredging and
		construction
		 Extended operating period for all offshore oil and gas activities
	Changes in ice thickness	• Thicker ice a hazard to marine operations
		Thicker ice may increase ice breaking effort Thin landfast ice bazard for inshore winter
		roads
	Increased ice velocities	Threats to drilling and production platforms
	Landfast ice extent	Reduced availability for ice roads
Ocean waves	Increased wave size	 Delays in vessel mobilization and demobilization
		Hampering of shipping support operations
		 Delays in seismic operations due to shut downs to prevent damage to equipment
		 Increased shoreline erosion related to pipelines and causeways
		 Adverse effects on artificial island construction and maintenance
Air temperature	Warmer temperatures especially in winter	 Reduction in extreme cold operating conditions
	Reduced sea ice conditions especially in form of landfast ice	Negative effects on nearshore ice roads
	Increased precipitation in form of snow in winter and rain and snow in summer	Restrict aircraft support activities
	Increased periods of fog	Restrict aircraft support activities
Ocean currents and temperatures	Changes or increases in bottom currents could affect seabed erosion.	• Effects on drilling and production activities (e.g., pipelines)
Coastal erosion	Increased coastal erosion due to increased sea levels, increased wave action and warming temperatures melting permafrost.	 Effects on coastal infrastructure required for offshore oil and gas activities Effects on landfall tip in with pipelines
O a a laval		
Sea level rise	severity of storm surges due to higher water	 Coastal erosion can threaten coastal oil and gas related infrastructure
	levels	 Flooding of coastal oil and gas infrastructure

Table 6Summary of climate change effects and their impact on oil and gas
activities

Table 6Summary of climate change effects and their impact on oil and gas
activities (cont'd)

Climate Variable	Climate Change Effect	Impact on Oil and Gas Activities
Sediment and water quality	Increases in input of hydrocarbons and PAHs in the water column and biota due to increased re-suspension of sediments; methane release in coastal areas	 Changes in regulations or guidelines mid- way through project (e.g., during production) Increased negative perception of oil and gas activities affecting community support
	Changes in regional contaminants from LRTAP	 Changes in regulations or guidelines mid- way through project (e.g., during production) Increased negative perception of oil and gas activities affecting community support

INFORMATION GAPS

This assessment identified a number of information gaps. A majority of these gaps pertain to ice and climate. A limited number of gaps were identified for ecological/biological considerations but these are broad in nature due to their high level of complexity.

Information gaps for ice are divided into three categories: glacial ice, first and multi-year ice, and landfast ice. Glacial ice information gaps include the quantification of glacial ice in the form of ice islands, tabular ice bergs and ice sheets, and an improved understanding of the transport mechanisms of glacial ice. First-year and multi-year ice information gaps are in understanding the trends in concentration, thickness and speed of movement of these ice types. There is also a need to understand sea ice recirculation in the Beaufort Sea Ice Gyre under a changing climate regime. This includes how long sea ice will grow through convergence along the NW flank of the CAA and how long it takes to melt these features as they drift south in the summer over the SBS. For landfast ice, information gaps include: a better understanding of changes in ice thickness, structure and stability; the future timing of freeze-up and break-up; and, improved numerical models for landfast ice. There is also need to develop a better understanding of the role of precipitation (both liquid and solid) and landfast and mobile ice thermodynamic processes.

Information gaps for weather include: whether periods of fog will increase or decrease in frequency due to climate change; changes in wind speed and direction; the effects of changing ice edge locations on weather patterns; and, an improved overall understanding of the interaction between weather patterns and ice.

Wave and storm surge information gaps include how changes in weather patterns will affect wave height, storm surge frequency and intensity. A component of this is the requirement for better wave and storm surge models.

Coastal erosion is related to weather and ice conditions but some specific information gaps for coastal erosion include:

- improved understanding of erosion processes
- improved prediction capabilities of erosion rates

Section 9: Summary

- improved predictive capabilities of the effects of changing weather, ice conditions and wave action on coastal erosion,
- improved prediction capabilities of sea level rise and its effects on coastal erosion and infrastructure
- coastline mapping of erosion vulnerability

There is a requirement for a better understanding of whether contaminant concentrations are likely to increase in the water column and biota due to potential increases in sediment re-suspension and LRTAP or potential changes in shelf basin exchanges. Modeling of contaminants requires improvements to reduce the size of error bars associated with many of the models.

Information gaps for potential ecological and biological changes are difficult to address due to the complexities of ecosystems. However, information gaps include: how EBSAs will be affected; changes in marine mammal and fish migrations; and, how climate change may affect the introduction of new species into the Beaufort Sea.

Twenty-four recommendations were identified through the Preliminary Assessment Report, comments received from climate change experts who reviewed the report and results of the November 19-21, 2012, workshop. Recommendations are related to traditional knowledge, research and modeling requirements, guidelines, monitoring, adaptation and other related requirements. Of the 24 recommendations, 15 were considered a priority, whereas the remaining 9 referred to the continuation of existing programs.

A key recommendation was for continued interaction and information exchange between traditional knowledge holders and western scientists in order to utilize both forms of knowledge. This is considered necessary to improve our understanding of the Beaufort Sea and particularly for decision making with respect to new research and management of oil and gas activities in the region.

Priority research recommendations focused on: improving models and data for these models; an inventory of monitoring conducted in the Beaufort Sea which can be used to improve our understanding of climate change and its effects on the environment; and, establishing monitoring that may be able to be embedded in national and international monitoring programs.

A need was identified for improved guidelines for use in assessing climate change effects in environmental assessments of oil and gas activities. Current guidelines are very broad and provide little practical guidance to an environmental assessment practitioner.

10 REFERENCES

10.1 Literature Cited

- AMAP, 2011. Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA): Climate Change and the Cryosphere. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway. xii + 538 pp.
- Anisimov, O.A., D.G. Vaughan, T.V. Callaghan, C. Furgal, H. Marchant, T.D. Prowse, H. Vilhjálmsson and J.E. Walsh. 2007. Polar Regions (Arctic and Antarctic). In: *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability*. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson (eds). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. 653–685.
- Asplin, M. G., R. Galley, D. G. Barber, and S. Prinsenberg. 2012. Fracture of summer perennial sea ice by ocean swell as a result of Arctic storms, J. Geophys. Res., 117, C06025, doi:10.1029/2011JC007221.Atkinson, D.E. 2005. Observed Storminess Patterns and Trends in the Circum-Arctic Coastal Regime. *Geo-Marine Letters* 25: 98 –109.
- Barber, D.G., and J. Hanesiak. 2004. Meteorological forcing of sea ice concentrations in the Southern Beaufort Sea over the period 1978 to 2001, *J. Geophys. Res.* 109, C06014, doi:10.1029/2003JC002027.
- Barber, D.G., J.V. Lukovich, J. Keogak, S. Baryluk, L. Fortier, and G. Henry. 2008. The Changing Climate of the Arctic, Arctic, 61(suppl. 1), 7-26.
- Barber, D.G., R. Galley, M.G. Asplin, R. De Abreu, K. Warner, M. Pućko, M. Gupta, S. Prinsenberg, and S. Julien. 2009. Perennial pack ice in the southern Beaufort Sea was not as it appeared in the summer of 2009, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 36, L24501, doi:10.1029/2009GL041434.
- Barber, D.G., M. G. Asplin, Y. Gratton, J. V. Lukovich, R. J. Galley, R. L. Raddatz and D. Leitch. 2010. The International Polar Year (IPY) Circumpolar Flaw Lead (CFL) System Study: Overview and the Physical System. *Atmos.-Ocean*, 48: 225–243. doi:10.3137/OC317.2010.
- Barber, D.G., T. Tjaden, D. Leitch, L. Barber, and W. Chan (editors). 2012. On The Edge: From Knowledge to Action During the Fourth International Polar Year Circumpolar Flaw Lead System Study (2007–2008). U. of Manitoba, ISBN 978-0-9813265-1-1, 248 p.
- Blasco K.A.,S.M. Blasco, R. Bennett, B. MacLean, W.A. Rainey, and E.H. Davies. 2010. Seabed geologic features and processes and their relationship with fluid seeps and the benthic environment in the Northwest Passage. Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 6438. 57 p.
- Blasco, S.M., J.M. shearer, P. Campbell, B. Wright and H. Melling. 2004. Reduction in sea ice scour impact rates on the seabed 1979 to 2003, Canadian Beaufort Sea. Eos transactions, Joint assembly of the CGU, AGU, SEG and EEGS, Montreal, Canada, May 17-21. 85(17) C43A-10.

- Bonsal, B.D. and B. Kochtubajda, 2009. An assessment of present and future climate in the Mackenzie Delta and the near-shore Beaufort Sea region of Canada. International Journal of Climatology, 29 (12), p. 1780–1795.
- Callow, L. 2012. Oil and Gas Exploration and Development Activity Forecast: Canadian Beaufort Sea 2012–2037. Prepared for Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada, Ottawa.
- Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency (CEAA). 2003. Incorporating Climate Change Considerations in Environmental Assessment: General Guidance for Practitioners. The Federal-Provincial-Territorial Committee on Climate Change and Environmental Assessment. Gatineau, Quebec.
- Cassano, J. J., and T. R. Parish. 2000. An analysis of the nonhydrostatic dynamics in numerically simulated Antarctic katabatic flows. J. Atmos. Sci., 57, 891–898.
- Christensen, J.H., B. Hewitson, A. Busuioc, A. Chen, X. Gao, I. Held, R. Jones, R.K. Kolli, W.-T. Kwon, R. Laprise, V. Magaña Rueda, L. Mearns, C.G. Menéndez, J. Räisänen, A. Rinke, A. Sarr and P. Whetton. 2007. Regional Climate Projections. In: *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. 847–940.
- Collett, T.S. and S.R. Dallimore. 2002. Detailed analysis of gas hydrate induced drilling and production hazards. Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Gas Hydrates, Yokahama, Japan. P. 47-52.
- Comiso, J. C. 2012. Large Decadal Decline of the Arctic Multiyear Ice Cover. J. Climate, 25, 1176–1193. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-11-00113.1.
- Communities of Aklavik, Inuvik, Holman Island, Paulatuk and Tuktoyaktuk, S. Nickels, M. Buell, C. Furgal, and H. Moquin. 2005. Unikkaaqatigiit – Putting the Human Face on Climate Change: Perspectives from the Inuvialuit Region. Ottawa: Joint publication of Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami, Nasivvik Centre for Inuit Health and Changing Environments at Université Laval and the Ajunnginiq Centre at the National Aboriginal Health Organization.
- Copland, L., D. R. Mueller, and L. Weir. 2007. Rapid loss of the Ayles Ice Shelf, Ellesmere Island, Canada, Geophys. Res. Lett., 34, L21501, doi:10.1029/2007GL031809.
- Dallimore S., C. Paull, T. Collett, Y Keun Jin, J. Mienert, K. Mangelsdorf, and M. Riedel. 2012. IODP-ICDP Pre-Proposal: Scientific drilling to investigate methane release and geologic processes associated with warming permafrost and gas hydrate deposits beneath the Beaufort Sea shelf. 10 p.
- Environmental Impact Review Board (EIRB). 2011. Environmental Impact Review Guidelines. Inuvik, Northwest Territories.
- Environmental Impact Screening Committee (EISC). 2011. Environmental Impact Screening Guidelines. Inuvik, Northwest Territories.

- Fissel, D.B. and J.R. Marko. 2011. Understanding the changing Arctic sea ice regime. Essay in: J. Ocean Technology, Vol. 6(3), October 2011.
- Fissel, D.B., J.R. Marko and M. Martínez de Saavedra Álvarez. 2009. *The Changing Met-Ocean and Ice Conditions in the Beaufort Sea: Implications for Offshore Oil and Gas.* Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the International Society of Offshore and Polar Engineers. Osaka, Japan.
- Fissel, D., H. Melling, D. Billenness, K. Borg, N. Kulan, M. Martinez de Saavedra Álvarez and A. Slonimer. 2012. The Changing Wave Climate over the Beaufort Sea Shelf, 2001-2010. Paper presented at the International Polar Year (IPY 2012) Conference, Montreal, QC, Canada, April 2012.
- Forbes, D.L. 2005. Coastal erosion. In: Encyclopedia of the Arctic. M. Nuttall (ed.). Routledge, New York and London, 1, 391–393 Government of Canada. 2009.
- Fortier, L., D. Barber & J. Michaud (eds). 2008. On Thin Ice: A Synthesis of the Canadian Arctic Shelf Exchange Study (CASES). Aboriginal Issue Press, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, 215 p.
- Galley, R.J., B.G.T. Else, S.E.L. Howell, J.V. Lukovich and D.G. Barber, 2012. Landfast sea ice conditions in the Canadian Arctic: 1983–2009. *Arctic* 65(2) (in press).
- Gauthier, M-F., B. Beaulieu, P. Pellerin, D. Tessmer, P. McCarthy and P. Silva, 2012. The METAREA Initiative – A New Canadian Responsibility. CMOS Bulletin, 40(2), 157-162. Canadian Meteorological and Oceanographic Society, Ottawa ON Canada.
- Hakkinen, S., A. Proshutinsky, and I. Ashik. 2008. Sea Ice Drift in the Arctic since the 1950s. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 35: L19704, doi:10.1029/2008GL034791.
- Hartwig, L. 2009. Mapping Traditional Knowledge related to the Identification of Ecologically and Biologically significant Areas in the Beaufort Sea. Canadian Manuscript Report fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 2895: 25 p.
- Héquette, A., M. Desrosiers and P.W. Barnes. 1995. Sea ice scour on the inner shelf of the southeastern Canadian Beaufort Sea. Marine Geology 128: 201–219.
- Hudak, D.R. and M.C. Young. 2002. Storm Climatology of the Southern Beaufort Sea. *Atmosphere-Ocean* 40(2): 145–148.
- Inuuvik Community Corporation (ICC), Tuktuuyaqtuuq Community Corporation and Aklarvik Community Corporation. 2006. Inuvialuit Settlement Region Traditional Knowledge Report. Submitted to Mackenzie Project Environmental Group. Calgary, Alberta.
- James, T.S., K.M. Simon, D.L. Forbes, A.S. Dyke, S. Carriérre and D.J. Mate. 2011. Projections of relative sea-level change for the Northwest Territories and Nunavut. NWT Cumulative Impact Monitoring Program Annual Monitoring Results. Abstracts volume. Yellowknife Geoscience Forum. Yellowknife, NT. 96 p.
- KAVIK-AXYS Inc. 2011. Traditional and Local Knowledge workshop for the Paulatuk Area of Interest. Report Prepared for Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Inuvik, NT.

- KAVIK-STANTEC Inc. 2012. Inuvik to Tuktoyaktuk Highway Traditional Knowledge Workshops: Inuvik and Tuktoyaktuk, February 2012. Report prepared for the Government of the Northwest Territories, Department of Transportation, Yellowknife, NT.
- Komarov, A.S., V. Zabeline, and D. G. Barber. 2012. Ocean surface wind speed retrieval from C-band SAR images without input of wind direction. In review.
- Kwok, R. and D A. Rothrock. 2009. Decline in Arctic Sea Ice Thickness from Submarine and ICESat Records: 1958–2008. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 36: L15501, doi:10.1029/2009GL039035.
- Lukovich, J., and D. Barber. 2006. Atmospheric controls on sea ice motion in the Southern Beaufort Sea, *J. Geophys. Res.*. 111, D18103, doi:10.1029/2005JD006408.
- Manson, G.K. and S.M. Solomon. 2007. Past and Future Forcing of the Beaufort Sea Coastal Change. *Atmosphere-Ocean* 45(2): 107–122.
- Maslanik, J., J. Stroeve, C. Fowler, and W. Emery. 2011. Distribution and trends in Arctic sea ice age through spring 2011. Geophysical Research Letters 38, L13502 doi:10.1029/2011GL047735.
- McBean, G., G. Alekseev, D. Chen, E. Førland, J. Fyfe, P.Y. Groisman, R. King, H. Melling, R. Vose and P.H. Whitfield. 2005. Arctic Climate: Past and Present. Arctic Climate Impacts Assessment (ACIA). C. Symon, L. Arris and B. Heal (eds.). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom. 21-60.
- Metoc plc. 2004. Langeled Project Marine Pipeline Environmental Statement. Prepared for Norsk Hydro Produsjon.
- Milne, A.R., 1976. Oil, Ice and Climate Change. Beaufort Sea Project Synthesis Report, Institute of Ocean Sciences, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Sidney B.C. Canada, 103 p.
- Milne, A.R. and R.H. Herlinveaux, 1976. Crude Oil in Cold Water. Beaufort Sea Project Synthesis Report, Institute of Ocean Sciences, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Sidney B.C. Canada, 119 p.
- Moore, G. W. K., and R. S. Pickart, 2012. Recent Amplification of the Summer Beaufort Sea High and its Impact on Chukchi Sea Extent and Oceanic Circulation. Poster presented at IPY 2012 Conference, Montreal, Canada, April, 2012.
- Morrel G. 2005. Beaufort Sea Oil and Gas Development. Presentation to the Beaufort Sea Strategic Regional Plan Workshop for Northern Oil and Gas Branch, INAC. March 2005.
- Morrell G. 2007. Input to discussion on Beaufort Sea Development Scenarios. Prepared by G. Morrell, INAC/Northern Oil and Gas. In the Beaufort Sea Strategic Regional Plan of Action Appendix IX: Industry Activity Scenario. June 27, 2007.
- National Energy Board. 2011a. Filing Requirements for Offshore Drilling in the Canadian Arctic. National Energy Board, Calgary, AB. 34 p.
- National Energy Board. 2011b. Review of Offshore Drilling in the Canadian Arctic. National Energy Board, Calgary, AB. 56 p.

- National Energy Board, Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board and Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador Offshore Petroleum Board. 2011. *Safety Plan Guidelines*. The National Energy Board. Calgary, Alberta.
- National Energy Board, Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board and Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador Offshore Petroleum Board. 2008. *Offshore Physical Environment Guidelines*. The National Energy Board. Calgary, Alberta.
- Nichols, T., F. Berkes, D. Jolly, N.B. Snow, and the Community of Sachs Harbour. 2004. Climate change and Sea Ice: Local Observations from the Canadian Western Arctic. Arctic 57: 68-79.
- Niemi, A, J Johnson, A Majewski, H Melling, J Reist and W Williams. 2012. State of the Ocean Report for the Beaufort Sea Large Ocean Management Area. Can Manu Rep Hydrogr Oc Sci No 2977, 57 pp. Fs97-4/2977E.
- Nixon, M.F. and Grozic, J.L.H. 2007. Submarine slope failure due to gas hydrate dissociation; a preliminary quantification. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 44, pp. 314–332.
- Nova Scotia Environment. 2011. Guide to Considering Climate Change in Environmental Assessments in Nova Scotia. Nova Scotia Environment. Halifax, Nova Scotia.
- Paull, C.K., S. Dallimore, J. Hughes-Clark, S. Blasco, E. Lundsten, W.III Ussler, D. Graves, A. Sherman,
 K. Conway, H. Melling, S. Vagle and T. Collett. 2011. Proceedings of the 7th International
 Conference of Gas Hydrates, Edinburg, Scotland. July, 2011.
- Pickart, R. S., M. A. Spall, G. W. K. Moore, T. J. Weingartner, R. A. Woodgate, K. Aagaard, and K. Shimada. 2011. Upwelling in the Alaskan Beaufort Sea: Atmospheric forcing and local versus on-local response, Progress in Oceanography, 88, 78 100.
- Prowse, T., C. Furgal, B. Bonsal, H. Melling, D. Peters, and S. Smith. 2009a. Implication of changing climate for northern Canada: Energy, Resource, and Transportation Sectors. Ambio 38: 272–281. BioOne.
- Raddatz, R.L., R. J. Galley and D. G. Barber. 2011. Linking the atmospheric boundary layer to the Amundsen Gulf sea ice cover: a mesoscale to synoptic-scale perspective from winter to summer 2008. *Boundary Layer Meteorology*. Doi:10.1007/s10546-011-9669-2.
- Reidlinger, D. 1999. Climate Change and the Inuvialuit of Banks Island NWT: Using Traditional Environmental Knowledge to Complement Western Science. InfoNorth; Arctic 52: 430-432.
- Riedlinger, D. and F. Berkes. 2001. Contributions of Traditional knowledge to Understanding Climate Change in the Canadian Arctic. *Polar Record* 37: 315–328.
- Rothrock, D. A., Y. Yu, and G. A. Maykut. 1999. Thinning of the Arctic Sea-ice Cover. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 26(23): 3469–3472.
- Ross, S. L., W.J. Logan and W. Rowland, 1977. Oil Spill Countermeasures. Beaufort Sea Project Synthesis Report, Institute of Ocean Sciences, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Sidney B.C. Canada, 67 p.

- Shakhova, N., I. Semiletov, A. Salyuk, V. Yusupov, D. Kosmach and O. Gustafsson. 2010. Extensive Methane Venting to the Atmosphere from Sediments of the East Siberian Arctic Shelf. Science 327: 1246–1250.
- Smith, S.L. 2001. Natural gas hydrates. In: A Synthesis of Geological Hazards in Canada. G.R. Brooks (ed.). Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin 548, p. 265–280.
- Stephenson, S.A. 2004. Harvest studies in the Inuvialuit Settlement Region, Northwest Territories, Canada: 1999 and 2001-2003. Canadian Manuscript Report Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 2700: 34 p.
- Stroeve, J., M.M. Holland, W. Meier, T. Scambos and M. Serreze. 2007. Arctic Sea Ice Decline: Faster than Forecast. *Geophysical Research Letters* 34: L09501, doi:10.1029/2007GL029703.
- Timco, G.W. and R. Frederking, 2009. Overview of Historical Canadian Beaufort Sea Information. Technical Report CHC-TR-057, Canadian Hydraulics Centre, National Research Council of Canada, Ottawa ON, Feb. 2009, 95 p.
- United States Department of the Interior. 2007. Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement for Alternative Energy Development and Production and Alternate Use of Facilities on the Outer Continental Shelf. Minerals Management Service. Washington, D.C.
- United States Department of the Interior. 2010. Notice to Lessees and Operators of Federal Oil and Gas Leases and Pipeline Right-of-Way Holders in the Outer Continental Shelf, Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement: Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. Washington, D.C.
- United States Department of the Interior. 2011. *Guidelines for Providing Geological and Geophysical, Hazards, and Archaeological Information Pursuant to 30 CFR Part 285.* Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement Office of Offshore Alternative Energy Programs. Washington, D.C.
- Wadhams, P. and N. R. Davis. 2000. Further evidence of ice thinning in the Arctic Ocean, Geophys. Res. Lett., 27, 3973– 3975.
- Wang, M. and J.E. Overland. 2009. A Sea Ice Free Summer Arctic within 30 years? *Geophysical Research Letters* 36: L07502, doi:10.1029/2009GL037820.
- Xodus Group. 2011. Fourth Strategic Environmental Assessment for Oil and Gas Activities in Ireland's Offshore Waters: IOSEA4 Irish and Celtic Seas. Prepared for the Department of Communications, Energy and Natural Resources.
- Zhang, J., M. Steele, and A. Schweiger. 2010. Arctic Sea Ice Response to Atmospheric Forcings with Varying Levels of Anthropogenic Warming and Climate Variability. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 37: L20505, doi:10.1029/2010GL044988.

10.2 Internet Sites

Beaufort Regional Environmental Assessment (BREA). 2012. www.beaufortrea.ca/about.

- Maslowski, Wiesław. 2011. (p 4-4) Available at: http://www.sciencepoles.org/news/news_detail/maslowski_and_team_offer_new_estimate_summ er_arctic_sea_ice_disappearance/.
- Perovich, D., W. Meier, J. Maslanik, and J. Richter-Menge. 2011. *Sea Ice*. In Arctic Report Card 2011. Available at: http://www.arctic.noaa.gov/reportcard. Accessed: March 2012.
- Proshutinsky, A., M.L. Timmermans, I. Ashik, A. Beszczynska-Moeller, E. Carmack, J. Eert, I. Frolov,
 M. Itoh, T. Kikuchi, R. Krishfield, F. McLaughlin, B. Rabe, U. Schauer, K. Shimada, V. Sokolov,
 M. Steele, J. Toole, W. Williams, R. Woodgate, and S. Zimmermann. 2011. *Ocean*. In Arctic
 Report Card 2011. Available at: http://www.arctic.noaa.gov/reportcard. Accessed: March 2012.

10.3 Personal Communications

- H. Melling, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Institute of Ocean Sciences, Sydney, B.C. Personal communication.
- S. Blasco. Natural Resources Canada. Bedford Institute of Oceanography, Dartmouth, Nova Scotia. Personal communication.

11 GLOSSARY

Anticyclonic Circulation:	The circulation associated with high pressure atmospheric systems in which the winds turn to the right of the downward atmospheric pressure gradient, in the Northern Hemisphere, to describe a clockwise circulation pattern.
Beaufort Gyre:	A wind-driven ocean current located in the Arctic Ocean polar region between the North Pole and the Beaufort Sea. The gyre's current moves in a clockwise or anti-cyclonic pattern.
Beaufort Ice Gyre:	The movement of the Arctic Ocean sea ice in the Beaufort Gyre region as forced by the prevailing atmospheric and ocean circulation.
Biogeochemical:	Of or relating to the dividing into parts and cycling of chemical elements and compounds between the living and nonliving parts of an ecosystem.
Biota:	The plant and animal life of a region.
Circumpolar Flaw Lead Study:	A study conducted as part of the International Polar Year to obtain a better understanding of the physical mechanisms the life cycle of sea ice, as well as the biological, biogeochemical and ecosystem processes in the open flaw lead of the Cape Bathurst polyna during the winter period.
Continental Slope:	The region of the sloping sea bed between the outer edge of the continental shelf and the deep ocean floor.
Coupled Models:	Numerical circulation models for the atmosphere and ocean which interact through surface exchange processes including momentum and heat fluxes. Arctic coupled models include coupling of atmosphere, ocean and sea ice models.
Cyclonic Circulation:	The circulation associated with low pressure atmospheric systems in which the winds turn to the right of the downward atmospheric pressure gradient, in the Northern Hemisphere, to describe a counter- clockwise circulation pattern.
Cryospheric Circulation:	The circulation of sea ice in the polar oceans.

Ecologically and Biologically Significant Areas:	Areas which have significant importance to the function of the ecosystem or to the plants and animals in that ecosystem.
Exploration Licence:	This licence gives the company the exclusive right to explore, drill, and test for oil and gas, develop land for production and obtain a production licence on Crown land. It is issued by the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development and may be granted for up to nine years.
Fetch:	The fetch is the distance over which a wind of reasonable constant direction blows over the open water area of the ocean.
First Year Ice:	Sea ice which has formed since the previous summer.
Flaring:	A process where excess gas from oil or gas wells is burnt off.
Gas Hydrates:	An ice-like crystalline solid formed from a mixture of water and natural gas, usually methane. Gas hydrates occur in the pore spaces of sediments.
Glacial Ice:	Ice of glacial origin, i.e. from glaciers and ice sheets.
Heavy Metals:	Metals with a specific gravity greater than 5. The 'toxic' heavy metals are a subset of heavy metals which are environmentally significant. In the Arctic, the most important toxic heavy metals are lead, mercury and cadmium.
Ice Deformation:	The process by which blocks of sea ice of uniform thickness, that has grown in place, is broken and combined into massive ice floes with large vertical scales.
Ice lead:	Stretches of open water within fields of sea ice which often occurs in long linear features.
Ice Pressure Keel:	A sea ice floe feature with large vertical scales that has been formed through ice deformation processes due to differential movement of sea ice.
Ice Scour:	The interaction of sea ice keels on the seabed which results in removal of sea bed bottom materials causing a scour or trough in the seabed.

International Polar Year (IPY):	Is an international collaborative program of scientific research focusing on the polar regions (Arctic and Antarctica). This past 2007-2008 IPY was the third IPY to occur and actually continued into 2009. The first IPY was occurred in 1882-83 and the second IPY was fifty years later between 1932-33.
Landfast Ice:	Non-moving sea ice along coasts due to contact with the sea floor combined with internal forces within the sea ice.
Long Range Transport of Airborne Pollutants (LRTAP):	Compounds such as OC's, PAH's and mercury which, due to their chemical properties, can be transported in the atmosphere to locations far from their point of origin.
Marginal Ice Zone:	The area between the highly concentrated sea ice pack and open water areas.
Models:	Models use mathematical equations for various parameters to describe or represent a system. Often used for predictive purposes.
Multi-year Ice:	Sea ice which has survived two or more summers.
Organchlorines (OC):	Organic compounds containing at least one covalently bonded chlorine atom. Examples include herbicides, insecticides, fungicides and a wide range of industrial chemicals including PCB's. These compounds are of concern because of their effects on the environment and on human and animal health even at trace concentrations.
Pack Ice:	An expanse of large pieces of floating ice driven together into a nearly continuous mass, as occurs in polar seas.
Passive Microwave:	Electromagnetic radiation with a wavelength of 1 mm to 1 m which is emitted by all objects.
Permafrost:	Permanently frozen subsoil.
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon (PAH):	PAH's are potent atmospheric pollutants that consist of fused aromatic rings and do not contain heteroatoms or carry substituents. Examples include benzo(a)pyrene and naphthalene. They are of concern because some PAH's are carcinogenic.

Seismic:	Techniques used in oil and gas exploration where sound waves are produced and passed through the earth's crust. The resulting reflected and refracted sound waves are picked up by sensors and the data is used to map geologic features in the earth's crust.
Shelf:	The area of seabed around a large landmass where the sea is relatively shallow compared with the open ocean.
Significant Discovery Licence (SDL):	When oil and/or gas is discovered in an area under an exploration licence, a company can apply to the National Energy Board (NEB) for a significant discovery declaration and to INAC for a significant discovery licence (SDL). The significant discovery licence will not be issued until the significant discovery has been declared. This licence covers the area of the discovery and provides indefinite ownership to the discovery. The SDL allows the holder to continue exploration, drilling and testing within the SDL and to apply for a production licence.
Slope:	See Continental Slope.
Slope: Storm surge:	See Continental Slope. A rising of the sea as a result of atmospheric pressure changes and wind associated with a storm.
Slope: Storm surge: Traditional Knowledge:	See Continental Slope. A rising of the sea as a result of atmospheric pressure changes and wind associated with a storm. Refers to knowledge about the environment and use of the land that is held by local Aboriginal peoples.
Slope: Storm surge: Traditional Knowledge: Transition Zone:	See Continental Slope. A rising of the sea as a result of atmospheric pressure changes and wind associated with a storm. Refers to knowledge about the environment and use of the land that is held by local Aboriginal peoples. The large area between the Arctic Ocean pack ice and the sea ice covering the inner portions of the continental shelf.
Slope: Storm surge: Traditional Knowledge: Transition Zone: Upwelling:	See Continental Slope. A rising of the sea as a result of atmospheric pressure changes and wind associated with a storm. Refers to knowledge about the environment and use of the land that is held by local Aboriginal peoples. The large area between the Arctic Ocean pack ice and the sea ice covering the inner portions of the continental shelf. The process by which warm, less-dense surface water is drawn away from the shore by offshore currents and replaced by cold, denser water brought up from below the surface.

APPENDIX A

Bibliography
A.1 Climate Change Research/Monitoring

- AMAP, 2011. Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA): Climate Change and the Cryosphere. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway. xii + 538 pp.
- Anisimov, O.A., D.G. Vaughan, T.V. Callaghan, C. Furgal, H. Marchant, T.D. Prowse, H. Vilhjálmsson and J.E. Walsh. 2007. Polar Regions (Arctic and Antarctic). In: *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability*. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson (eds). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. 653–685.
- Barber, D.G., J.V. Lukovich, J. Keogak, S. Baryluk, L. Fortier and G.H.R. Henry. 2008. The Changing Climate of the Arctic. *Arctic* 61(1): 7–26.
- Barber, D.G., T. Tjaden, D. Leitch, L. Barber, and W. Chan (editors). 2012. On The Edge: From Knowledge to Action During the Fourth International Polar Year Circumpolar Flaw Lead System Study (2007–2008). U. of Manitoba, ISBN 978-0-9813265-1-1, 248 p.
- Bonsal, B., B. Kochtubajda, and T. Stene. 2007. Climate change scenarios over the Mackenzie Delta and near-shore Beaufort Sea region. Appendix VII: Beaufort Sea strategic regional plan of action. pp. 466–507.
- Christensen, J.H., B. Hewitson, A. Busuioc, A. Chen, X. Gao, I. Held, R. Jones, R.K. Kolli, W.-T. Kwon, R. Laprise, V. Magaña Rueda, L. Mearns, C.G. Menéndez, J. Räisänen, A. Rinke, A. Sarr and P. Whetton. 2007. Regional Climate Projections. In: *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. pp. 847–940.
- Feder, H.M, D. W. Norton and J. B. Geller. 2003. A Review of Apparent 20th Century Changes in the Presence of Mussels (*Mytilus trossulus*) and Macroalgae in Arctic Alaska, and of Historical and Paleontological Evidence Used to Relate Mollusc Distributions to Climate Change. *Arctic* 56(4): 391–407.
- Fortier, L., D. Barber & J. Michaud (eds). 2008. On Thin Ice: A Synthesis of the Canadian Arctic Shelf Exchange Study (CASES). Aboriginal Issue Press, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, 215 p.

A.2 Sea Ice

- Andreas, E. L., T. W. Horst, A. A. Grachev, P. O. G. Persson, C. W. Fairall, P. S. Guest, and R. E. Jordan. 2010. Parameterizing Turbulent Exchange Over Summer Sea Ice and the Marginal Ice Zone, Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc. 136: 927–943.
- Arya, S.P.S. 1973. Contribution of Form Drag on Pressure Ridges to the Air Stress on Arctic Ice. *Journal* of Geophysical Research 78: 7092–7099.

- Arya, S.P.S. 1975. Drag-partitioning Theory for Determining the Large-Scale Roughness Parameter and Wind Stress on Arctic Pack Ice. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 80: 3447–3454.
- Asplin, M.G., J.V. Lukovich and D.G. Barber. 2009. Atmospheric Forcing of the Beaufort Sea Ice Gyre: Surface Pressure Climatology and Sea Ice Motion. J. Geophys. Res. 114: C00A06, doi:10.1029/2008JC005127.
- Barber, D. G., and J. Hanesiak. 2004. Meteorological Forcing of Sea Ice Concentrations in the Southern Beaufort Sea Over the Period 1978 to 2001. J. Geophys. Res. 109: C06014, doi:10.1029/2003JC002027.
- Barber, D. G., R. Galley, M. G. Asplin, R. De Abreu, K.-A. Warner, M. Pućko, M. Gupta, S. Prinsenberg and S. Julien. 2009. Perennial Pack Ice in the Southern Beaufort Sea was not as it appeared in the Summer of 2009. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 36: L24501, doi:10.1029/2009GL041434.
- Barber, D.G. and J.V. Lukovich. 2011. Sea Ice in Canada. In H. French and O. Slaymaker (eds.). Changing Cold Environments -- A Canadian Perspective. Wiley-Blackwell. New York, NY.
- Barber, D.G., M. G. Asplin, Y. Gratton, J. V. Lukovich, R. J. Galley, R. L. Raddatz and D. Leitch. 2010. The International Polar Year (IPY) Circumpolar Flaw Lead (CFL) System Study: Overview and the Physical System. *Atmos.-Ocean*, 48: 225–243. doi:10.3137/OC317.2010.
- Birnbaum, G., C. Lupkes. 2002. A New Parameterization of Surface Drag in the Marginal Sea Ice Zone. *Tellus* 54A: 107–123.
- Brase, C.H., C.P. Brase. 2009. Understandable Statistics-concepts and Methods. Houghton Mifflin Company. New York, NY. 705.
- Brown, R.D. and P. Cote. 1992. Interannual Landfast Ice Thickness in the Canadian High Arctic, 1950– 1989. Arctic 45: 273–284.
- Chapman, W.L. and Walsh, J.E. 1993. Recent Variations of Sea Ice and Air Temperature in High Latitudes. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 74(1): 33–47.
- Claussen, M. 1991. Local Advection Processes in the Surface Layer of the Marginal Ice Zone. *Boundary-Layer Meteorology* 54: 1–27.
- Cloude, S.R. and K.P. Papathanassiou. 1999. Surface Roughness and Polarimetric Entropy. Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium IGARSS '99. Proc. *IEEE 1999 International*: 2443–2445. DOI:10.1109/IGARSS.1999.771537.
- Colony, R. and A. S. Thorndike. 1984. An Estimate of the Mean Field of Arctic Sea Ice Motion, J. Geophys. Res. 89(C6): 10,623–10,629. doi:10.1029/JC089iC06p10623.
- Colony, R. and A. S. Thorndike. 1985. Sea Ice Motion as a Drunkard's Walk. J. Geophys. Res. 90(C1): 965–974. doi:10.1029/JC090iC01p00965.
- Comiso, J. C., 2012: Large Decadal Decline of the Arctic Multiyear Ice Cover. J. Climate, 25, 1176–1193. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-11-00113.1.

- Comiso J.C., D.J. Cavalieri and T. Markus. 2003. Sea Ice Concentration, Ice Temperature, and Snow Depth Using AMSR-E Data. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing* 41: 243–252. DOI: 10.1109/TGRS.2002.808317.
- Comiso, J. C. 2006. Abrupt Decline in the Arctic Winter Sea Ice Cover. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 33: L18504, doi:10.1029/2006GL027341.
- Comiso, J. C., C. L. Parkinson, R. Gersten, and L. Stock. 2008. Accelerated Decline in the Arctic Sea Ice Cover. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 35: L01703, doi:10.1029/2007GL031972.
- Copland, L., D. R. Mueller, and L. Weir. 2007. Rapid loss of the Ayles Ice Shelf, Ellesmere Island, Canada, Geophys. Res. Lett., 34, L21501, doi:10.1029/2007GL031809.
- Dean, K.G., W, J. Stringer, K. Ahlnas, C. Searcy and T. Weingarten. 1994. The Influence of River Discharge on the Thawing of Sea Ice, Mackenzie River Delta: Albedo and Temperature Analyses. *Polar Research* 13: 83–94.
- Deser, C., and H. Teng. 2008. Evolution of Arctic Sea Ice Concentration Trends and the Role of Atmospheric Circulation Forcing, 1979–2007. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 35: L02504, doi:10.1029/2007GL032023.
- Deser, C., J. E. Walsh, and M. S. Timlin. 2000. Arctic Sea Ice Variability in the Context of Recent Wintertime Atmospheric Circulation Trends. *J. Clim.* 13: 617–633.
- Dickson, R. R., T. J. Osborn, J. W. Hurrell, J. Meincke, J. Blindheim, B. Adlandsvik, T. Vinje, G. Alekseev, and W. Maslowski. 2000. The Arctic Ocean Response to the North Atlantic Oscillation, *J. Clim.* 13: 2671–2696.
- Drobot, S. D., and J. A. Maslanik. 2003. Interannual Variability in Summer Beaufort Sea Ice Conditions: Relationship to Winter and Summer Surface and Atmospheric Variability. *J. Geophys. Res.* 108(C7): 3233, doi:10.1029/2002JC001537.
- Drue C. and G. Heinemann. 2002. Turbulence Structures over the Marginal Ice Zone Under Flow Parallel to the Ice Edge: Measurements and Parameterizations. *Boundary-Layer Meteorology* 102: 83-116.
- Dumas, J., C.E. Carmack, and H. Melling. 2005. Climate Change Impacts on the Beaufort Shelf Landfast Ice. *Cold Regions Science and Technology* 42(1): 41–51.
- Falk-Petersen, S, H. Hop, W.P. Budgell, E.N. Hegseth, R. Korsnes, T.B. Loyning, J.B. Orbaek, T. Kawamura, and K. Shirasawa. 2000. Physical and Ecological Processes in the Marginal Ice Zone of the Northern Barents Sea During the Summer Melt Period. *Journal of Marine Systems* 27: 131–159.
- Fer, I, and A. Sundfjord. 2007. Observations of Upper Ocean Boundary Layer Dynamics in the Marginal Ice Zone. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 112 (C04012): DOI:10.1029/2005JC003428.
- Fissel, D.B. and J.R. Marko, 2011. Understanding the changing Arctic sea ice regime. Essay in: J. Ocean Technology, Vol. 6(3), October 2011.

- Fissel, D.B., J.R. Marko and M. Martínez de Saavedra Álvarez. 2009. *The Changing Met-Ocean and Ice Conditions in the Beaufort Sea: Implications for Offshore Oil and Gas.* Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the International Society of Offshore and Polar Engineers. Osaka, Japan.
- Fissel, D., H. Melling, D. Billenness, K. Borg, N. Kulan, M. Martinez de Saavedra Álvarez and A. Slonimer, 2012. The Changing Wave Climate over the Beaufort Sea Shelf, 2001-2010. Paper presented at the International Polar Year (IPY 2012) Conference, Montreal, QC, Canada, April 2012.
- Flato, G. M., and R. D. Brown. 1996. Variability and Climate Sensitivity of Landfast Arctic Sea Ice. *J. Geophys. Res.* 101(C11): 25,767–25,777, doi:10.1029/96JC02431.
- Galley, R.J., E. Key, D.G. Barber, B.J. Hwang, and J.K. Ehn. 2008. Spatial and Temporal Variability of Sea Ice in the Southern Beaufort Sea and Amundsen Gulf: 1980–2004. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 113 (C05S95): doi:10.1029/2007JC004553.
- Galley, R.J., S. E. Howell. J.V. Lukovich and D. G. Barber. 2012. Landfast Sea Ice Conditions in the Canadian Arctic: 1983–2009. *Arctic*. 65(2).
- Grenfel, I T.C. 1992. Surface-based Passive Microwave Studies of Multiyear Sea Ice. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 97(C3): 3485–3501.
- Grenfell, T.C. and A.W. Lohanick. 1985. Temporal Variations of the Microwave Signatures of Sea Ice During the Late Spring and Early Summer Near Mould Bay NWT. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 90(C3): 5063–5074.
- Grenfell, T.C., D.G. Barber, A.K. Fung, A.J. Gow, K.C. Jezek, E.J. Knapp, S.V. Nghiem, R.G. Onstott, D.K. Perovich, C.S. Roesler, C.T. Swift, and F. Tanis. 1998. Evolution of Electromagnetic Signatures of Sea Ice from Initial Formation to the Establishment of Thick First-Year Ice. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing* 36(5): 1642–1654.
- Grody, N. 2008. Relationship Between Snow Parameters and Microwave Satellite Measurements: Theory Compared with Advanced Microwave Sounding Unit Observations from 23 to 150 GHz. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 113 (D22108): doi: 10.1029/2007JD009685.
- Guest, P.S. and K.L. Davidson. 1991. The Aerodynamic Roughness of Different Types of Sea Ice. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 96: 4709–4721.
- Gupta, M. and D.G. Barber. 2011. Surface Roughness Statistics of Marginal Ice Zone Using Active and Passive Microwave Remote Sensing. (In preparation).
- Haas, C., A. Pfaffling, S. Hendricks, L. Rabenstein, J.L. Etienne, and I. Rigor. 2008. Reduced Ice Thickness in Arctic Transpolar Drift Favors Rapid Ice Retreat. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 35: L17501, doi:10.1029/2008GL034457.
- Haas, C., S. Hendricks, H. Eicken and A. Herber. 2010. Synoptic Airborne Thickness Surveys Reveal State of Arctic Sea Ice Cover. Geophysical Research Letters 37: L09501.
- Hajnsek, I., E. Pottier, and S.R. Cloude. 2003. Inversion of Surface Parameters from Polarimetric SAR. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Rem. Sens.* 41: 727–744.

- Hakkinen, S., A. Proshutinsky, and I. Ashik. 2008. Sea Ice Drift in the Arctic since the 1950s. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 35: L19704, doi:10.1029/2008GL034791.
- Holmes, Q.A., D.R. Nüesch, and R.A. Shuchman. 1984. Textural Analysis and Real-time Classification of Sea-ice Types Using Digital SAR Data. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Rem.* GE-22: 113–120.
- Hong S. 2010. Detection of Small-scale Roughness and Refractive Index of Sea Ice in Passive Satellite Microwave Remote Sensing. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 114: 1136–1140.
- Hutchings, J.K. and W.D. Hibler. 2008. Small-scale Sea Ice Deformation in the Beaufort Sea Seasonal Ice Zone. Journal of Geophysical Research 113: C08032.
- Isleifson, D., B. Hwang, D.G. Barber, R.K. Scharien, and L. Shafai. 2010. C-band Polarimetric Backscattering Signatures of Newly Formed Sea Ice During Fall Freeze-up. *IEEE Transactions* on Geoscience and Remote Sensing 48: 3256–3267.
- Jackson, J.M., S.E. Allen, F.A. McLaughlin, R.A. Woodgate, and E.C. Carmack. 2011. Changes to the Near Surface Waters in the Canada Basin, Arctic Ocean from 1993–2009: A Basin in Transition. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 116: C10008.
- Johannessen, O. A., L. Bengtsson, M.W. Miles, S.I. Kuzima, V.A. Semenov, G.V. Alekseev, A.P. Nagurnyi, V.F. Zakaharov, L.P. Bobylev, L.H. Pettersson, K. Hasselmann, H.P. Cattle. 2004. Arctic Climate Change: Observed and Modeled Temperature and Sea-ice Variability. *Tellus*, Ser. A, 56: 328–341.
- Johannessen, O.M., J.A. Johannessen, E. Svendsen, R.A. Shuchman, W.J. Campbell, and E. Josberger. 1987. Ice-edge Eddies in the Fram Strait Marginal Ice Zone. *Science* 236(4800): 427–429.
- Ketchum, R.D. Jr. 1971. Airborne Laser Profiling of the Arctic Pack Ice. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 2: 41-52.
- Kwok, R. 2000. Recent Changes in Arctic Ocean Sea Ice Motion Associated with the North Atlantic Oscillation. *Geophysical Research Letters* 27: 775–778.
- Kwok, R. 2006a. Exchange of Sea Ice between the Arctic Ocean and the Canadian Arctic Archipelago. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 33: L16501, doi:10.1029/2006GL027094.
- Kwok, R. 2006b. Contrasts in Sea Ice Deformation and Production in the Arctic Seasonal and Perennial Ice Zones. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 111: C11S22, doi:10.1029/2005JC003246.
- Kwok, R. and D A. Rothrock. 2009. Decline in Arctic Sea Ice Thickness from Submarine and ICESat Records: 1958–2008. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 36: L15501, doi:10.1029/2009GL039035.
- Kwok, R. and D.A. Rothrock. 1999. Variability of Fram Strait Ice Flux and North Atlantic Oscillation. *J. Geophys. Res.* 104: 5177–5189.
- Kwok, R. and G.F. Cunningham. 2008. ICESat over Arctic Sea Ice: Estimation of Snow Depth and Ice Thickness. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 113 (C08010): DOI:10.1029/2008JC004753.
- Kwok, R. and G.F. Cunningham. 2010. Contribution of Melt in the Beaufort Sea to the Decline in Arctic Multiyear Sea Ice Coverage: 1993–2009. Geophys. Res. Lett. 37: L20501, doi:10.1029/2010GL044678.

- Kwok, R. and N. Untersteiner. 2011. The Thinning of Arctic Sea Ice. Physics Today 64(4): 36-41.
- Kwok, R., G.F. Cunningham, M. Wensnaha, I. Rigor, H.J. Zwally, D. Yi. 2009. Thinning and Volume Loss of the Arctic Ocean Sea Ice Cover: 2003–2008. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 114: C07005.
- Lavoie, D., R.W. Macdonald, and K.L. Denman. 2009. Primary Productivity and Export Fluxes on the Canadian Shelf of the Beaufort Sea: A Modeling Study. *J. Mar. Sys.* 75: 17-32.
- LeDrew, E.F., D. Johnson, and J.A. Maslanik. 1991. An Examination of Atmospheric Mechanisms that may be Responsible for the Annual Reversal of the Beaufort Sea Ice Field. *Int. J. Clim.* 11: 841–859.
- Lee, J.S., D. L. Schuler, and T.L. Ainsworth. 2000. Polarimetric SAR Data Compensation for Terrain Azimuth Slope Variation, IEEE Trans. *Geosci. Rem. Sci.* 38: 2153–2163.
- Lemke, P., J. Ren, R. Alley, I. Allison, J. Carrasco, G. Flato, Y. Fujii, G. Kaser, P. Mote, R. Thomas and T. Zhang. 2007. Observations: Change in Snow, Ice and Frozen Ground. In: *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*. Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. 337–383.
- Leppäranta, M. 2005. The Drift of Sea Ice. Springer Praxis Publishing Ltd. Chichester, UK.
- Lewis, J.K. and J.A. Richter-Menge. 1998. Motion-induced Stresses in Pack Ice. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 103(C10): 21,831–21,843.
- Lindsay, R.W. and J. Zhang. 2005. The Thinning of Arctic Sea Ice, 1988–2003. Have we Passed a Tipping Point? *Journal of Climate* 18: 4879–4894.
- Lu P., Z.J. Li, Z.H. Zhang and X.L. Dong. 2008. Aerial Observations of Floe Size Distribution in the Marginal Ice Zone of Summer Prydz Bay. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 113 (C02011): DOI:10.1029/2006JC003965.
- Lukovich, J.V. and D.G. Barber. 2005. On Sea-ice Concentration Anomaly Coherence in the Southern Beaufort Sea. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 32: 10, L10706.
- Lukovich, J.V. and D.G. Barber. 2006. Atmospheric Controls of Sea Ice Motion in the Southern Beaufort Sea. *J. Geophys. Res.* 111, D18103, doi:10.1029/2005JD006408.
- Lukovich, J.V. and D.G. Barber. 2007. On the Spatiotemporal Behavior of Sea Ice Concentration (SIC) Anomalies in the Northern Hemisphere. *J. Geophys. Res.* 112: D13117, doi:10.1029/2006JD007836.
- Lukovich, J.V. and D.G. Barber. 2009. On Horizontal Wind Gradient Variability from the stratosphere to the Lower Troposphere in the Arctic. *J. Geophys. Res.* 114: D02104, doi:10.1029/2007JD009552.
- Lukovich, J.V., D. Babb and D.G. Barber. 2011. On the Scaling Laws Derived from Ice Beacon Trajectories in the Southern Beaufort Sea During the IPY-CFL Study, 2007–2008. *J. Geophys. Res.* doi:10.1029/2011JC007049, in press.

- Lukovich, J.V., D.G. Babb and D.G. Barber. 2011. Ice Beacon Trajectories in the Arctic During the IPY-CFL Study. *J. Geophys. Res.* doi:10.1029/2011JC007049.
- Lukovich, J.V., M.G. Asplin and D.G. Barber. 2009. Atmospheric Forcing of the Beaufort Sea Ice Gyre: Surface-stratosphere Coupling. *J. Geophys. Res.* 114: C00A03, doi:10.1029/2008JC004849.
- Macdonald, R.W., E.C. Carmack, F.A. McLaughlin, K.K. Falkner, J.H. Swift. 1999. Connections among Ice, Runoff and Atmospheric Forcing in the Beaufort Gyre. Geophysical Research Letters 26(15): 2223–2226.
- Markham, W.E. 1975. *Ice Climatology of the Beaufort Sea*. Beaufort Sea Project, Dept. of the Environment. Victoria, BC.
- Markus, T., J.C. Stroeve and J. Miller. 2009. Recent Changes in Arctic Sea Ice Melt Onset, Freezeup and Melt Season Length. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 114: C12024.
- Maslanik, J., J. Stroeve, C. Fowler, and W. Emery. 2011. Distribution and trends in Arctic sea ice age through spring 2011. Geophysical Research Letters 38, L13502 doi:10.1029/2011GL047735.
- Maslanik, J.A., M.C. Serreze and R.G. Barry. 1996. Recent Decreases in Arctic Surface Ice Cover and Linkages to Atmospheric Circulation Anomalies. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 23(13): 1677–1680.
- Maykut, G.A. and D.K. Perovich. 1987. The Role of Shortwave Radiation in the Summer Decay of a Sea Ice Cover. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 92(C7): 7032–7044.
- Maykut, G.A. and M.G. McPhee. 1995. Solar Heating of the Arctic Mixed Layer. *Journal of geophysical Research* 100(C12): 24,691–24,703.
- McLaren, A.S., M.C. Serreze and R.G. Barry. 1987. Seasonal Variations of Sea Ice Motion in the Canada Basin and their Implications. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 14: 1123–1126.
- McLaughlin, F., E. Carmack, A. Proshutinsky, R.A. Krishfield, C. Guay, M. Yamamoto-Kawai, J.M. Jackson and B. Williams. 2011. The Rapid Response of the Canada Basin to Climate Forcing. *Oceanography* 24(3): 146–159.
- McPhee, M.G., J.H. Morison and F. Nilsen. 2008. Revisiting Heat and Salt Exchange at the Ice-ocean Interface: Ocean Flux and Modeling Considerations. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 113 (C06014): DOI:10:1029/2007JC004383.
- Melling, H. 1998. Detection of Features in First-year Pack Ice by Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR). *Int. J. Rem. Sens.* 19: 1223–1249.
- Melling, H., D. A. Riedel, and Z. Gedalof. 2005. Trends in the Draft and Extent of Seasonal Pack Ice, Canadian Beaufort Sea. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 32: L24501, doi:10.1029/2005GL024483.
- Nakamura, K., H. Wakabayashi, K. Naoki, F. Nishio, T. Moriyama and S. Uratsuka. 2005. Observation of Sea-ice Thickness in the sea of Okhotsk by using Dual-frequency and Fully Polarimetric Airborne SAR (Pi-SAR) Data. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Rem. Sens.* 43: 2460–2469.
- Nghiem, S.V., I.G. Rigor, D.K. Perovich, P. Clemente-Colon, J.W. Weatherly and G. Neumann. 2007. Rapid Reduction of Arctic Perennial Sea Ice. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 34: L19504, doi:10.1029/2007GL031138.

- Nghiem, S.V., I.G. Rigor, A. Richter, J.P. Burrows, P.B. Shepson, J.W. Bottenheim, D.G. Barber, A. Steffen, J.R. Latonas, F. Wang, G.A. Stern, P. Clemente-Colon, S. Martin, D.K. Hall, L. Kaleschke, P.J. Tackett, G. Neumann and M.G.G. Asplin. 2012. Field and Satellite Observations of the Formation and Distribution of Arctic Atmospheric Bromine above a Rejuvenated Sea Ice Cover. J. Geophys. Res. doi:10.1029/2011JD016268.
- Overland, J. 2009. Meteorology of the Beaufort Sea. Journal of Geophysical Research 114.
- Parkinson, C.L. and D.J. Cavalieri. 2002. A 21 year Record of Arctic Sea-Ice Extents and their Regional, Seasonal and Monthly Variability. *Annals of Glaciology* 34: 441–446.
- Parkinson, C.L., D.J. Cavalieri, P. Gloersen, H.J. Zwally and J.C. Comiso. 1999. Arctic Sea Ice Extents, Areas, and Trends, 1978–1996. *J. Geophys. Res.* 104: 20,837–20,856.
- Perovich, D., W. Meier, J. Maslanik, and J. Richter-Menge. 2011. *Sea Ice*. In Arctic Report Card 2011. Available at: http://www.arctic.noaa.gov/reportcard. Accessed: March 2012.
- Perovich, D.K. 2011. The Changing Arctic Sea Ice Cover. Oceanography 24(3): 162–173.
- Perovich, D.K. and W.B. Tucker III. 1989. Oceanic Heat Flux in the Fram Strait Measured by a Drifting Buoy. *Geophysical Research Letters* 16(9): 995–998.
- Perovich, D.K., B.C. Elder and J.A. Richter-Menge. 1997. Observations of the Annual Cycle of Sea Ice Temperature and Mass Balance. *Geophysical Research Letters* 24(5): 555–558.
- Perovich, D.K., J. Longacre, D.G. Barber, R.A. Maffione, G.F. Cota, C.D. Mobley, A.J. Gow, R.G. Onstott, T.C. Grenfell, W.S. Pegau, M. Landry and C.S. Roesler. 1998. Field Observations of the Electromagnetic Properties of First-year Sea Ice. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing* 36(5): 1705–1715.
- Perovich, D.K., J.A. Richter-Menge, K.F. Jones and B. Light. 2008. Sunlight, Water and Ice: Extreme Arctic Sea Ice Melt during the summer of 2007. *Geophysical Research Letters* 35: L11501.
- Perovich, D.K., T.C. Grenfell, J.A. Richter-Menge, B. Light, W.B. Tucker III and H. Eicken. 2003. Thin and Thinner: Sea Ice Mass Balance Measurements during SHEBA. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 108 (C3, 8050).
- Perrie, W and Y. Hu. 1996. Air-ice Ocean Momentum Exchange. Part I: Energy Rransfer between Waves and Ice Floes. *Journal of Physical Oceanography* 26: 1705–1720.
- Polyakov, I.V., A. Beszczynska, E.C. Carmack, I.A. Dmitrenko, E. Fahrbach, I.E. Frolov, R. Gerdes,
 E. Hansen, J. Holfort, V.V. Ivanov, M.A. Johnson, M. Karcher, F. Kauker, J. Morison, K.A. Orvik,
 U. Schauer, H.L. Simmons, Ø. Skagseth, V.T. Sokolov, M. Steele, L.A. Timokhov, D. Walsh, and
 J.E. Walsh. 2005. One More Step toward a Warmer Arctic. *Geophysical Research Letters* 32:
 L17605, doi:10.1029/2005GL023740.
- Prinsenberg, S.J., A.V.D. Baaren and I.K. Peterson. 2006. Ice Ridging and Ice Drift in Southern Gulf of St Lawrence, Canada during Winter Storms. *Annals of Glaciology* 44: 411–417.

- Proshutinsky, A., R. Krishfield, M.L. TImmermans, J. Toole, E. Carmack, F. McLaughlin, W.J. Williams, S. Zimmermann, M. Itoh, K. Shimada. 2009. Beaufort Gyre Freshwater Reservoir: State and Variability from Observations. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 114: C00A10.
- Proshutinsky, A., R.H. Bourke and F.A. McLaughlin. 2002. The Role of the Beaufort Gyre in Arctic Climate Variability: Seasonal to Decadal Climate Scales. *Geophysical Research Letters* 29(23): doi:10/1029/2002GL015847.
- Proshutinsky, A.Y. and M.A. Johnson. 1997. Two Circulation Regimes of the Wind-driven Arctic Ocean. *J. Geophys. Res.* 102(C8): 12,493–12,514.
- Rampal, P., J. Weiss and D. Marsan. 2009. Positive Trend in the Mean Speed and Deformation Rate of Arctic Sea Ice, 1979–2007. *J. Geophys. Res.* 114: C05013, doi:10.1029/2008JC005066.
- Rampal, P., J. Weiss, D. Marsan and M. Bourgoin. 2009. Arctic Sea Ice Velocity Field: General Circulation and Turbulent-like Fluctuations. J. Geophys. Res. 114: C10014, doi:10.1029/2008JC005227.
- Richter-Menge, J.A. and B.C. Elder. 1998. Characteristics of Pack Ice Stress in the Alaskan Beaufort Sea. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 103(C10): 21,817–21,829.
- Rignot, E. and M.R. Drinkwater. 1994. Winter Sea-ice Mapping from Multi-parameter Synthetic-aperture Radar Data. *J. Glaciol.* 40: 31-45.
- Rigor, I.G. and J.M. Wallace. 2004. Variations in the Age of Arctic Sea-ice and Summer Sea Ice Extent. *Geophysical Research Letters* 31: L09401.
- Rigor, I.G., J.M. Wallace and R.L. Colony. 2002. Response of Sea Ice to the Arctic Oscillation. *J. Clim.* 15: 2648–2663.
- Rivas, M.B., J.A. Maslanik, J.G. Sonntag and P. Axelrad. 2006. Sea Ice Roughness from Airborne LIDAR Profiles. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing* 44(11): 3032–3037.
- Rothrock, D. A., Y. Yu, and G. A. Maykut. 1999. Thinning of the Arctic Sea-ice Cover. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 26(23): 3469–3472.
- Serreze, M., J. Box, R. Barry and J. Walsh. 1993. Characteristics of Arctic Synoptic Activity, 1952–1989. *Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics* 51: 147–164.
- Serreze, M.C. and J.A. Francis. 2006. The Arctic Amplification Debate. *Climatic Change* 76(3–4): 241–264.
- Serreze, M.C. and R.G. Barry. 2011. Processes and Impacts of Arctic Amplification: A Research Synthesis. *Global and Planetary Change* 77: 85-96.
- Serreze, M.C., J.E. Walsh, F.S. Chapin, T. Osterkamp, M. Dyurgerov, V. Romanovsky, W.C.Oechel, J. Morison, T. Zhang and R.G. Barry. 2000. Observational Evidence of Recent Change in the Northern High Latitude Environment. *Climatic Change* 46:159–207.
- Spreen, G., R. Kwok and D. Menemenlis. 2011. Trends in Arctic Sea Ice Drift and Role of Wind Forcing: 1992–2009. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 38: L19501, doi:10.1029/2011GL048970.

Squire, V.A. 1995. Of Ocean Waves and Sea Ice. Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics 27: 115–168.

- Squire, V.A. and S.C. Moore. 1980. Direct Measurement of the Attenuation of Ocean Waves by Pack Ice. *Nature* 283: 365–368.
- Steele, M., W. Ermold and J. Zhang. 2008. Arctic Ocean Surface Warming Trends over the Past 100 Years. *Geophysical Research Letters* 35: L02614.
- Steiner, N., M. Harder and P. Lemke. 1999. Sea-ice Roughness and Drag Coefficients in a Dynamicthermodynamic Sea-ice Model for the Arctic. *Tellus* 51A: 964–978.
- Stirling, I., N.J. Lunn, J. Iacozza, C. Elliott and M. Obbard. 2004. Polar Bear Distribution and Abundance on the Southwestern Hudson Bay Coast during Open Water Season, in Relation to Population Trends and Annual Ice Patterns. *Arctic* 57(1): 15-26.
- Stroeve, J., M.M. Holland, W. Meier, T. Scambos and M. Serreze. 2007. Arctic Sea Ice Decline: Faster than Forecast. *Geophysical Research Letters* 34: L09501, doi:10.1029/2007GL029703.
- Stroeve, J.C., J. Maslanik, M.C. Serreze, I. Rigor, W. Meier and C. Fowler. 2011. Sea Ice Response to an Extreme Negative Phase of the Arctic Oscillation during Winter 2009/2010. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 38: L02502, doi:10.1029/2010GL045662.
- Stroeve, J.C., T. Markus, J.A. Maslanik, D.J. Cavalieri, A.J. Gasiewski, J.F. Heinrichs, J. Holmgren, D.K. Perovich and M. Sturm. 2006. Impact of Surface Roughness on AMSR-E Sea Ice Products. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing* 44: 3103–3117.
- Thorndike, A.S. and R. Colony. 1982. Sea Ice Motion in Response to Geostrophic Winds. *J. Geophys. Res.* 87(C8): 5845–5852, doi:10.1029/JC087iC08p05845.
- Timmermans, M.L., A. Proshutinsky, R.A. Krishfield, D.K. Perovich, J.A. Richter-Menge, T.P. Stanton and J.M. Toole. 2011. Surface Freshening in the Arctic Ocean's Eurasian Basin: An apparent Consequence of Recent Change in the Wind-driven Circulation. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 116: C00D03.
- Tremblay, J.E., S. Bélanger, D.G. Barber, M. Asplin, J. Martin, G. Darnis, L. Fortier, Y. Gratton, H. Link, P. Archambault, A. Sallon, C. Michel, W.G. Williams, B. Philippe and M. Gosselin. 2011. Climate Forcing Multiplies Biological Productivity in the Coastal Arctic Ocean. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 38: L18604, doi:10.1029/2011GLo48825.
- Ulaby, F.T., R.K. Moore and A.K. Fung. 1986. *Microwave Remote Sensing, vol. III*. Artech House. Norwood, MA. 1120.
- Vant, M.R., R.O. Ramseier and V. Makios. 1978. The Complex-dielectric Constant of Sea Ice at Frequencies in the Range 0.1-40 GHz. *Journal of Applied Physics* 49 (3): 1264–1280.
- Wadhams, P. and N. R. Davis. 2000. Further evidence of ice thinning in the Arctic Ocean, Geophys. Res. Lett., 27, 3973– 3975.
- Wadhams, P., N. Hughes and J. Rodrigues. 2011. Arctic Sea Ice Thickness Characteristics in winter 2004 and 2007 from Submarine Sonar Transects. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 116: C00E02.

- Wadhams, P., V.A. Squire, D.J. Goodman, A.M. Cowan and S.C. Moore. 1988. The Attenuation Rates of Ocean Waves in the Marginal Ice Zone. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 93: 6799–6818.
- Walker, N., K. Partington, M. Woert and T. Street. 2006. Arctic Sea Ice Type and Concentration Mapping using Passive and Active Microwave Sensors. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing* 44(12).
- Wallace, J.M. and D.W.J. Thompson. 2002. Annular Modes and Climate Prediction. *Physics Today* 55: 28–33.
- Walsh, J., W. Chapman and T. Shy. 1996. Recent Decrease of Sea Level Pressure in the Central Arctic. *Journal of Climate* 9:480–486.
- Wang, M. and J.E. Overland. 2009. A Sea Ice Free Summer Arctic within 30 years? *Geophysical Research Letters* 36: L07502, doi:10.1029/2009GL037820.
- Wang, X.L., H. Wan and V.R. Swail. 2006. Observed Changes in Cyclone Activity in Canada and their Relationship to Major Circulation Regimes. *Journal of Climate* 19: 896–915.
- Winebrenner, D.P., L.D. Farmer and I.R. Joughin. 1995. On the Response of Polarimetric Synthetic Aperture Radar Signatures at 24-cm wavelength to Sea Ice Thickness in Arctic leads. *Radio Sci.* 30: 373–402.
- Wohl, G.M. 1995. Operational Sea Ice Classification from Synthetic Aperture Radar Imagery. *Photogramm. Engg. Rem. Sens.* 61: 1455–1462.
- Yang, J. 2009. Seasonal and Interannual Variability of Downwelling in the Beaufort Sea. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 114: C00A14.
- Yu, Y., G.A. Maykut, and D.A. Rothrock. 2004. Changes in the Thickness Distribution of Arctic Sea Ice between 1958–1970 and 1993–1997. J. Geophys. Res. 109: C08004, doi:10.1029/ 2003JC001982.
- Zhang, J. 2005. Warming of the Arctic Ice-ocean System is Faster than the Global Average since the 1960s. *Geophysical Research Letters* 32: L19602, doi:10.1029/2005GL024216.
- Zhang, J., D. Rothrock and M. Steele. 2000. Recent Changes in Arctic Sea Ice: the Interplay between Ice dynamics and Thermodynamics. *Journal of Climate* 13: 3099 3114.
- Zhang, J., M. Steele, and A. Schweiger. 2010. Arctic Sea Ice Response to Atmospheric Forcings with Varying Levels of Anthropogenic Warming and Climate Variability. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 37: L20505, doi:10.1029/2010GL044988.
- Zhang, X. and J.E. Walsh. 2006. Toward a seasonally ice-covered Arctic Ocean: Scenarios from the IPCCAR4 Model Simulations. *Climate* 19: 1730–1747.
- Zhang, X., J.E. Walsh, J. Zhang, U.S. Bhatt, and M. Ikeda. 2004. Climatology and Interannual Variability of Arctic Cyclone Activity: 1948 2002. *Journal of Climate* 17(12): 2300–2317.
- Zhang, X., M. Ikeda and J.E. Walsh. 2003. Arctic Sea Ice and Freshwater Changes Driven by the Atmospheric Leading Mode in a Coupled Sea Ice-ocean Model. *Journal of Climate* 16: 2159– 2177.

Zhao Y. and A. Liu. 2007. Arctic Sea Ice Motion and its Relation to Pressure Field, *Journal of Oceanography* 63: 505–515.

A.3 Atmosphere

- Asplin, M. G., R. Galley, D. G. Barber, and S. Prinsenberg. 2012. Fracture of summer perennial sea ice by ocean swell as a result of Arctic storms. J. Geophys. Res., 117, C06025, doi:10.1029/2011JC007221.
- Atkinson, D.E. 2005. Observed Storminess Patterns and Trends in the Circum-Arctic Coastal Regime. *Geo-Marine Letters* 25: 98 –109.
- Cassano, J. J., and T. R. Parish. 2000. An analysis of the nonhydrostatic dynamics in numerically simulated Antarctic katabatic flows. J. Atmos. Sci., 57, 891–898.
- Gauthier, M-F., B. Beaulieu, P. Pellerin, D. Tessmer, P. McCarthy and P. Silva, 2012. The METAREA Initiative – A New Canadian Responsibility. CMOS Bulletin, 40(2), 157-162. Canadian Meteorological and Oceanographic Society, Ottawa ON Canada,
- Hakkinen, S., A. Proshutinsky, and I. Ashik. 2008. Sea Ice Drift in the Arctic since the 1950s. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 35: L19704, doi:10.1029/2008GL034791.
- Hudak, D.R. and M.C. Young. 2002. Storm Climatology of the Southern Beaufort Sea. *Atmosphere-Ocean* 40(2): 145–148.
- Komarov, A.S., V. Zabeline, and D. G. Barber. 2012. Ocean surface wind speed retrieval from C-band SAR images without input of wind direction. In review
- Long, Z. and W. Perrie. 2010. *Impacts of Air-sea Interactions on an Arctic Storm*. Unpublished manuscript, McGill University. Available at: http://www.mcgill.ca/files/meteo/perrie-50.pdf. Accessed: March 2012.
- Lukovich, J., and D. Barber (2006), Atmospheric controls on sea ice motion in the Southern Beaufort Sea, *J. Geophys. Res.*. 111, D18103, doi:10.1029/2005JD006408.
- McBean, G., G. Alekseev, D. Chen, E. Førland, J. Fyfe, P.Y. Groisman, R. King, H. Melling, R. Vose and P.H. Whitfield. 2005. Arctic Climate: Past and Present. Arctic Climate Impacts Assessment (ACIA). C. Symon, L. Arris and B. Heal (eds.). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom. 21-60.
- Moore, G. W. K., and R. S. Pickart, 2012. Recent Amplification of the Summer Beaufort Sea High and its Impact on Chukchi Sea Extent and Oceanic Circulation. : Poster presented at IPY2012 Conference, Montreal, Canada, April, 2012.
- Overland, J.E. 2011. Atmosphere Summary, *Temperature and Clouds*. In Arctic Report Card 2011. Available at: http://www.arctic.noaa.gov/reportcard. Accessed: March 2012.
- Prowse, T., C. Furgal, B. Bonsal, H. Melling, D. Peters, and S. Smith. 2009a. Implication of changing climate for northern Canada: Energy, Resource, and Transportation Sectors. Ambio 38: 272–281. BioOne.

Raddatz, R.L., R. J. Galley and D. G. Barber. 2011. Linking the atmospheric boundary layer to the Amundsen Gulf sea ice cover: a mesoscale to synoptic-scale perspective from winter to summer 2008. Boundary Layer Meteorology. Doi:10.1007/s10546-011-9669-2.

A.4 Physical Oceanography

- Carmack, E.C. and R.W. Macdonald. 2002. Oceanography of the Canadian Shelf of the Beaufort Sea: A Setting for Marine Life. *Arctic* 55(Supp.1): 29-45.
- Hoque, M.A., S. M. Solomon and W. Perrie. 2008. Nearshore Waves in the Southern Beaufort Sea During Severe Arctic Storms. Port and Ocean Engineering under Arctic Conditions, June 9-12, 2009. Luleå, Sweden.
- Pickart, R. S., M. A. Spall, G. W. K. Moore, T. J. Weingartner, R. A. Woodgate, K. Aagaard, and K. Shimada. 2011. Upwelling in the Alaskan Beaufort Sea: Atmospheric forcing and local versus on-local response, Progress in Oceanography, 88, 78 100.
- Proshutinsky, A., M.L. Timmermans, I. Ashik, A. Beszczynska-Moeller, E. Carmack, J. Eert, I. Frolov, M. Itoh, T. Kikuchi, R. Krishfield, F. McLaughlin, B. Rabe, U. Schauer, K. Shimada, V. Sokolov, M. Steele, J. Toole, W. Williams, R. Woodgate, and S. Zimmermann. 2011. *Ocean*. In Arctic Report Card 2011. Available at: http://www.arctic.noaa.gov/reportcard. Accessed: March 2012.
- Swail, V.R., V.J. Cardonne, B. Callahan, M. Ferguson, D.J. Gummer and A.T. Cox. 2007. The MSC Beaufort Wind and Wave Reanalysis. 10th International Conference on Wave Forecasting and Hindcasting. North Shore, Oahu, Hawaii.
- Williams, W.J., E.C. Carmack, K. Shimada, H. Melling, K. Aagaard, R.W. Macdonald and R.G. Ingram.
 2006. Joint Effects of Wind and Ice Motion in Forcing Upwelling in Mackenzie Trough, Beaufort
 Sea. Continental Shelf Research 26: 2352–2366.

A.5 Seabed and Coastal Processes

- Atkinson, D.E. 2005. Observed Storminess Patterns and Trends in the Circum-Arctic Coastal Regime. *Geo-Marine Letters* 25: 98 –109.
- Blasco K.A.,S.M. Blasco, R. Bennett, B. MacLean, W.A. Rainey, and E.H. Davies. 2010. Seabed geologic features and processes and their relationship with fluid seeps and the benthic environment in the Northwest Passage. Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 6438. 57 p.
- Blasco, S.M., J.M. Shearer, P. Campbell, B. Wright and H. Melling. 2004. Reduction in sea ice scour impact rates on the seabed 1979 to 2003, Canadian Beaufort Sea. Eos transactions, Joint assembly of the CGU, AGU, SEG and EEGS, Montreal, Canada, May 17-21. 85(17) C43A-1.
- Collett, T.S. and S.R. Dallimore 2002. Detailed analysis of gas hydrate induced drilling and production hazards. Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Gas Hydrates, Yokahama, Japan. P. 47-52.

- Dallimore S., C. Paull, T. Collett, Y Keun Jin, J. Mienert, K. Mangelsdorf, and M. Riedel. 2012. IODP-ICDP Pre-Proposal: Scientific drilling to investigate methane release and geologic processes associated with warming permafrost and gas hydrate deposits beneath the Beaufort Sea shelf. 10 p.
- Forbes, D.L. 2005. Coastal erosion. In: Encyclopedia of the Arctic. M. Nuttall (ed.). Routledge, New York and London, 1, 391–393 Government of Canada. 2009.
- Héquette, A., M. Desrosiers and P.W. Barnes. 1995. Sea ice scour on the inner shelf of the southeastern Canadian Beaufort Sea. Marine Geology 128: 201–219.
- James, T.S., K.M. Simon, D.L. Forbes, A.S. Dyke, S. Carriérre and D.J. Mate. 2011. Projections of relative sea-level change for the Northwest Territories and Nunavut. NWT Cumulative Impact Monitoring Program Annual Monitoring Results. Abstracts volume. Yellowknife Geoscience Forum. Yellowknife, NT. 96 p.
- Lintern, D.G., P.R. Hill, S. Solomon, T.R. Walker and J. Grant. 2005. Erodibility, sediment strength and storm resuspension in Kugmallit Bay, Beaufort Sea. Canadian Coastal Conference 2005, November 6–9, Dartmouth, Nova Scotia.
- Manson, G.K. and S.M. Solomon. 2007. Past and Future Forcing of the Beaufort Sea Coastal Change. *Atmosphere-Ocean* 45(2): 107–122.
- Nixon, M.F. and Grozic, J.L.H. 2007. Submarine slope failure due to gas hydrate dissociation; a preliminary quantification. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 44, pp. 314–332.
- Paull, C.K., S. Dallimore, J. Hughes-Clark, S. Blasco, E. Lundsten, W.III Ussler, D. Graves, A. Sherman,
 K. Conway, H. Melling, S. Vagle and T. Collett. 2011. Proceedings of the 7th International
 Conference of Gas Hydrates, Edinburg, Scotland. July, 2011.
- Shakhova, N., I. Semiletov, A. Salyuk, V. Yusupov, D. Kosmach and O. Gustafsson. 2010. Extensive Methane Venting to the Atmosphere from Sediments of the East Siberian Arctic Shelf. Science 327: 1246–1250.
- Smith, S.L. 2001. Natural gas hydrates. In: A Synthesis of Geological Hazards in Canada. G.R. Brooks (ed.). Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin 548, p. 265–280.
- Smith, S.L. and M.M. Burgess. 2004. *Sensitivity of Permafrost to Climate Warming in Canada*. Geological Survey of Canada Bulletin No. 579.

A.6 Biological (Fish, Zooplankton etc.)

- Fortier, L, S. Pascal, M. Josee, and D.G. Barber. 2006. Survival of Arctic Cod Larvae (*Boreogadus saida*) in Relation to Sea Ice and Temperature in the Northeast Water Polynya (Greenland Sea). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 63(7): 1608–1616.
- Hop, H., C.J. Mundy, M. Gosselin, A. Rossnagel and D.G. Barber. 2011. Zooplankton Boom and Ice Amphipod Bust below Melting Sea Ice in the Amundsen Gulf, Arctic Canada. Polar Biol. doi:10.1007/s00300-011-0991-4.

- Palmer, M., K.R. Arrigo, C.J. Mundy, J.K. Ehn. M. Gosselin, D.G. Barber, J. Martin, E. Alou, S. Roy and J.É. Tremblay. 2011. Spatial and Temporal Variation of Photosynthetic Parameters in Natural Phytoplankton Assemblages in the Beaufort Sea, Canadian Arctic. *Polar Biol.* doi:10.1007/s00300-011-1050-x.
- Stephenson, S.A. 2006. A review of the occurrence of Pacific salmon (*Onchrhynuhus* spp.) in the Canadian Western Arctic. *Arctic* 59: 37–46.
- Stephenson, S.A. 2004. Harvest studies in the Inuvialuit Settlement Region, Northwest Territories, Canada: 1999 and 2001-2003. Canadian Manuscript Report Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 2700: 34 p.

A.7 Marine Mammals

- Ashjian, C.J., S.R. Braund, R.G. Campbell, J.C George, J. Kruse, W. Maslowski, S.E. Moore, C.R. Nicolson, S.R. Okkonen, B.F. Sherr, E.B. Sherr, and Y. H. Spitz. 2010. Climate Variability, Oceanography, Bowhead Whale Distribution, and Inupiat Subsistence Whaling near Barrow, Alaska. Arctic 63: 179-194.
- Asselin, N.C., D. G. Barber, P. R. Richard and S. H. Ferguson. 2011. Occurrence, Distribution and Behaviour of Beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*) and Bowhead (*Belaena mysticetus*) Whales at the Franklin Bay Ice Edge in June 2008. *Arctic.* In press.
- Asselin, N.C., D.G. Barber, I. Stirling, S.H. Ferguson, and P.R. Richard. 2011. Beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*) Habitat Selection in the Eastern Beaufort Sea in Spring, 1975 to 1979. *Polar Biol.* doi:10.1007/s00300-011-0990-5.
- Burek, K.A., F.M.D. Gulland and T.M. Hara. 2008. Effects of Climate Change on Arctic Marine Mammal Health. *Ecological Applications* 18(sp2): S126–S134.
- Corry-Crowe, G. 2008. Climate Change and the Molecular Ecology of Arctic Marine Mammals. *Ecological Applications* 18(sp2): S56–S76.
- Derocher, A.E., N.J. Lunn and I. Stirling. 2004. Polar Bears in a Warming Climate. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 44: 163–176.
- Dyke, A.S. and T.F. Morris. 1990. Postglacial History of the Bowhead Whale and of Driftwood Penetration: Implications for Paleoclimate, Central Canadian Arctic. *Geological Survey of Canada Paper* 89-24: 1–17.
- Ferguson, S.H., I. Stirling and P. McLoughlin. 2005. Climate Change and Ringed Seal (*Phoca hispida*) Recruitment in Western Hudson Bay. *Marine Mammal Science* 21(1):121–135.
- Hays, G.C., A.J. Richardson and C. Robinson. 2005. Climate Change and Marine Plankton. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 20(6): 337–344.
- Hik, D. 2001. *State of Knowledge: Impacts of Climate Change on Biophysical Systems*. The Northern Climate Exchange Gap Analysis Project. University of Alberta. Edmonton, AB.

- Huntington, H.P. and S.E. Moore. 2008. Assessing the Impact of Climate Change on Arctic Marine Mammals. *Ecological Applications* 18(sp2): S1–S2.
- IWC. 1997. Report of the IWC Workshop on Climate Change and Cetaceans. *Rep. Int. Whal. Comm.* 47: 293–318.
- Laidre, K.L., I. Stirling, L.F. Lowry, Ø. Wiig, M.P. Heide-Jørgensen and S.H. Ferguson. 2008. Quantifying the Sensitivity of Arctic Marine Mammals to Climate-induced Habitat Change. *Ecological Applications* 18(Supplement: Arctic Marine Mammals): S97–S125.
- Moore, S.E. and H.P. Huntington. 2008. Arctic Marine Mammals and Climate Change: Impacts and Resilience. *Ecological Applications* 18(sp2): S157–S165.
- Moore, S.E., R.R. Reeves, B.L. Southall, T.J. Ragen, R.S. Suydam and C.W. Clark. 2012. A New Framework for Assessing the Effects of Anthropogenic Sound on Marine Mammals in a Rapidly Changing Arctic. *BioScience* 62(3): 289–295.
- O'Neill, S.J., T.J. Osborn, M. Hulme, I. Lorenzoni and A.R. Watkinson. 2008. Using Expert Knowledge to Assess Uncertainties in Future Polar Bear Populations Under Climate Change. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 45:1649–1659.
- Ragen, T.J., H.P. Huntington and G.K. Hovelsrud. 2008. Conservation of Arctic Marine Mammals Faced with Climate Change. *Ecological Applications* 18(sp2): S166–S174.
- Schindler, D.W. and J.P. Smol. 2006. Cumulative Effects of Climate Warming and Other Human Activities on Freshwaters of Arctic and Subarctic North America. *Ambio* 35(4): 160–168.
- Stirling, I. and A.E. Derocher. 2007. Melting Under Pressure the Real Scoop on Climate Warming and Polar Bears. *The Wildlife Professional* 1(3): 24–27.
- Stirling, I. and C.L. Parkinson. 2006. Possible Effects of Climate Warming on Selected Populations of Polar Bears (*Ursus maritimus*) in the Canadian Arctic. *Arctic* 59(3): 261–275.
- Tynan, C.T. and D.P. DeMaster. 1997. Observations and Predictions of Arctic Climate Change: Potential Effects on Marine Mammals. *Arctic* 50: 308–322.

A.8 Arctic Contaminants

A.8.1 Chemical Baseline

- Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). 1998. Assessment Report: Arctic Pollution Issues. Oslo, Norway.
- Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). 2005. AMAP Assessment 2002: Heavy Metals in the Arctic. Oslo, Norway.
- Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). 2004. AMAP Assessment 2002: Persistent Organic Pollutants in the Arctic. Oslo, Norway.
- Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). 2010. Assessment 2007: Oil and Gas Activities in the Arctic--Effects and Potential Effects. Oslo, Norway.

- CACAR. 2003. Canadian Arctic Contaminants Assessment Report II. Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. Ottawa, ON.
- Dome Petroleum Limited, Esso Resources Canada and Gulf Canada Resources Inc. 1982. *Beaufort* Sea—Mackenzie Delta Environmental Impact Statement. Vol 3 A. Beaufort Sea—Delta Setting. Dome Petroleum Limited. Calgary, Alberta.
- Macdonald, R.W., L.A. Barrie, T.F. Bidleman, M.I. Diamond, D.J. Gregor, R.G. Semkin, W.M.J. Stachan, Y.F. Li, F. Wania, M. Alaee, L.B. Alexeeva, S.M. Bachus, R. Bailey, J.M. Bewers, C. Gobeil, C.J. Halsall, T. Harner, J.T. Hoff, L.M.M. Jantunen, W.L. Lockhart, D. Mackay, D.C.G. Muir, J. Pudykiewicz, K.J. Reimer, J.N. Smith, G.A. stern, W.H. Schroeder, R. Wagemann, and M. Yunker. 2000. 5 Years of Progress in Understanding Sources, Occurrences and Pathways. *Sci. Tot. Environ.* 254: 93–234.
- Muir, D.C.G., R. Wagemann, B.T. Hargreaves, D.J.H. Thomas, D.B. Peakall and R.J. Norstrom. 1992. Arctic Marine Ecosystem Contamination. *Sci. Tot. Environ.* 122: 75–134.
- Wong, C.S., W.J. Cretney, P Christensen and R.W. Macdonald. 1976. Hydrocarbon Levels in the Marine Environment of the Southern Beaufort Sea. Beaufort Sea Technical Report No. 38. Department of the Environment. Victoria, BC.

A.8.2 Climate-Driven Impacts

- Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). 2003. AMAP Assessment 2003: The Influence of Global Climate Change on Contaminant Pathways to, within, and from the Arctic. Oslo, Norway.
- Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). 2011. *The Arctic as a Messenger for Global Climate Change*. Proceedings from the Conference May 3–6, 2011. University of Copenhagen. Copenhagen, Denmark.
- International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2007. Climate Change 2007. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the International Panel on Climate Change. M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson (eds). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK.
- Ma, J., H. Hung, C. Tian and R. Klallenborn. 2011. Revolitilization of Persistent Organic Pollutants in the Arctic Induced by Climate Change. *Nature Climate Change* 1: 255–260.
- Macdonald, R.W. 2005. Climate Change, Risks and Contaminants: A Perspective from Studying the Arctic. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment*. 11: 1099–1104
- Macdonald, R.W. and L. Loseto. 2010. Are Arctic Ecosystems Exceptionally Vulnerable to Global Emissions of Mercury? A call for Emphasized Research on Methylation and the Consequences of Climate Change. *Environ. Chem.* 7: 133–138.
- Macdonald. R.W., T. Harner and J. Fyfe. 2005. Recent Climate Change in the Arctic and its Impact on Contaminant Pathways and Interpretation of Temporal Trend Data. *Sci. Tot. Environ.* 342: 5–86.

- McGuire, A.D., L.G. Anderson, T.R. Christensen, S. Dullimore, L. Guo, D.J. Hayes, M. Heimann, T.D. Lorenson, R.W. Macdonald, and N. Roulet. 2009. Sensitivity of the Carbon Cycle in the Arctic to Climate Change. *Ecological Monographs* 79(4): 523–555.
- Rautio, A. 2010. Impact of Climate Change on Pollutant Transfer in the Arctic. In: *Clean Air Research at the University of Oulu*. University of Oulu. Oulu, Finland.
- Schiedek, D., B. Sundelin, J.W. Readman, and R.W. Macdonald. 2007. Interactions Between Climate Change and Contaminants. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 54: 1845–1856.
- Snow, Water, Ice, and Permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA). 2011. Snow, Water, Ice, Permafrost in the Arctic. Crosscutting Scientific Issues. International Arctic Science Committee. Potsdam, Germany.
- Stern, G.A., R.W. Macdonald, P.M. Outridge, S. Wilson, J. Chetelat, A. Cole, H. Hintelmann, L. Loseto, A. Steffen, F. Wang and C. Zdamowicz. 2012. How does climate change influence arctic mercury? Sci. Tot. Environ. 414: 22–42.

A.9 Regulations/Guidelines/Best Practices

- Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency (CEAA). 2003. Incorporating Climate Change Considerations in Environmental Assessment: General Guidance for Practitioners. The Federal-Provincial-Territorial Committee on Climate Change and Environmental Assessment. Gatineau, Quebec.
- Environmental Impact Review Board (EIRB). 2011. Environmental Impact Review Guidelines. Inuvik, Northwest Territories.
- Environmental Impact Screening Committee (EISC). 2011. Environmental Impact Screening Guidelines. Inuvik, Northwest Territories.
- Government of Canada. 2009. S.C. 1988, c. 28 Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Resources Accord Implementation Act.
- Government of Canada. 2009. SOR/2009-315 Canada Oil and Gas Drilling and Production Regulations.
- Government of Canada. 2009. SOR/2009-316 Newfoundland Offshore Petroleum Drilling and Production Regulations.
- Government of Canada. 2009. SOR/2009-317 Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Drilling and Production Regulations.
- Government of Canada. 2010. R.S.C., 1985, c. O-7 Canada Oil and Gas Operations Act.
- Government of Canada. 2010. S.C. 1987, c. 3 Canada-Newfoundland Atlantic Accord Implementation Act.
- National Energy Board. 2011a. Filing Requirements for Offshore Drilling in the Canadian Arctic. National Energy Board, Calgary, AB. 34 p.
- National Energy Board. 2011b. Review of Offshore Drilling in the Canadian Arctic. National Energy Board, Calgary, AB. 56 p.

- National Energy Board, Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador Offshore Petroleum Board, and the Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board. 2010. *Offshore Waste Treatment Guidelines*. The National Energy Board. Calgary, Alberta.
- National Energy Board, Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board and Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador Offshore Petroleum Board. 2011. *Safety Plan Guidelines*. The National Energy Board. Calgary, Alberta.
- National Energy Board, Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board and Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador Offshore Petroleum Board. 2008. *Offshore Physical Environment Guidelines*. The National Energy Board. Calgary, Alberta.
- Nova Scotia Environment. 2011. Guide to Considering Climate Change in Environmental Assessments in Nova Scotia. Nova Scotia Environment. Halifax, Nova Scotia.
- United States Department of the Interior. 2007. Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement for Alternative Energy Development and Production and Alternate Use of Facilities on the Outer Continental Shelf. Minerals Management Service. Washington, D.C.
- United States Department of the Interior. 2010. Notice to Lessees and Operators of Federal Oil and Gas Leases and Pipeline Right-of-Way Holders in the Outer Continental Shelf, Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement: Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. Washington, D.C.
- United States Department of the Interior. 2011. *Guidelines for Providing Geological and Geophysical, Hazards, and Archaeological Information Pursuant to 30 CFR Part 285.* Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement Office of Offshore Alternative Energy Programs. Washington, D.C.

A.10 Environmental Assessments

- Anisimov, O.A., D.G. Vaughan, T.V. Callaghan, C. Furgal, H. Marchant, T.D. Prowse, H. Vilhjálmsson and J.E. Walsh. 2007. Polar Regions (Arctic and Antarctic). In: *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability*. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson (eds). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. 653–685.
- Charles A. Hale and Canning & Pitt Associates, Inc. 2005. *ConocoPhillips Canada 2005 Laurentian 3D Seismic Survey (Nova Scotia) Project Description*. Prepared for ConocoPhillips Canada by Charles A. Hale and Canning & Pitt Associates, Inc. Calgary, AB.
- Cobb, D., H. Fast, M.H. Papst, D. Rosenberg, R. Rutherford and J.E. Sareault (eds.). 2008. *Beaufort Sea Large Ocean Management Area: Ecosystem Overview and Assessment Report. Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 2780.
- Conestoga-Rovers & Associates. 2008. Environmental Assessment of Geophysical Surveys for Exploration Licences 1097, 1098, 1103 and 1104 Western Newfoundland. Prepared for Northwest Energy Inc. by Conestoga-Rovers & Associates. Dartmouth, Nova Scotia.

- Devon Canada Corporation. 2004. Comprehensive Study Report Devon Beaufort Sea Exploration Drilling Program. Prepared for Devon Canada Corporation by KAVIK-AXYS Inc. in association with AXYS Environmental Consulting Ltd., AMEC Earth & Environment, RWDI West Inc., North/South Consultants Inc., B. Wright & Associates Ltd. and LGL Limited. Calgary, Alberta.
- Dickins (D.F.) Engineering Consulting. 1981. *Return to Balaena Bay: Long Term Effects of a Large Scale Crude Oil Spill Under Arctic Sea Ice 1975 to 1981*. Prepared for Gulf Canada Resources Inc. by Dickins (D.F.) Engineering Consulting. Vancouver, B.C.
- Dome Petroleum Limited. 1982. Hydrocarbon Development in the Beaufort Sea Mackenzie Delta Region: Environmental Impact Statement. Volume 4: Biological & physical effects. Calgary, Alberta.
- Dome Petroleum Limited. 1982. Pre-Kigoriak Research Report, #19: 1981 McKinley Bay Program Description and Environmental Assessment. Calgary, Alberta.
- Dome Petroleum Limited. 1983. *McKinley Bay Program Description and Environmental Assessment*. Calgary, Alberta.
- EnCana Corporation. 2006. Deep Panuke Offshore Gas Development Volume 4 Environmental Assessment Report. Halifax, Nova Scotia.
- Environmental Protection Service (Northwest Region). 1978. *Environmental Assessment of Dome/Canmar's 1977 Offshore Drilling Operations in the Beaufort Sea.* Minister of Fisheries and the Environment.
- Howard, L.M. and C.R. Goodwin. 1983. *Beaufort E.I.S. Bibliography*. Arctic Institute of North America, University of Calgary. Calgary, Alberta.
- Hurley Environment Ltd. 2010. Seabed Survey Potential Sable Subsea Satellites Development -Environmental Assessment. Prepared for ExxonMobil Canada Properties by Hurley Environment Ltd. in association with Stantec Consulting. Dartmouth, Nova Scotia.
- Husky Energy. 2010. Sydney Basin Seismic Program Environmental Assessment. St. John's, NL.
- Husky Energy. 2010. Labrador Shelf Seismic Program Environmental Assessment. St. John's, NL.
- Husky Oil Operations Limited. 2001. White Rose Oilfield Comprehensive Study Report. St. John's, NF.
- IMG-Golder. 2003. Environmental Impact Statement for the WesternGeco Mackenzie Delta Marine 2D Seismic Program. Prepared for WesternGeco Canada Limited by IMG-Golder. Calgary, Alberta.
- Imperial Oil Resources Ventures Limited. 2009. *Ajurak 2009 Field Data Collection Program Project Description*. Prepared for Imperial Oil Resources Ventures Limited by KAVIK-AXYS Inc. Calgary, Alberta.
- Jacques Whitford Limited. 2004. *Environmental Assessment Report Exploratory Drilling On El2407*. Prepared for BEPCO. Canada Company by Jacques Whitford Limited in association with S.L. Ross Environmental Research Ltd. and Coastal Oceans Associates Ltd. Dartmouth, NS

- Jacques Whitford Limited. 2009. Screening Report Hibernia Drill Centres Construction and Operations *Program.* Prepared for Hibernia Management and Development Company by Jacques Whitford Limited. St. John's, NL.
- KAVIK-AXYS Inc. 2008. *Beaufort Sea 3-D Seismic Program Summer 2008*. Prepared for Imperial Oil Resources Ventures Limited by KAVIK-AXYS Inc. Calgary, Alberta.
- KAVIK-AXYS Inc. 2009. BP Exploration Pokak 3D Seismic Program Project Description. Prepared for BP Exploration Company Limited by KAVIK-AXYS Inc. in association with ASL Environmental Services and JASCO Research. Calgary, Alberta.
- LASMO Nova Scotia Limited and Nova Scotia Resources (Ventures) Limited. 1990. Cohasset/Panuke Development Project - Development Plan Part I. Halifax, NS.
- LGL Limited Environmental Research Associates. 2011. Environmental Assessment of Statoil's Geophysical Program for the Jeanne d'Arc and Central Ridge/Flemish Pass Basins, 2011–2019. Prepared for Statoil Canada Limited by LGL Limited Environmental Research Associates in association with Canning & Pitt Associates Inc. and Oceans Limited. St. John's, NF.
- LGL Limited Environmental Research Associates. 2011. Environmental Assessment of Chevron's North Grand Banks Regional Seismic Program, 2011–2017. Prepared for Chevron Canada Limited by LGL Limited Environmental Research Associates in association with Canning & Pitt Associates Inc. and Oceans Limited. St. John's, NF.
- LGL Limited Environmental Research Associates. 2010. *Environmental Assessment of Chevron's* Offshore Labrador Seismic Program, 2010–2017. Prepared for Chevron Canada Limited by LGL Limited Environmental Research Associates in association with Oceans Limited. St. John's, NF.
- LGL Limited Environmental Research Associates. 2008. Environmental Assessment of the PDI Production Inc. Port-au-Port Peninsula Ocean Bottom Cable Seismic/VSP Program, 2009–2014. Prepared for PDI Production Inc. by LGL Limited Environmental Research Associates. St. John's, NL.
- Metoc plc. 2004. Langeled Project Marine Pipeline Environmental Statement. Prepared for Norsk Hydro Produsjon.
- Milne, A.R., 1976. Oil, Ice and Climate Change. Beaufort Sea Project Synthesis Report, Institute of Ocean Sciences, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Sidney B.C. Canada, 103 p.
- Milne, A.R. and R.H. Herlinveaux, 1976. Crude Oil in Cold Water. Beaufort Sea Project Synthesis Report, Institute of Ocean Sciences, Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, Sidney B.C. Canada, 119 p.
- Milne, A.R. and B.D. Smiley. 1975. Offshore Drilling for Oil in the Beaufort Sea, a Preliminary Environmental Assessment. Beaufort Sea Project (Canada). Victoria, B.C.
- Mobil Oil Canada Properties, Shell Canada Limited, Petro-Canada, Imperial Oil Resources Limited and Nova Scotia Resources Limited. 1996. Sable Offshore Energy Project – Volume 3 Environmental Impact Statement. Halifax, NS.
- Mobil Oil Canada. 1985. *Hibernia Development Project Environmental Impact Statement: Volume IIIa and IIIb Biophysical Assessment.* St. John's.

- Niemi, A, J Johnson, A Majewski, H Melling, J Reist and W Williams. 2012. State of the Ocean Report for the Beaufort Sea Large Ocean Management Area. Can Manu Rep Hydrogr Oc Sci No 2977, 57 pp. Fs97-4/2977E.
- North/South Consultants Inc. 2003. *Ecological Assessment of the Beaufort Sea Beluga Management Plan - zone 1(a) as a Marine Protected Area of Interest*. Prepared for Beaufort Sea Integrated Management Planning Initiative (BSIMPI) Working Group by North/South Consultants Inc. Winnipeg, MB.
- Petro-Canada. 1996. Development Application Terra Nova Development, Environmental Impact Statement. Prepared by Petro-Canada on behalf of Petro-Canada, Mobil Oil Canada Properties, Husky Oil Operations Limited, Murphy Oil Company Ltd. and Mosbacher Operating Limited. St. John's, Newfoundland.
- RPS Energy. 2011. Environmental Impact Assessment for Marine 2D Seismic Reflection Survey -Labrador Sea and Davis Strait, Offshore Labrador by Multi Klient Invest. Prepared for Multi Klient Invest by RPS Energy. Halifax, Nova Scotia.
- Shell Offshore Inc. 2009. Environmental Impact Analysis, Appendix H. In: 2010 *Outer Continental Shelf Exploration Drilling Program Camden Bay*, Alaska (July 22, 2009). Shell Offshore Inc. Anchorage, AK.
- Sikumiut Environmental Management Ltd. 2010. *Environmental Assessment for Proposed Seismic Program Offshore Labrador.* Prepared for Investcan Energy Corporation by Sikumiut Environmental Management Ltd. St. John's, NL.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. 2011. Hebron Project Comprehensive Study Report. Prepared for ExxonMobil
 Canada Ltd., Chevron Canada Limited, Suncor Energy Inc., Statoil Canada Ltd.; and Nalcor
 Energy Oil and Gas Inc. by Stantec Consulting Ltd. in association with AMEC Earth &
 Environmental, Applied Science Associates Inc., Canning & Pitt Associates, Inc., Cormorant Ltd.,
 Fugro Jacques Geosurveys Inc., JASCO Applied Sciences, LGL Ltd., Oceans Ltd., Provincial
 Aerospace Ltd. and SL Ross Environmental Research Ltd. St. John's, NL.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. 2010. 2010 Environmental Assessment Update Hibernia Drill Centres Construction and Operations Program. Prepared for Hibernia Management and Development Company by Stantec Consulting Ltd. St. John's, NL.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. 2011. 2011 Environmental Assessment Review Hibernia Drill Centres Construction and Operations Program. Prepared for Hibernia Management and Development Company by Stantec Consulting Ltd. St. John's, NL.
- Xodus Group. 2011. Fourth Strategic Environmental Assessment for Oil and Gas Activities Ireland's Offshore Waters: IOSEA4 Irish and Celtic Seas. Prepared for the Department of Communications, Energy and Natural Resources.

A.11 Traditional Knowledge

Anonymous. 2009. Indigenous Peoples and Traditional Knowledge Related to Biological Diversity and Responses to Climate Change in the Arctic Region. Ministry of Environment of Finland.

- Barber, D.G., T. Tjaden, D. Leitch, L. Barber, and W. Chan (editors). 2012. On The Edge: From Knowledge to Action During the Fourth International Polar Year Circumpolar Flaw Lead System Study (2007–2008). U. of Manitoba, ISBN 978-0-9813265-1-1, 248 p.
- Communities of Aklavik, Inuvik, Holman Island, Paulatuk and Tuktoyaktuk, S. Nickels, M. Buell, C. Furgal, and H. Moquin. 2005. Unikkaaqatigiit – Putting the Human Face on Climate Change: Perspectives from the Inuvialuit Region. Ottawa: Joint publication of Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami, Nasivvik Centre for Inuit Health and Changing Environments at Université Laval and the Ajunnginiq Centre at the National Aboriginal Health Organization.
- Hartwig, L. 2009. Mapping Traditional Knowledge related to the Identification of Ecologically and Biologically significant Areas in the Beaufort Sea. Canadian Manuscript Report fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 2895: 25 p.
- Inuuvik Community Corporation (ICC), Tuktuuyaqtuuq Community Corporation and Aklarvik Community Corporation. 2006. Inuvialuit Settlement Region Traditional Knowledge Report. Submitted to Mackenzie Project Environmental Group. Calgary, Alberta.
- KAVIK-AXYS Inc. 2011. Traditional and Local Knowledge workshop for the Paulatuk Area of Interest. Report Prepared for Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Inuvik, NT.
- KAVIK-STANTEC Inc. 2012. Inuvik to Tuktoyaktuk Highway Traditional Knowledge Workshops: Inuvik and Tuktoyaktuk, February 2012. Report prepared for the government of the Northwest Territories, Department of Transportation, Yellowknife, NT.
- Nichols, T., F. Berkes, D. Jolly, N.B. Snow, and the Community of Sachs Harbour. 2004. Climate change and Sea Ice: Local Observations from the Canadian Western Arctic. Arctic 57: 68-79.
- Reidlinger, D. 1999. Climate Change and the Inuvialuit of Banks Island NWT: Using Traditional Environmental Knowledge to Complement Western Science. InfoNorth; Arctic 52: 430-432.
- Riedlinger, D. and F. Berkes. 2001. Contributions of Traditional knowledge to Understanding Climate Change in the Canadian Arctic. *Polar Record* 37: 315–328.

APPENDIX B

Effects on Oil and Gas Activities and Climate Variables

Appendix B: Effects on Oil and Gas Activities and Climate Variables

Table B-1	Effects and their	Severity to Oil	and Gas	Activities
-----------	-------------------	-----------------	---------	------------

		Eff	ects		Confidence in			Cumulamentem
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Variables
All Scenarios								
Ice breaker support	All* *except when drilling (shallow) on ice island in winter	Reduced ice reduces support requirements	Reduced lead time to react to changes in ice flows Larger waves impede operations	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Ice Velocity Wind speeds (means and maximum) (maximum and extremes) Wave height (means and maximum) (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Ice reconnaissance - aircraft and ship	All Nearshore, Shelf, Deep	Reduced ice - reduces requirements	Fog restricting flying	Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	 Ice Concentration Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Aviation support	All Nearshore, fast ice zone Shelf, Deep	n/a	Fog restricting flying due to reduced visibility	Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	 Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Demobilization* (equipment, drill or production unit, consumables) *Does not apply to 'all year' production activities	All Nearshore, fast ice zone Shelf, Deep	Reduced ice – extends season	Increased wave heights during storm events Delayed start (winter)	Low Nil (summer) Medium (winter)	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Land fast ice extent Wind speeds (means and maximum) (maximum and extremes) Wave height (means and maximum) (maximum and extremes) 	
Exploration - Seismic						1		
Seismic ship operations	All	Reduced ice	Increased wave height during storm events	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Seismic ship operations	All	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence exploration activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWater temperature and salinity,	Marine mammal distribution/ migration surveys
Seismic ship operations	All		Ecologically and Biologically Sensitive Areas (EBSAs) may change creating regulatory uncertainty	Low	Low	Long-term	Ocean currents, ice distribution	
Other support vessels	All	Reduced ice	Increased wave height during storm events	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	

		Effects			Confidence in Prediction of			Supplementary
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Variables
Exploration – Seismic (cont'o	(b)							
Other support vessels	All	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence exploration activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Water temperature and salinity, marine mammal surveys 	
Resupply and crew change		Reduced ice	Increased wave heights during storm events	Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentrationWind speeds (means and maximum)Wave height (means and maximum)	
Exploration – Drilling – Shall	ow – Ice Island – winter	only						
Ice road construction	Nearshore fast ice zone	n/a	Delayed start; reduced load limits	Medium	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Land fast ice extent and thickness	
Mobilization of island building equipment	Nearshore fast ice zone	n/a	Delayed start; reduced load limits	Medium	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Land fast ice extent and thickness	
Build island	Nearshore fast ice zone	Warmer air temperatures	Reduced duration	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Land fast ice extent and thicknessAir temperature (minimum and mean)	
Mobilization of drilling equipment and drilling consumables	Nearshore fast ice zone	n/a	Delayed start; reduced load limits	Medium	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Land fast ice extent and thickness	
Drilling operations, resupply on going	Nearshore fast ice zone	Warmer air temperatures	Reduced duration	Medium to High (in long term)	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Land fast ice extent and thicknessAir temperature (maximum and mean)	
site restoration	Nearshore fast ice zone		Delayed start	Medium	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Land fast ice extent and thickness	
Exploration – Drilling – Shall	ow – Bottom founding D	Prilling Unit – Summer and Winter						
Mobilization – tow drilling unit to drilling site and set down	Nearshore and shelf	Reduced ice allows earlier start	Larger waves impede operations	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration,Wind speeds (means and maximumWave height (means and maximum)	
drilling site and set down	Nearshore, shelf	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence timing of drilling site set down (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration, ice thickness, water temperature and salinity, 	marine mammal surveys
drilling site and set down	Nearshore, shelf		Ecologically and Biologically Sensitive Areas (EBSAs) may change creating regulatory uncertainty	Low	Low	Long-term	Ocean currents, ice distribution	Biological productivity studies

Appendix B: Effects on Oil and Gas Activities and Climate Variables

Table B-1Effects and their Severity to Oil and Gas Activities (cont'd)	
--	--

		Eff	ects		Confidence in			Supplementary
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Variables
Exploration – Drilling – Shall	ow – Bottom founding I	Drilling Unit – Summer and Winter	(cont'd)					•
Supply vessel or tug and barge support	Nearshore and shelf	Reduced ice	Larger waves impede operations	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Ice concentrationWind speeds (means and maximumWave height (means and maximum)	
Supply vessel or tug and barge support	Nearshore and shelf	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence timing of supply vessel movements (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWater temperature and salinity	
Drilling operations – summer	Nearshore and shelf	Less ice; longer drilling season	Fog restricting flying	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Drilling operations - summer	Nearshore and shelf	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence exploration drilling activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Water temperature and salinity; marine mammals surveys 	Marine mammal distribution/migration surveys
Drilling operations – summer	Nearshore and shelf		Ecologically and Biologically Sensitive Areas (EBSAs) may change creating regulatory uncertainty	Low	Low	Long-term	Ocean currents, ice distribution	
Drilling operations – summer	Nearshore and shelf	n/a	Reduced stability of mud volcanoes due to warming of bottom water temperatures	medium	Low	Long + 50 years	Bottom sea temperatures	Side scan or other visual monitoring
Drilling operations - winter	Nearshore and shelf	Less ice; shorter drilling season	Fog restricting flying	Medium	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Exploration – Drilling – Open	Water- Floater Drilling	Unit – Early Summer to Early Win	ter					
Mobilization of drilling unit and support fleet to Beaufort Sea	Shelf and Deep	Reduced ice allows earlier start	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Mobilization of drilling unit and support fleet to Beaufort Sea	Shelf and Deep	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence exploration drilling activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness water temperature and salinity; marine mammals surveys 	Marine mammal distribution/migration surveys

	Effects		Confidence in Prediction of				Supplementary	
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Variables
Exploration – Drilling – Open	Water- Floater Drilling	Unit – Early Summer to Early Wint	er (cont'd)					
Positioning and anchor mooring operations	Shelf and Deep	Reduced ice allows earlier start	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWind speeds (maximum and extremes)Wave height (maximum and extremes)	
Drilling operations	Shelf and Deep	Reduced ice allows longer drilling season	Increased wave height during storm events; larger surface currents	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) ocean current (means and maximum) 	
Drilling operations	All	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence exploration activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWater temperature and salinity	
Drilling operations	Shelf and deep		Ecologically and Biologically Sensitive Areas (EBSAs) may change creating regulatory uncertainty	Low	Low	Long-term	Ocean currents, ice distribution	Biological productivity studies
Drilling operations	shelf break	n/a	Changes to bottom could accelerate erosion of seabed at shelf break	Low	Low	Long + 50 years	Bottom currents,Bottom sea temperatures	
Resupply operations – Ware ship or bases in McKinley or Tuktoyaktuk	All	Reduced ice – longer operating season; higher water levels	Fog restricting flying; larger waves and storm surges (positive and negative	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Ice Velocity Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) Water levels and wave height (means and maximum) 	
Resupply operations – Ware ship or bases in McKinley or Tuktoyaktuk	All	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence exploration activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWater temperature and salinity,	
Production –artificial islands	nearshore – all year							
Additional 3D seismic if required (see seismic exploration)	Nearshore	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWind speeds (maximum and extremes)Wave height (maximum and extremes)	
Construction of gravel or sand for production island	Nearshore	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	

Table B-1Effects and their Severity to Oil and Gas Activities (cont'd)

Appendix B: Effects on Oil and Gas Activities and Climate Variables

Table B-1Effects and their Severity to Oil and Gas Activities (cont'd)	
--	--

	Effects			Confidence in			O	
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Variables
Production –artificial islands	nearshore – all year (c	ont'd)						
Dredging for island	Nearshore	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Support vessels and resupply	Nearshore	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWind speeds (maximum and extremes)Wave height (maximum and extremes)	
Support vessels and resupply	Nearshore	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence support vessel movements (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWater temperature and salinity	marine mammal distribution/migration surveys
Construction of causeway or subsea pipeline to shore	Nearshore	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased coastal zone erosion due to permafrost degradation, higher water levels and larger waves	Medium	Medium	Short/medium term	 Shoreline retreat, permafrost degradation Air temperatures (mean and maximum) Water levels (means and maximum) Wave height (means and maximum) 	
Subsea pipeline to shore	Nearshore, shelf	Reduced risk of significant ice scour events due to reductions in multi-year ice	Although rare could still occur	Low	High	Short to long-term	Ice distribution and thickness	
Marine maintenance facilities	Nearshore	Reduced ice; extended operating season, larger mean water levels	Increased coastal zone erosion due to permafrost degradation, higher water levels and larger waves, Fog restricting flying	Low	Medium	Short/medium term	 Shoreline retreat, permafrost degradation Air Temperatures (mean and maximum) Water levels (means and maximum) Wave height (means and maximum) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Drilling and production	Nearshore	n/a	Increased wave height during storm events, increased erosion due to larger waves, reduced ice, fog restricting visibility for flying	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Drilling and production	All	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence drilling and production activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Water temperature and salinity, marine mammals surveys 	
		Effects			Confidence in			Cumulamentem
---	--------------------------	---	---	--------------------	----------------	-------------------	--	---
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Supplementary Variables
Production –artificial islands	nearshore – all year (co	ont'd)						
Drilling and production	All		Ecologically and Biologically Sensitive Areas (EBSAs) may change creating regulatory uncertainty	Low	Low	Long-term	Ocean currents, ice distribution	Biological productivity studies
Drilling and production	shelf break	n/a	Changes to bottom currents could accelerate erosion of seabed at shelf break	Low	Low	Long + 50 years	Bottom currents,Bottom sea temperatures	
Inspection operations (pipeline etc.)	Nearshore	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events, increased erosion due to larger waves, fog restricting visibility for flying	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Production – nearshore and s	shelf using Gravity Base	ed Structure (GBS) –all year		l	1			I
Additional 3D seismic if required (see seismic exploration)	Nearshore, Shelf	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Mobilization of GBS and set down	Nearshore, Shelf	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Dredging for seabed base	Nearshore, Shelf	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Support vessels and resupply	Nearshore, Shelf	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Support vessels and resupply	Nearshore, Shelf	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence support vessel movements (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWater temperature and salinity,	marine mammals distribution and migration surveys
Drilling and production	Nearshore, Shelf	n/a	Increased wave height during storm events, increased erosion due to larger waves, reduced ice, fog restricting visibility for flying	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	

Table B-1Effects and their Severity to Oil and Gas Activities (cont'd)

Table B-1 Effects and their Severity to Oil and Gas Activities (co	nt'd)
--	-------

		Effects			Confidence in			Supplementary
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Variables
Production – nearshore and	shelf using Gravity Base	ed Structure (GBS) –all year (cont'	d)			•		
Drilling and production	All	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence drilling and production activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWater temperature and salinity;	marine mammals distribution and migration surveys
Drilling and production	Shelf and deep		Ecologically and Biologically Sensitive Areas (EBSAs) may change creating regulatory uncertainty	Low	Low	Long-term	Ocean currents, ice distribution	Biological productivity studies
Drilling and production	shelf break		Changes to bottom currents could accelerate erosion of seabed at shelf break	Low	Low	Long + 50 years	Bottom currents,Bottom sea temperatures	
Subsea pipeline to shore	Nearshore, Shelf	Reduced ice; extended operating season for construction of pipeline	Increased wave height during storm events, increased seabed erosion due to larger waves, fog restricting visibility for flying, Increased coastal zone erosion due to permafrost degradation, higher water levels and larger waves, Fog restricting flying	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) Shoreline retreat, permafrost degradation Air temperatures (mean and maximum) Water levels (means and maximum) 	
Subsea pipeline to shore	Nearshore, shelf	Reduced risk of significant ice scour events due to reductions in multi-year ice	Although rare could still occur	Low	High	Short to long	Ice distribution and thickness	
Tanker operations	Nearshore, Shelf	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWind speeds (maximum and extremes)Wave height (maximum and extremes)	
Inspection operations (pipeline etc.)	Nearshore, Shelf	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events, increased erosion due to larger waves, fog restricting visibility for flying	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Production –outer shelf and	deep water using floatin	ng production unit –seasonal						
Additional 3D seismic if required (see seismic exploration)	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	

Table B-1	Effects and their Severity to Oil and Gas Activities (cont'd)
-----------	---

		Effects			Confidence in Prediction of			Supplementary
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Variables
Production –outer shelf and	deep water using floati	ng production unit –seasonal (con	ťd)					
Mobilization of drilling unit and support fleet to Beaufort Sea including ice-breaker support	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice from Pt. Barrow to Canadian Beaufort Sea; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Positioning and anchor mooring operations	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Support vessels and resupply	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Drilling and production	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events, fog restricting visibility for flying	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Drilling and production	All	Neutral/unknown- marine mammal distribution and habitat usage may change and influence drilling and production activities (mitigations, timing, etc.)		Low	Medium	Short/medium/long	Ice concentration and ice thicknessWater temperature and salinity	
Drilling and production	All		Ecologically and Biologically Sensitive Areas (EBSAs) may change creating regulatory uncertainty	Low	Low	Long-term	Ocean currents, ice distribution	Biological productivity studies
Drilling and production	shelf break	n/a	Changes to bottom currents could accelerate erosion of seabed at shelf break	Low	Low	Long + 50 years	Bottom currents,Bottom sea temperatures	
Subsea pipeline to shore	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice; extended operating season for construction of pipeline	Increased wave height during storm events, increased seabed erosion due to larger waves, fog restricting visibility for flying, Increased coastal zone erosion due to permafrost degradation, higher water levels and larger waves, Fog restricting flying	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) Shoreline retreat Permafrost degradation Air temperatures (mean and maximum) Water levels (means and maximum) 	

Table B-1	Effects and their Severity to Oil and Gas Activities (cont'd)

	Effects		Confidence in					
Activity	Area	Positive	Negative	Severity of Effect	Prediction of Effect	Time Scale	Climate Variables	Supplementary Variables
Production –outer shelf and	deep water using float	ting production unit -seasonal (con	ťd)		•			
Subsea pipeline to shore	Nearshore, shelf	Reduced risk of significant ice scour events due to reductions in multi-year ice	Although rare could still occur	Low	High	Short to long-term	Ice distribution and thickness	
Tanker operations	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum. and extremes) 	
Inspection operations (pipeline etc.)	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events, increased erosion due to larger waves, fog restricting visibility for flying	Low	Medium to High	Short/medium/long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) Days with fog/poor visibility (means and maximum) 	
Decommissioning – Islands -	Nearshore			_		_		
Restoration operations	nearshore	Reduced ice – more time	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Decommissioning - nearshor	e and shelf with GBS							
Movement of GBS out of Beaufort Sea or new location	Nearshore, shelf	Reduced ice from Pt. Barrow to Canadian Beaufort Sea; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Reclamation	Nearshore, shelf	Reduced ice – more time	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
Decommissioning - outer she	elf and deep water usi	ng floating production unit						
Movement of unit out of Beaufort Sea or new location	Shelf, deep	Reduced ice from Pt. Barrow to Canadian Beaufort Sea; extended operating season	Increased wave height during storm events	Nil	Medium to High	long	 Ice concentration and ice thickness Wind speeds (maximum and extremes) Wave height (maximum and extremes) 	
NOTES: Area: nearshore 0-20 m, shelf 20-100m, deep >100m, all fast ice zone? shelf break? Severity of Effect: Nil, Low, Medium, High - Nil = no effect Time Scale: Short (0-5 years), Medium (5-15 years), Long-term (15-30 years), all + 50 years								

APPENDIX C

List of Experts

Table C-1	List of Experts
-----------	-----------------

Name	Affiliation	Phone number	E-mail	Area of Expertise
Gary Stern	Fisheries and Oceans Canada	(204) 984-6761	Gary.Stern@dfo-mpo-gc.ca	Contaminants, IRIS
Robie Macdonald	Fisheries and Oceans Canada	(250) 363-6409	Robie.macdonald@dfo-mpo.gc.ca	Contaminants
Fred Wrona	Environment Canada	(250) 363-8901	Fred.wrona@ec.gc.ca	Aquatic hydro-ecology
Terry Prowse	Environment Canada		Terry.Prowse@ec.gc.ca	Hydrology
David Barber	University of Manitoba	(204) 474-6981	dbarber@cc.umanitoba.ca	Marine
John Fyfe	Environment Canada	(250) 363-8236	John.yfe@ec.gc.ca	Climate modeling
Jesper Madsen	Aarhus University	4538142794	jm@dmu.dk	Arctic biodiversity
Heikke Lihavainen	Finnish Met Institute	358503623773	Heikki.lihavainen@fmi.fi	Atmosphere
Terry Callaghan	Swedish Academy Sciences	447770542123	Terry_callaghan@btinternet.com	Atmosphere
Richard Bellerby	Bjerknes Centre for Climate Research, University of Bergen	475558236	Richard.bellerby@uni.no	Climate modeling/oceanography
Jim Overland	NOAA	(206) 526-6795	James.e.overland@noaa.gov	Marine
Dr. Andrew Derocher	University of Alberta	(780) 492-5570	derocher@ualberta.ca	Ecology, conservation, and management of large Arctic mammals focusing on polar bears
Steve Ferguson	University of Manitoba/Fisheries and Oceans Canada	(204) 983-5057	steve.ferguson@dfo-mpo.gc.ca	Population health of marine mammals in the Canadian Arctic. / Global warming and human economic development in the Arctic affects the ecology of marine mammals and ways to mitigate potential problems.
Jim Reist	Fisheries and Oceans Canada	(204) 983-5032	Jim.Reist@dfo-mpo.gc.ca	Arctic fish
Louis Fortier	University of Laval/ArcticNet	(418) 656-5646	Louis.Fortier@bio.ulaval.ca	Arctic fish, zooplankton

Table C-1List of Experts (cont'd)

Name	Affiliation	Phone number	E-mail	Area of Expertise
Steve Blasco	Natural Resources Canada	(902) 426-3932	Steve.Blasco@nrcan-rncan@gc.ca	Resource engineering geophysicist (seabed features e.g., mud volcanoes, ice scours)
Scott Dalimore	Natural Resources Canada	(250) 363-6423	Scott.Dalimore@nrcan-rncan@gc.ca	Gas hydrates
Julienne C. Stroeve	National Snow and Ice Data Center,	(303) 492-6199	stroeve@kyros.colorado.edu	Sea ice climate change – analysis and modeling
Jinlun Zhang	Polar Science Center, Applied Physics Laboratory	(206) 543-5569	zhang@apl.washington.edu	Modeling sea ice and climate change
Gregory M Flato	Canadian Centre for Climate Modelling and Analysis, Environment Canada	(250) 363-8233	greg.flato@ec.gc.ca	Modeling sea ice and climate change
Andy Mahoney	Geophysical Institute, University of Fairbanks	(907) 474-5382	mahoney@gi.alaska.edu	Sea ice, especially landfast ice
David E. Atkinson	Department of Geography, University of Victoria	(250) 721-7332	datkinso@uvic.ca	Wind and waves in nearshore areas – Western Arctic
Don Forbes	Geological Survey of Canada, Natural Resources Canada	(902) 426-7737	dforbes@nrcan.gc.ca	Large-scale coastal evolution; impacts of climate change
Humphrey Melling	Fisheries and Oceans Canada	(250) 363-6552	Humfrey.Melling@dfo-mpo.gc.ca	Sea ice, oceanography

APPENDIX D Workshop Proceedings

Proceedings of the BREA Climate Change Workshop Midnight Sun complex, Inuvik, NT November 19 to 21, 2012

MONDAY 19 NOVEMBER

Project and Workshop Objectives – Doug Chiperzak

This Project was conducted through the Beaufort Regional Environmental Assessment (BREA), Climate Change Working Group and funded by Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada (AANDC). The BREA is a multi-year, multi-stakeholder initiative to sponsor regional research and other activities that will make available historical and new information vital to the future management of oil and gas activity in the Beaufort Sea.

Objectives of this Project were to provide an assessment of the potential impacts of climate change related to all oil and gas activities and phases in the short, medium and long-term, for the;

- Nearshore
- Shelf and
- Deep waters

The purpose was to support efficient and effective environmental assessment and regulatory decisionmaking by managers, regulators and policy makers pertinent to the potential impacts of climate change on oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea.

The objectives of this workshop were to;

- Validate the Draft Assessment and Report
- Review information gaps relating to current knowledge of the Beaufort biogeophysical environment, regional climate change, and effects on oil and gas activities
- Propose research initiatives to improve the state of knowledge
- Identify current climate change information and its value to inform near-future (next 12-30 years) activities
- Make this information available for regulatory decision making and environmental assessments

Presentation: Climate Change and the Southern Beaufort Sea; Baseline conditions to the present, changes and trends – Prof. David Barber, University of Manitoba.

The presentation provided an overview of baseline conditions and identified trends and changes into the near future. The effects of climate change are amplified in the Arctic. Some key changes from baseline have been observed for the types, distribution and thickness of ice, timing of freeze-up and break-up, changes in circulation patterns such as with the Beaufort gyre, and the increasing presence of glacial ice. Storms are also increasing in strength and frequency. Coupled ice/ocean/atmosphere models on the regional and local scale require further development and verification. Significant challenges for the oil and gas industry are:

• Multi-year ice hazards

- Glacial ice hazards
- Cyclones and their effects on waves in ice and snow on ice
- Ice motion and direction
- Predicting motions
- Wind
- Warming of the Arctic
 - Glacial retreat
 - Permafrost
 - Winter ice roads

Questions/Comments:

1. From all the information collected, is the Federal government using it to do something about climate change?

(Ans): The BREA project is funded by Aboriginal Affairs.

2. The weather patterns are becoming unpredictable e.g. there was about 7 weeks of above average temperatures in Banks islands – this caused problems for Muskox, there was no rain.

(Ans): The models are poor at predicting precipitation; this is a more complex process. There is more persistence in wet and dry periods – this is related to climate change.

3. Is there currently research on water levels rising?

(Ans): There is modeling on wave and storm surges, but not on sea level rising. Glacial ice is the problem in sea level rising, not sea ice. Water is coming from the land and going into the sea – this causes the sea level rising.

4. There is a need for better monitoring for both surface and deep water currents for the oil and gas industry and more real time measurements.

Presentation: Potential Oil and Gas Activity Scenarios - Doug Chiperzak

A presentation on potential oil and gas activity scenarios for the period 2012-2027 was presented. Predicting oil and gas activity into the future is challenging and can be affected by a number of factors, such as price of oil or gas, other potential areas in the world where a company may want to explore and regulatory regimes and timing or chances of approval. The presentation provided a brief history of oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea starting with seismic activities which led to the first well being drilled in 1972. Since then approximately 93 wells have been drilled in the Beaufort Sea with the last being in the winter of 2005-2006 in relatively shallow water. Types of oil and gas activities associated with exploration and production were also discussed such as seismic, support vessels, icebreakers, camps etc. The types of potential drilling platforms which can be used at various depths were also identified. One to two seismic surveys have been conducted in the Beaufort Sea since 2006 and this will likely continue at least for the next several years. The first deep offshore well, if approved was predicted earlier to occur possibly in 2018, however this now looks like it may be 2 -4 years later. There is also the potential that a well could be drilled in the inner shelf of the Beaufort Sea in the same general time period.

Questions/Comments:

- 1. There is limited infrastructure for offshore oil and gas e.g. ice breakers, drill ships; maybe onshore activities would be cheaper.
- 2. There is a lot of planning that takes place before drilling. Research timelines are long, if oil and gas activities are not happening soon, then there may not be an urgency for monitoring to get started.
- 3. The assessment should be focused on activities that may happen, not just the timelines for the activities.

(Ans): There may be a bit of lead time to get required information; the models can be used for this before offshore oil and gas activities get started to help in planning.

4. Research depends on technology that currently exists; there is a big gap in the ability to highlight climate change since the full picture is not known e.g. would there be pipelines to get the oil and gas back to shore?

(Ans): Pipelines are addressed in the report. Tankers are treated under shipping and ice conditions.

5. What about shore support? For the leases that are far away are port facilities going to be needed?

(Ans): This is a possibility. There are several options, one is to use wareships or a combination of wareships and port facilities.

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER

Presentation: Potential Effects on Oil and Gas Activities due to Climate Change – Dave Fissel and Doug Chiperzak

The presentation discussed both positive and negative potential effects on oil and gas activities in the Canadian Beaufort Sea due to climate change for the next 25 years. The effects related to climate change were assessed for all phases of oil and gas operations, including seismic, exploratory drilling, production including ancillary activities such as pipelines, shipping traffic, harbor and port facilities. Potential positive effects included longer operating seasons for most activities, and reduced ice coverage providing fewer hazards to seismic operations. Potential negative effects on oil and gas activities due to climate change included but not limited to the presence of glacial ice posing a hazard to drilling platforms and shipping, reduced ice cover leading to larger waves affecting offshore re-supply and increasing coastal erosions and its potential effects on support infrastructure. Increasing severity and frequency of storms affecting seismic operations, offshore re-supply, and other activities.

Questions/Comments:

1. Comment on climate/ice variable from the presentation – this should be changed to 'could there be an effect.

(Ans): Presently there are not many oil and gas activities in the Beaufort Sea, so the effects are not certain, they are just a possibility.

2. Air temperature is not included as one of the six climate variables, why? Air temperature is a big variable for ice islands.

(Ans): Air temperature is included in the effects, but it may not be a key variable; the direct effect would be the sea temperature on other variables.

3. What are the drivers for the six climate variables?

(Ans): It is important to know these e.g. extreme events, variability, frequency of events etc.

4. What about air temperature and the interaction with precipitation e.g. wet vs. wet and freezing?

(Ans): Extreme events are driving things, not the constant air temperatures; oil and gas activities need to plan for the extreme events.

5. What influences wave height?

(Ans): Wind, but also ice cover; larger waves can form over larger areas of open water. The main issue is being able to measure the variables; most weather stations are located onshore, not offshore.

6. Over the last six years, there have been lower wave heights around Banks Islands. There used to be a lot more ice before and had high waves.

(Ans): This could also depend on the wind direction as well. There is variability in the factors that are hard to predict.

7. Why are sea level and coastal flooding not included on the list?

(Ans): These are captured in some other variables e.g. wind speeds, wave height. We will reconsider these events.

8. Atmospheric variables related to air pollutants (sources of pollutants) are not included; climate change will influence the pollutants.

(Ans): Contaminant pathways were looked at. This may be an issue on its own, there is a need to understand the pathways, whether it is natural or industry related.

- 9. Winds and patterns in the area this may relate to variability in circulation; storm patterns; the Arctic oscillation system can change.
- 10. Wind is still a problem; it needs to be part of a system. There is a need for monitoring offshore locations. Direct wind measurements would be needed to validate satellite and radar data. There has been some good advancement with improving mesoscale wind models.
- 11. Sea surface temperature this is related to the heat content of the water; this impacts the ice content. Recommend this is re-named to 'Ocean Heat Content' as opposed to Sea Surface Temperature.
- 12. Recommend that ice velocity is included under sea ice; it is important to know how fast the ice is moving.
- 13. Freshwater inputs e.g. from the Mackenzie River how does this affect all the variables, should this be considered?

(Ans): The land plays a role e.g. pollutants transport, however it was not considered in this study. IRIS is funding another study to look at the effects of freshwater.

14. The volume and temperature of the freshwater may be important; what happens when this enters the southern Beaufort Sea?

(Ans): The main issue will be the timing of the freshwater input; it is difficult to tie this to climate change effects on the oil and gas industry.

- 15. Recommend the variables should be ranked. It may be a novel problem or not, it could have been considered in oil and gas activities in other regions or areas.
- 16. Dredging does affect fishing and whaling and is considered during assessments when dredging is conducted as part of oil and gas activities, but it may not be related to climate change.
- 17. The strength of ice is important, not just the thickness of fast ice. Ice strength should be considered.
- 18. There are no good models for land fast ice, they are geographically specific.
- 19. Data has been showing a trend of reduced air temperatures in winter; this may have a positive effect on oil and gas activities.
- 20. The effects of drilling and production activities should be defined; clarify if it is on shallow waters.
- 21. Coastal erosion changes and flooding flooding should be included.
- 22. Contaminants both long and short range should be looked at.

Presentation: Overview of the status of climate change knowledge as it relates to understanding climate change effects on oil and gas activities and knowledge gaps - Dave Fissel

Questions/Comments:

1. This is a regional assessment, is local scale information needed as well?

(Ans): Yes this is regional, but local information is also used where needed.

2. Is there a good understanding of ice islands?

(Ans): There needs to be work on source ice; how long the ice would exist in the gyre; there is a knowledge gap in appropriate sea ice models.

3. How is the migration of whales or fish going to be affected?

(Ans): This is not directly related to the project.

The document should acknowledge the wildlife may also be affected; perhaps identify where it is being addressed. Migratory patterns of wildlife changing could also affect oil and gas activities; this should be flagged for follow up.

- 4. The Mackenzie River inflow is important for the formation and breakup of land fast ice.
- 5. There is no mention of bottom fast ice; there will also be impacts to this.

(Ans): This may not cause a big impact to oil and gas activities.

6. The trend to warming is clear, but there is a data gap in the changing wind regime, atmospheric circulation and how it affects the ice.

- 7. The report should make the distinction between weather and climate. Weather is what you see out the window while climate refers to long-term trends that is what you expect to see. Recommend the heading changed to Weather/Climate: Knowledge and Data Gaps.
- 8. The occurrence of more storm events should be considered e.g. increase in frequency of lightning strikes. Arctic oil and gas activities onshore are currently not grounded for lightning strikes.
- 9. Ongoing monitoring and the need for continued monitoring should be mentioned.
- 10. The models are good from an engineering standpoint, but there is a need to consider the uncertainty/unpredictability factor.
- 11. Coastal erosion it is hard to detect the trends, but the regional variability needs to be considered.
- 12. Contaminants can be an issue for oil and gas activities; increased contaminants may be wrongfully attributed to oil and gas activities.
- 13. Would the Mackenzie River have inputs for contaminants?

(Ans): Yes, that is a possibility, but it was not considered as part of this scope; the coastline was the boundary for the project.

Presentation: Preliminary Research Requirements – Doug Chiperzak

The presentation identified 13 preliminary recommendations that were presented in the Draft Assessment Report prepared for the workshop.

- 1. The preliminary research requirements do not include traditional knowledge. This is a key component and should be included.
- 2. There is a need for continuous long term monitoring programs e.g. community based monitoring programs, to validate the models and to update the model predictions with realistic occurrences.
- 3. The limitations of the models and input data should be highlighted; the models should be used for appropriate things; effective scales for the models are needed.
- 4. There is a difference between sea ice and marine glacial ice the report should make a distinction with these.
- 5. Terminology should be defined in the report; recommend including a glossary.

Research priorities were discussed in an open forum at the workshop using the preliminary recommendations as a starting point. A table was constructed during this forum and is included below.

Traditional Knowledge	Importance to Oil & Gas Activities	Current or Required Research
	Priorities	
Continue interaction and knowledge exchange between Inuvialuit and western scientists.	Important in obtaining both sets of knowledge for decision making	
Utilize or establish community based monitoring programs for the monitoring of climate change (integrate western science); integrate western science and TK programs through community based monitoring	Community monitoring provides for year round monitoring opportunities, provide advice on monitoring design and monitoring locations and assists with the dissemination of information into the communities	
TK Coordinator – involve from start of programs and continue with Community Consultations	Facilitate the collection, access and dissemination of Traditional Knowledge	
Research Requirements		
 Processes required for developing atmospheric regional model Response – cyclones Upper air data, not just surface 	Atmos. Circulation of great importance to sea ice, currents, water levels and waves	Need much upper air data (LIDAR); JC Gascard program may help; Amundsen ship- based Marine atmospheric boundary layer data required, limited to Amundsen
Marine Glacial Ice; source, pathways and duration	Ice hazards have potentially very large effect on many O&G activities very occasionally	Need process understandings to support better models for source amounts and pathways/duration
Research on Ice Deformation, response to atmospheric water forcing – ridges/leads, degradation of large ice features; Role of frazil ice – relation to sediment processes and atmospheric forcing	Very important to CC understandings; ice hazards	Key processes on multi-year ice formation on the north coasts of CAA and N. Greenland; some observations in Nares Strait, Fram Strait; NRC; more data and research required
Ecosystem Functioning		Many process gaps in ecosystem components; at rudimentary level; focus on climate change effects on migratory routes, hot spots in terms of O&G that underpin ecosystem function
Modeling		
Landfast ice	Link to Ice hazards; high priority	Insufficient present capabilities
Contaminant Transport – pathways	Link to erosion	Insufficient
Contaminant Transport – pathways - biota		Insufficient

Traditional Knowledge	Importance to Oil & Gas Activities	Current or Required Research	
	Priorities (cont'd)		
Inshore wave and surge modeling	Importance for coastal erosion for O&G infrastructure of shore facilities and pipeline crossings	Inshore waves and surges to build on GSC gauge programs	
Monitoring		Current Research Activities - Adequacy	
Inventory of monitoring ; embed into national and intl. monitoring programs	Long term measurements important to climate change understandings; Monitoring of variables important to ocean/ice/atmosphere coupled models	Assist in making monitoring efforts more efficient and prevent duplication	
Guidelines			
Climate Change EA Guidelines	Provide clarity and guidance on how to best assess climate change in EAs.	Very generic CEAA guidelines for climate change in EA's; need for improved and more specific guidelines for EA practitioners	
Government Related			
 Long Term Science Programs required More monitoring – requires long- term sustained programs 	Very important	Need to focus on key indicators; key variables at key locations. Multiple sensor measurements at key sites. Need to ensure quality control and archival	
Maintain expertise (esp. govt)			
Adaptation			
Investigate climate adaptation options	New approaches may be required to be developed to meet the challenges of climate change.		
Importa	ant and Ongoing Activities that	t Should Continue	
Research	-		
Beaufort Sea Gyre	Changing regime for Offshore O&G operations	WHOI/IOS programs active since 2003; Amundsen and international research programs; good coverage for average parameters	
Coastal Erosion	Coastal erosion can affect where and how infrastructure in support of the oil and gas industry will be built or maintained.	Need thermodynamic/mechanical; need thermal and seabed data; acceleration to be determined (BREA/underway); repetitive mapping at 5 years (LIDAR)	
Wind driven Wave for shelf and offshore	Important changes in wave regime for O&G operations	BREA program (W. Perrie) Waves in ice: ONR funded work; industry and ArcticNet activities; D. Dumont/UQAR; IOGP JIP application to oil in ice	

Traditional Knowledge	Importance to Oil & Gas Activities	Current or Required Research	
Important and Ongoing Activities that Should Continue (cont'd)			
Modeling			
Climate coupling - Regional	200 km	Ongoing – EC, CIS, UM, UA, BIO (CONCEPTS/EC/DFO)	
Climate coupling - Local	30 km	UM/UAF – just starting; very high res. for ice	
Regional Atmospheric		Industry high res. forecast model; contact John Fyfe/EC	
Local Atmospheric		Mesoscale met. models – under development and ongoing	
Ice (1 st year/multiple year)	Albedo feedbacks required	Average responses; CIS model improvements underway; ice features require new approaches	
Ecosystem function	Provides information on ecosystems to help guide industry activities, especially in areas of high ecological significance.	ArcticNet – IRIS underway;	

Conclusion of Workshop:

Workshop participants were thanked for their valuable participation. Participants were informed that the results of this workshop and comments provided on the Draft Assessment Report by other experts will be used in developing a final report on the potential effects of climate change on oil and gas activities in the Canadian Beaufort Sea and future research recommendations.

APPENDIX E

Workshop Participants

Name	Affiliation	
Barrie Bonsai	Environment Canada	
Mike Fournier	Environment Canada	
Tara Paull	AANDC	
Jenifer Johnston	IRC	
Steve Baryluk	JS/IGC	
Matthew Asplin	University of Manitoba/CEOS	
Lauren Candlish	University of Manitoba/CEOS	
John Alikaulik	IGC	
Kevin Hewitt	Chevron	
Darrel Christie	EISC	
Gerry Simon	ConocoPhillips Canada	
Brian Sieben	GNWT/ENR/Climate Change Unit	
David Barber	University of Manitoba/CEOS/ArcticNet	
Humfrey Melling	DFO/Institute of Ocean Sciences	
Breanne Reinfort	University of Manitoba/CEOS/ArcticNet	
Wendy Smith	Imperial Oil	
Don Forbes	NRCAN/GSC Atlantic	
Norm Snow	JS	
Frank Pokiak	IGC	
Gerald Inglauyasuk	IGC	
Dave Fissel	ASL	
Resha Ali	Stantec	
Doug Chiperzak	Stantec	

Table E-1 Workshop Participants